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September 23 2009

Dear Stockholders

The past twelve months proved to be another challenging year for the student loan industry

and First Marblehead During fiscal 2009 we took various measures to remake our business in

response to economic conditions capital markets dislocations and the declining credit

performance of consumer-related loans

Most significantly we redesigned our product offerings in an effort to attract lenders back into

the market for private education loans We added fee-for-service offerings such as portfolio

and collections management which complement our trust administration services We can also

assist clients in developing all aspects of private education loan program and provide tailored

loan origination portfolio management and other services to meet specific needs Finally we

made major changes to senior management completed the sale of our ownership of trust

that held certain residual interests which is expected to improve our liquidity through the

reduction of future tax liabilities and significantly reduced our operating expenses

In August we completed the design and development of our new product offering named

Monogram The Monogram product offering provides prospective lenders with flexible loan

program with features intended to meet their desired risk tolerances and return objectives

while also providing borrowers with some ability to configure their private education loan

terms to meet their financing needs

By modifying our business model to become more focused on fee-based income while

orienting our offerings around the different revenue opportunities presented by private

education loans we believe we will improve our cash flows and lessen our dependence on the

credit and capital markets In the past we did not charge separate fees for many of our

services and had historically derived substantially all of our income from structuring

securitization transactions

On the expense side total fiscal 2009 compensation and benefits expenses decreased

$55 million or 56% from the prior year and general and administrative expenses decreased

$174 million or 68% from the prior year These expense reductions had an important impact

on lowering cash usage

These changes should position the company well for the future We started fiscal 2010 with

$167 million of cash and investments $26 million more than we had at the start of fiscal

2009 and additionally have an income tax receivable of over $166 million

As compare the economic environment and the state of the company from year ago to

today am cautiously optimistic While many financial markets were frozen and there were

pervasive fears of failing financial institutions year ago today investors are returning to the

markets there is some asset-backed issuance activity spreads have improved considerably

and banks and financial institutions have shown stability First Marblehead has improved its

product offerings reduced expenses bolstered its balance sheet and is in stronger financial

and competitive position than year ago

The challenges are far from over but we continue to believe there is large market

opportunity in the private education finance sector College attendance remains high the

overall cost of college continues to rise household savings and liquidity have been negatively

impacted by the economy and government supported loans are limited Looking ahead to

fiscal 2010 First Marblehead intends to develop revenue opportunities in the private education

loan space while continuing to focus on preserving capital and maximizing liquidity to deliver

meaningful long-term value to our stockholders

We thank you for your continued support of First Marblehead
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Daniel Meyers
Chief Executive Officer and President
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STUDENT LOANS ASTRIVE ADVANTAGE and MONOGRAIVI are either registered trademarks or

trademarks of The First Marblehead Corporation All other trademarks service marks or trade names

appearing in this annual report are the property of their respective owners

In addition to historical information this annual report includes forward-looking statements within

the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended or the Exchange Act

and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Act For this purpose any

statements contained herein regarding our strategy future operations and products financial

performance future funding transactions projected costs future market position prospects plans and

outlook other than statements of historical facts are forward-looking statements The words

anticipates believes estimates expects intends may observe plans projects

will would and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements although

not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words We cannot guaranty that we actually

will achieve the plans intentions or expectations expressed or implied in our forward-looking

statements which involve risks assumptions and uncertainties There are number of important factors

that could cause actual results levels of activity performance or timing of events to differ materially

from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements we make These important factors

include our critical accounting estimates described in Item of Part II of this annual report and

factors including but not limited to those set forth under the caption Risk Factors in Item 1A of

Part of this annual report Although we may elect to update forward-looking statements in the future

we specifically disclaim any obligation to do so even if our estimates change and readers should not

rely on those forward-looking statements as representing our views as of any date subsequent to

September 2009



PART

Item Business

We use the terms First Marblehead FMC we us and our in this annual report to refer to the

business of The First Marblehead Corporation and its subsidiaries on consolidated basis

Overview

We offer outsourcing services to national and regional financial institutions and educational

institutions in the United States for designing and implementing private education loan programs

These loan programs are designed to be marketed to prospective student borrowers and their families

directly or through educational institutions and to generate portfolios which may be held by the

originating lender or financed in the capital markets We offer fully integrated suite of services

including our new Monogram loan product as well as certain services on stand alone fee-for-service

basis In addition we provide administrative and other services to securitization trusts that we have

facilitated and asset servicing to the third-party owner of certain securitization trusts

Our bank subsidiary Union Federal Savings Bank which we refer to as Union Federal is

federally chartered thrift that offers residential and commercial mortgage loans and certain other

banking products and prior to fiscal 2009 offered private education loans As result of our ownership

of Union Federal we are savings and loan holding company subject to regulation supervision and

examination by the U.S Office of Thrift Supervision or OTS

General Developments

During fiscal 2009 we took several measures to adjust our business in response to economic

conditions including capital markets dislocations and the declining credit performance of consumer-

related loans Most significantly we redesigned our product offerings in an effort to attract lenders

back into the market for private education loans We also added fee-for-service offerings such as

portfolio management and asset servicing Finally we revised our fee structures made major changes to

senior management and significantly reduced our operating expenses

Our new Monogram product offering has been designed to provide prospective lenders with

flexible loan program features intended to meet their desired risk control and return objectives while

also providing borrowers with some ability to configure the terms of their private education loan to

meet their financing needs The product offering the development of which was completed in August

2009 also incorporates refinements to our origination process including an enhanced application

interface real-time borrower disclosures an improved decisioning platform and robust client reporting

The success of the new product offering will be critical to growing and diversifying our revenues and

client base In lieu of third-party guaranty the Monogram product provides for funding and

maintenance of segregated loan loss reserves by lenders through fees paid partially or entirely by

borrowers We may contribute limited amounts to fund portfolio reserves Union Federal is not

expected to participate as program lender during fiscal 2010 in light of regulatory constraints

During fiscal 2009 we revised our fee structure and developed additional services designed to

provide us with fee-based income for the services we render which we believe will improve our cash

flows and reduce our dependence on the credit and capital markets In the past we did not charge

separate fees for many of our services but generally entered into agreements with clients giving us the

exclusive right to securitize the private education loans that they did not intend to hold As result we

have historically derived substantially all of our income from structuring securitization transactions

Securitization refers to technique of pooling loans and selling them to special purpose bankruptcy

remote entity typically trust which issues bonds backed by those loans to investors Private education

loan asset-backed securitizations have historically been our sole source of permanent financing for our

clients private education loan programs

We have been unable to access the securitization market since September 2007 as result of

market disruptions that began in the second quarter of fiscal 2008 accelerated during the third quarter



of fiscal 2008 and persist to lesser extent as of September 2009 That inability has not only

negatively affected our financial results it has resulted in many of our former lender clients
holding

private education loan portfolios longer than they had expected In addition in April 2008 The
Education Resources Institute Inc or TERI voluntarily filed petition for relief under Chapter 11 of

the United States Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Code Our lender clients have in the past had the

opportunity to mitigate their credit risk through loan repayment guaranty by TERI which is

private not-for-profit Massachusetts organization We refer in this annual report to TERIs bankruptcy

proceedings as the TERI Reorganization The capital market disruptions and the TERI Reorganization

have negatively affected our client relationships and challenged our business prospects For example
JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A Bank of America N.A and RBS Citizens N.A elected to terminate

some or all of their agreements with us which resulted in significant reduction in our facilitated loan

volumes during fiscal 2009 compared to prior fiscal years In addition to the absence of revenue from

new securitizations our financial results for fiscal 2009 were negatively affected by significant write-

downs of the estimated fair value of our service receivables and portfolio of private education loans

held for sale

The following table presents certain financial and operating information as of and for the fiscal

years ended June 30 2009 2008 and 2007 Substantially all of our financial results have been derived

from servicing private education loans which are considered to be in single industry segment for

financial reporting purposes For additional information about our results of operations and financial

condition see Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations included in Item of this annual report

Fiscal years ended June 30

2009 2008 2007

dollars in thousands

Revenues from new securitizations 320382 684080
Total revenues 290006 28409 880704
Net income loss 363020 235076 371331

Total assets at fiscal year end 821330 $1200898 $1214463

Approximate number of education loan applications facilitated 41000 1696000 1325000

Approximate number of schools with loans facilitated 2500 5600 5800

Principal amount of education loans facilitated

Approximate make and sell volume facilitated 83375 $4520034 $3873048

Approximate make and hold volume facilitated 183211 483966 419480

Total volume facilitated 266586 $5004000 $4292528

Principal and accrued interest balance of education loans

securitized $2027079 $3750043

Principal balance of education loans facilitated and available to

us at fiscal
year end for later securitization $1252667 $3399483 831912

We earned $320.4 million and $684.1 million in revenues from new securitizations during fiscal

2008 and 2007 respectively These revenues were derived from securitization trusts that purchased

private education loans from several lenders including JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A Bank of America
N.A and RBS Citizens N.A

We remain focused on preserving capital and maximizing liquidity in these challenging market

conditions During fiscal 2009 we received $132.7 million in
gross proceeds from an equity financing

and we greatly reduced our annual cash expenditure requirements through reductions in headcount

reductions in marketing expenditures consolidation of office
space and other cost saving initiatives that



began in fiscal 2008 In addition as of March 31 2009 we sold the trust certificate or Trust Certificate

of NC Residuals Owners Trust which held our residual interests in The National Collegiate Student

Loan Trusts which we refer to in this annual report as the NCSLT Trusts The NCSLT Trusts held

substantially all of the TERI-guaranteed private education loans that we had previously securitized The

sale of the Trust Certificate is expected to generate refund for income taxes previously paid and

eliminate certain of our future tax liabilities which would have had material negative effect on our

financial condition and liquidity As result of this sale we are no longer entitled to receive residual

cash flows from the NCSLT Trusts and our financial results for fiscal 2009 included write-down of

our residuals receivables of $134.5 million as result of the transaction We continue to have rights to

additional structural advisory fees and will earn asset servicing fees from the NCSLT Trusts as well as

additional structural advisory fees and residuals from certain trusts other than the NCSLT Trusts

In July 2009 we entered into supervisory agreement with the OTS that requires us among other

things to maintain Union Federals regulatory capital ratios at specified levels We refer to the

agreement in this annual report as the Supervisory Agreement Union Federal entered into

stipulation in July 2009 consenting to the issuance by the OTS of an order to cease and desist which

we refer to in this annual report as the Order We are taking steps to address the matters identified by

the OTS in the Supervisory Agreement and the Order and the requirements imposed on Union Federal

and us by the OTS See Risks Relating to Regulatory Matters in Item 1A of this annual report for

additional details

Market Opportunity

Our business is focused on private education loan programs primarily for undergraduate and

graduate students in the United States Private education loans are funded by private sector lenders

and are not guaranteed by the U.S government They are intended to be used by borrowers who have

first utilized other sources of education funding including federally guaranteed loan programs grants

and other aid For the 2008-2009 academic year we believe that there was funding gap in

post-secondary education in the United States of over $135 billion between the costs of attendance and

these other sources of education funding We believe that enrollment in post-secondary education

institutions will continue to increase over the next several years as will costs of attendance As result

we also believe that responsible private education loan products will continue to be necessary for

students and their families after exhausting all available federal loan programs scholarships grants and

other government aid

Our clients in the past have typically been lenders that desired to supplement their existing federal

education loan or other consumer lending programs with private education loan offering In response

to legislative changes that significantly reduced the profit margins of traditional non-governmental

providers of federal loans as well as proposed legislation that would eliminate the Federal Family

Education Loan Program or FFELP many lenders have re-evaluated their business strategies related to

education lending We believe that general economic conditions capital markets disruptions and the

declining credit performance of consumer-related loans including private education loans have

contributed to an overall reluctance by many lenders to focus on their education lending business

segments As result however we believe that there is significant unmet demand for private education

loans and generally less competition in addressing that demand As market conditions for other

consumer finance segments improve we expect more lenders to focus on education lending and

consider private education loans as part of an array of consumer lending products offered to their

customers One of our primary challenges is to convince national and regional lenders that they can

address the market opportunity in manner that meets their desired risk control and return objectives

related challenge is to finance successfully through the capital markets loans generated through our

Monogram product offering



We offer specialized knowledge experience and capabilities to assist clients in participating in the

private education loan market Our service offerings are intended to serve range of potential client

needs throughout the life cycle of private education loan For example we can assist clients in

developing all aspects of private education loan program or we can provide tailored loan origination

portfolio management and other services to meet specific needs

Service Offerings

The lifecycle of private education loan which can be over 20
years long consists of series of

processes many of which are highly regulated and involves many distinct parties As result the

activities associated with designing implementing financing and administering private education loan

programs are complex resource intensive and costly

Through our Monogram product offering we enable lenders to offer borrowers private education

loans with competitive terms and clear pricing alternatives but which are also structured to align

product options made available to qualified applicants with their credit risk The product does not

involve third-party guarantor although it does provide for the funding and maintenance of segregated

loss reserves by lenders through fees to be paid partially or entirely by the borrower The product

offering can be structured to generate loan portfolios to be held by originating lenders or financed in

the capital markets In addition to offering fully integrated suite of services through our Monogram

product offering we also offer clients tailored outsourced loan origination portfolio management and

other services

Monogram Product Offering

The Monogram product integrates all of our service offerings including program design marketing

support loan origination and portfolio management The product enables our lender clients to

customize their loan programs to meet their risk control and return objectives without third-party

guaranty Specifically the client can customize the range of loan terms offered to their qualified

applicants such as repayment options loan limits and borrower pricing The Monogram product is

based on our proprietary origination risk score model which was independently reviewed by credit

bureau This model uses over 50 attributes from the borrower and cosigner to assign specific level of

credit risk to the application at the time of initial credit decisioning score is assigned to each

application and governs the loan terms offered to applicants who have been conditionally approved for

loan For example higher risk applicants may not be eligible to defer principal and interest while in

school Our online application also provides qualified applicant with some ability to configure loan

terms showing the financial effects of the choices using real-time repayment calculator The product

can be structured to offer lenders either make and hold or make and sell loan program In

make and hold loan programs lenders finance the loans on their balance sheet and generally intend

to continue to hold the loans through the scheduled repayment prepayment or default In make and

sell loan programs lenders intend to hold the loans on their balance sheet for some limited period of

time before disposing of the loans in capital markets transaction We believe that the loans generated

through the Monogram loan product will generally have shorter repayment terms higher cosigner

participation rates and an increased percentage of borrowers making payments while in school

compared to our past loan products

As part of the Monogram product offering we will continue to monitor the performance of each

loan account after origination and tailor default prevention and
recovery strategies according to the

performance pattern of those accounts We have built flexible infrastructure to support our portfolio

management strategy which requires extensive operational and data integration among the loan

servicer multiple default prevention and recovery agencies and us Finally we provide extensive

customer service to each client including ongoing analysis and robust reporting of loan performance

data



We may contribute limited amounts to fund portfolio reserves The amount of any contribution

offered to particular lender would be determined by the anticipated size of the lenders program the

underwriting guidelines of the program and the particular terms of our business relationship with the

lender We believe this approach may provide lenders with increased confidence that we are committed

to the quality of our new proprietary scoring models and risk mitigation and pricing strategies

Program Design

Lenders face an array
of choices in attempting to satisfy their strategic and financial goals as well

as the needs of their borrowers In designing loan programs the factors that lenders generally consider

include

borrower creditworthiness criteria including acceptable origination risk scores credit bureau

ratings and cosigner requirements as well as factors such as employment and income history and

any past derogatory credit events

borrower eligibility criteria including enrollment status and academic progress

loan limits including minimum and maximum loan amounts on both an annual and
aggregate

basis

interest rates including the frequency and method of adjustment

amount of fees charged to the borrower including origination guaranty and late fees

repayment terms including maximum repayment term minimum monthly payment amounts rate

reduction incentive programs and deferment and forbearance options

appropriate loss reserve levels to ensure repayment of defaulted principal and interest payments

loan servicing default management and collection arrangements

asset financing or loan disposition alternatives and

legal compliance with numerous federal laws and regulations including but not limited to the

Higher Education Opportunity Act of 2008 the Truth-in-Lending Act or TILA the Fair Credit

Reporting Act the Equal Credit Opportunity Act the Federal Trade Commission or FTC Act

the FTC Telemarketing Sales Rule and numerous state laws that replicate and in some cases

expand upon the requirements of federal laws

We help clients design their private education loan programs Our design approach begins with

standard set of pricing options legal agreements and third-party relationships that we can then

customize for our clients in order to satisfy their particular needs Although we assist lenders in

selecting the underwriting criteria to be used in their loan programs each lender has ultimate control

over and responsibility for the selection of their underwriting criteria and we are obligated to comply

with the lenders criteria While we are not separately compensated for our loan program design

services our ability to earn revenue is dependent on service fees we earn through loan origination and

subsequent loan portfolio management services that we may provide pursuant to the program design

Marketing Support

In creating their loan marketing programs institutions face choices in the channels and media

available to them to reach potential borrowers including financial aid offices online advertising direct

mail campaigns e-mail campaigns telemarketing and print radio and television advertising

Historically we provided marketing support services to our clients on cost-reimbursement basis

because we benefited from the higher volume of loans processed as result of these marketing efforts

In the future we expect to provide any marketing support on fee-for-service basis



Loan Origination

Prospective and current students and their families confront complicated process in applying for

financial aid Because private education loans are often used to bridge the gap between the cost of

attending an educational institution and available funds including family resources and federal and

state loans and grants many borrowers must navigate multiple application processes In order to

respond to questions about these
processes from borrowers lenders and educational institutions must

either invest in an appropriate infrastructure or outsource these services We provide staff of

customer service personnel who have thorough understanding of loan program terms as well as the

advantages and disadvantages of our clients private education loan programs federal financial aid

options and the financial aid process as whole In addition to customer service function we can

provide personnel to respond to requests for loan materials and loan applications

We have developed proprietary processing platforms applications and infrastructure supplemented

by customized vendor solutions for use in providing loan processing services We expect to provide

processing services as either an integrated part of the new Monogram product or individually on fee-

for-service basis

Our systems have been designed to provide applicants with consumer protection disclosures

required by law and regulation as well as information helpful for making informed decisions about

private education loans For example our new online application has been designed to give qualified

applicants some ability to configure loan terms showing the financial effects of the choices using real

time repayment calculator In addition we continue to support our www.SmartBorrowing.org website

We established this website to provide an education-based environment for students and parents to

gather information about financing college education We designed it based on the principle that

students should first consider scholarships grants and federal and state aid options before seeking

private education loans

In performing our loan origination services we are required to comply with applicable laws and

regulations in loan documentation disclosure and processing The lenders with whom we work

generally assume responsibility for compliance with federal and state laws regarding loan

documentation and disclosure We in turn work with lenders to prepare lender-specific credit

agreement templates We maintain and utilize these templates reflecting applicable legal requirements

and lender preferences We are then responsible for maintaining processes and systems that properly

execute the lenders origination requirements and administer the credit agreement templates and

required disclosures We also deliver each lenders privacy policy and prepare and deliver

truth-in-lending and various state law disclosures to borrowers

Our Monogram product is based on our proprietary origination risk score model which uses over

50 attributes from the borrower and cosigner to assign specific level of credit risk to the applicant

Once an applicant submits an application for processing our customized third-party credit decision

software can be configured for each clients specific program parameters and analyzes often within

minutes the submitted application Application data are automatically sent to credit bureaus which

generate and return credit report The credit decision software then evaluates the applicant data and

the credit report data and assigns score to the applicant based on our risk score model The score

results in credit decision and also governs the loan terms offered by the client aligning product

options made available to qualified applicants with their credit risk This automated underwriting

process can deliver loan application decision and accompanying credit agreement when applicable

within the same online session We also enable applicants to submit applications by facsimile or mail

Applications with either incomplete information or information mismatches can be sent automatically

to credit analyst for review We then communicate the initial determination to the applicant

including through e-mail informing him or her whether the application is conditionally approved

rejected or in review The applicant receives instructions for completing the loan application and

funding process and is provided website navigation link to check his or her loan status To avoid



unauthorized disclosure access requires use of security protocols established during the application

process Simultaneously our customer service platforms including our automated voice response unit

online status and customer service applications are updated

Once loan application is approved we generate credit agreement legal contract between the

applicant cosigner if any and lender which contains the terms and conditions of the loan for the

applicant based on lender- and product-specific templates For those lenders and applicants that prefer

electronic document delivery credit agreement and certain regulatory disclosures are created in the

same online session The credit agreement can be viewed downloaded and printed by the applicant and

faxed or mailed back to us For those applicants who prefer paper documentation we print and mail

pre-filled credit agreement to the applicant for him or her to sign and return to us by mail

Once we have obtained all applicant data including the signed credit agreement evidence of

enrollment or required certifications from the school or applicant and any required employment

verification we approve the application and disburse the loan funds on behalf of the lender with funds

made available to us by the lenders Depending on the loan program and type of disbursement funds

are either sent to the borrower to the school or to certain central disbursing agents such as ELM
Resources which then pass the funds along to the school

We monitor developments in state and federal requirements for loan processing and implement

changes to our systems
and

processes
based on our analysis and input we receive from clients and

industry groups For example we designed and made available to lenders customer identification

program in connection with their past private education loan programs that we will continue to use

going forward This identification program was designed to meet USA PATRIOT Act requirements that

lenders gather identifying data verify applicant identity and maintain records of the process We also

completed similar process improvements in the area of secure access to pending loan information in

order to comply with federal privacy and state identity theft laws Contractual liability for identification

of
process requirements rests with the lenders in the program guidelines and liability for properly

executing such requirements rests with us

Portfolio Management

Once loans are disbursed holders of the loans will often outsource their servicing responsibilities

to third-party providers These third-party providers which we refer to as portfolio vendors include

both loan servicers and collection agencies Generally loan servicers establish and maintain contact

with borrowers whose loans are current and collection agencies establish and maintain contact with

borrowers whose loans are delinquent or defaulted

The duties of the portfolio vendors include for example preparing repayment invoices collecting

payments from borrowers maintaining records of borrower payments responding to questions from

borrowers relating to their loans and reporting information to the loan owner In addition portfolio

vendors may perform skip-tracing services make collections calls and conduct other collections

activities and report borrower delinquencies or defaults to credit bureaus If borrower payments are

deferred while the borrower is in school the loan servicer typically provides monthly account

information and educational materials to the student and any cosigner

Our portfolio management group manages approximately 15 portfolio vendors including seven

loan servicers The Pennsylvania Higher Education Assistance Agency or PHEAA services majority

of the loans we have facilitated No single collection agency services more than 20% of the loan

portfolios that we manage

Following the TERI Reorganization we developed multi-faceted approach to portfolio

management To maximize the return on each portfolio we re-score each account on quarterly basis

using our proprietary behavioral scoring model The scoring model is designed to rank-order each

account based on attributes related to creditworthiness and prepayment The primary objective of the



scoring model is to identify and control losses on high risk borrowers This objective dictates the level

of resources we apply to each account including when the account is outsourced to collection agency

and which agency is used in that process For example certain collections agencies may specialize in

early-stage delinquencies while others may specialize in the collection of defaulted loans This process

requires highly integrated infrastructure among the loan servicers collection agencies and us in

addition to extensive data analysis on each account as it moves through its lifecycle We believe this

approach will allow us to better identify and control losses over time

For stand-alone portfolio management services we expect to charge fee based on assets under

management

Loan Securitization

Although some lenders originate loans and then hold them for the life of the loan other lenders

originate and then seek to dispose of the loans either through sale of whole loans or by means of

securitization Whole loans can be purchased by other financial institutions which may add them to an

existing portfolio or by entities that serve to warehouse the loans for some period of time pending

eventual securitization

In the past we served as an intermediary between our clients and the capital markets We formed

bankruptcy remote special purpose statutory trusts The proceeds from bonds issued by the trusts were

used to purchase private education loans from the originating lenders The loans were used as security

for repayment of the bonds Our compensation for these services was in the form of structural advisory

fees as well as residual interest in the securitization trusts

The recent conditions of the debt capital markets generally and the asset backed securities or

ABS market specifically have resulted in reduction in the new issuance volume of education loan

ABS According to industry sources new issuances in the market totaled approximately $14.3 billion for

the fiscal year ended June 30 2009 Of that total approximately $10.1 billion were backed by federally

guaranteed education loans and $4.2 billion were backed by private education loans none of which we

facilitated The new issuance volume of both federally guaranteed and private education loan ABS
totaled approximately $28.1 billion in calendar 2008 and $52.6 billion in calendar 2007

Securitization historically provided several benefits to lenders and developed into diverse flexible

funding mechanism for the financing of private education loan pools Securitization enabled lender

clients to sell potentially otherwise illiquid assets in both the public and private securities markets and

to limit credit and interest rate risk and enabled the reallocation or transfer of risk through the use of

derivative products such as interest rate swaps or caps senior-subordinated liability securities

structure financial guaranty insurance for the securities issued loan guarantees from third-party debt

guarantors the tiering of maturities of securities issued and the issuance of several different types of

bonds matching projected pool repayment characteristics Although this flexibility added to the

complexity of the funding process it also enabled the originating lender to reduce the cost of financing

and recycle capital thereby improving the economics of the loan program and improving loan terms by

passing incremental savings back to the borrower The availability of many of these structural elements

for originating lenders may decline or cease to exist due to economic factors

Securitizations require high level of specialized knowledge and experience regarding both the

capital markets generally and the repayment characteristics and defaults on the part of borrowers

specifically The process of issuing ABS requires compliance with state and federal securities laws as

well as coordination among originating lenders servicers securities rating agencies attorneys securities

dealers loan guarantors structural advisors trust management providers and auditors

To date we have structured and facilitated 38 securitizations consisting entirely of private

education loans with an original principal balance of approximately $17.5 billion We have securitized

loan pools using various financing structures including both public offerings registered with the



Securities and Exchange Commission or SEC and private placements and have utilized various ABS
including commercial paper London Interbank Offered Rate or LIBOR floating rate notes

auction-rate debt and senior-subordinated and third-party credit enhanced debt In connection with our

make and sell product we historically entered into agreements with the originating lenders giving us

the exclusive right to securitize their private education loans

The extensive database provided by our private education loan repayment statistics dating back to

1986 has been another key to optimizing the financing of the private education loan pools our clients

generate We have used this data to estimate the default recovery and prepayment characteristics of

the different types of loans that constitute loan pool We believe the historical data and our use of

standard consumer credit score-based risk assessments has previously given comfort to the rating

agencies insurance providers underwriters and securities investors resulting in more cost-effective

securitization

While the current demand for securitizations backed by private education loans has been minimal

consisting mostly of transactions financed through the Term Asset-Backed Securities Loan Facility or

TALF sponsored by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York we plan to participate in future

securitizations subject to market acceptance If we are able to facilitate securitizations in the future we

expect the structure and economics of the transactions to be substantially different than our past

transactions We expect lower revenues and additional cash requirements on our part and limited if

any demand for subordinate tranches of ABS

Asset Servicing

Effective as of March 31 2009 we entered into an asset services agreement with the purchaser of

the Trust Certificate pursuant to which we provide certain services to support its ownership of the

residual interests in the NCSLT Trusts including among others analysis and valuation optimization

services and services relating to funding strategy We refer to this agreement as the Asset Services

Agreement in this annual report We are entitled to certain asset servicing fees for these contractual

services although receipt of the fees is contingent upon distributions available to the owners of the

residual interests of such trusts

Trust Administration

As administrator of the trusts we have facilitated we monitor the performance of loan servicers

and third-party collection agencies In this capacity we confirm compliance with servicing guidelines

and review default prevention and collection activities We receive administrative fees from the trusts

ranging from five to 20 basis points per year of the loan balance in the trust for daily management and

for the services we provide in obtaining information from the loan servicer and reporting this and other

information to the parties related to the securitization

Competition

Although number of competitors and potential competitors exited the private education loan

industry as result of market developments during fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009 the industry remains

competitive with number of active participants Although our subsidiary Union Federal is not as of

September 2009 offering private education loans and therefore we do not compete directly with

lenders for loan originations we expect to derive revenue from the services that we provide to lenders

for their private education loan programs Based on the range of services we offer we believe that our

principal competitor is SLM Corporation which is also known as Sallie Mae Our business could be

adversely affected if Sallie Maes program to market private education loans continues to grow or if

Sallie Mae or Nelnet Inc which currently provides fee-based origination and servicing activities for

non-federally guaranteed loans seeks to market more aggressively to third parties the full range of

services for products that we offer Other private education loan originators include JPMorgan Chase



Bank N.A Wells Fargo Company Discover Financial Services and Student Loan Corporation an

80% owned subsidiary of Citibank N.A

To the extent that loan originators develop an internal capability to provide any of the services that

we currently offer demand for our services would decline For example loan originator that has or

decides to develop portfolio management or capital markets function may not engage us for our

services In addition to the extent that Union Federal provides private education loans directly to

consumers we could compete directly with clients and former clients Historically lenders in the

education loan market have focused their lending activities on federal loans because of the relative size

of the federal loan market and because the federal government guarantees repayment of those loans

As result of the College Cost Reduction and Access Act of 2007 which significantly reduced the

profit margins of traditional non-governmental providers of federal loans and the proposed elimination

of the FFELP lenders may place additional emphasis on the private education loan market or develop

an internal capability to conduct the services we provide which could result in decline in demand for

our service offerings We believe the most significant competitive factors in terms of developing private

education loan products are technical and legal competence cost data relating to the performance of

private education loans risk analytics capabilities capital markets experience reliability quality and

speed of service We differentiate ourselves from other service providers by the range of services we

can provide our clients

Several of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories and significantly

greater financial marketing technical or other competitive resources as well as greater name

recognition than we do As result our competitors or potential competitors may be able to adapt

more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements or may be able to

devote greater resources to the promotion and sale of their services In addition competitors may be

able to adopt more aggressive pricing policies in order to attract potential clients We cannot assure

you that we will be able to compete successfully with new or existing competitors To remain

competitive we will need to continue to invest in information technology sales and marketing as well

as legal compliance and product development resources

Proprietary Systems and Processes

In addition to our proprietary database that tracks historical private education loan performance

we maintain advanced proprietary information processing systems We use these information systems to

analyze loan applications efficiently expedite loan processing and enhance our loan securitization and

default management services

Key benefits of our information processing systems include

the ability to analyze and assess loan applications based on variety of underwriting and product

factors including flexibility to adapt to different product parameters required in customized

client implementations

batch transaction/application processing system that includes automated updating of an

applicants loan status that borrower can access online or telephonically

automated preparation and secure electronic delivery of loan documents including credit

agreements and certain legal disclosures

online certification tools enabling financial aid offices to speed loan disbursement by quickly

confirming student applicants enrollment status and financial need

online reporting tools enabling financial aid offices to track and sort information about student

applicants and borrowers including application status and disbursement dates
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custom built data transmission techniques designed to ensure that data are compiled integrated

and properly migrated both across our enterprise and to external third parties such as servicers

collection and placement agencies and other third-party vendors and

interfaces with internal accounting systems
intended to ensure proper booking and tracking of

loan information for our clients as well as support for our capital markets group in its financing

activities

We use number of leading commercial products to secure protect manage and back-up data

Intellectual Property

We own the following federally registered trademarks FIRSTMARBLEHEAD ASTRIVE
MONTICELLO STUDENT LOANS prepGATE GATE GATE Guaranteed Access to Education and

National Collegiate Trust The federal registrations for these registered trademarks expire at various

times between 2015 and 2019 but the registrations may be renewed for additional 10-year terms

provided that we continue to use the trademarks We have filed with the U.S Patent and Trademark

Office federal trademark applications with respect to existing or planned uses of the marks LAUREL

COLLEGIATE LOANS MONOGRAM and ASTRIVE ADVANTAGE We filed patent application

in June 2007 relating to method and system for administering linked loans between two parties

Education Loan Market Seasonality

Origination of education loans is generally subject to seasonal trends with the volume of loan

applications increasing with the approach of tuition payment dates Historically we have processed the

greatest application volume during the summer months as students seek to borrow money in order to

pay tuition costs for the fall semester or the entire school year We have also tended to process

increased volume of loan applications during November December and January as students and their

families seek to borrow money to pay tuition costs for the spring semester Historically this seasonality

of loan originations has impacted the timing and size of securitization transactions the amount of

processing fees that we earned in particular quarter and the level of expenses incurred to market and

process the higher origination activity

Union Federal Savings Bank

In November 2006 we acquired Union Federal community savings bank located in North

Providence Rhode Island Union Federal is federally chartered thrift that offers residential and

commercial mortgage loans retail savings products time deposit products and money market accounts

Union Federal has also funded portion of our product offerings in the past although it is not doing

so as of September 2009 Union Federal held variable-rate private education loans with

$264.6 million in outstanding principal and interest as of June 30 2009 In addition Union Federal

held approximately $9.5 million of mortgage loans as of June 30 2009 We derived approximately

$23.1 million of net interest income during fiscal 2009 from Union Federal primarily from the private

education loan portfolio As result of disruptions in the ABS market we have been unable to

facilitate the securitization of private education loans originated by Union Federal since September

2007

In July 2009 FMC entered into the Supervisory Agreement with the OTS and Union Federal

consented to the Order The Supervisory Agreement requires us to maintain certain regulatory capital

ratios at Union Federal and requires FMC to maintain an inter-company deposit at Union Federal of

$30.0 million for as long as certain conditions exist In addition the Supervisory Agreement requires us

to obtain OTS approval for certain transactions related to Union Federal and us The Order requires

Union Federal to develop new three-year business plan implement liquidity plan and concentration

reduction plan provide notice to or obtain approval from the OTS before pursuing certain transactions

11



and engage third-party to evaluate Union Federals private education loan portfolio Union Federal is

not expected to participate as Monogram program lender during fiscal 2010 in light of regulatory

constraints See Note 23 Subsequent EventsSupervisory Agreement and Order to Cease and

Desist in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this annual report

for additional details

Government Regulation

We provide services in connection with the creation management and disposition of private

education loans form of consumer loan asset This business is highly regulated at both the state and

federal level through statutes and regulations that focus upon

licensure and examination of industry participants

regulation and disclosure of consumer loan terms

regulation of loan origination processing and

licensure and general regulation of loan collection and servicing

Failure to conform to any of these statutes or regulations may result in civil and/or criminal fines

and may affect the enforceability of the underlying consumer loan assets

Many states have statutes and regulations that require licensure of small loan lenders loan brokers

and loan arrangers Some of these statutes are drafted or interpreted to cover broad scope of

activities We have not taken formal action regarding licensing or registration with any regulatory body

outside the Commonwealth of Massachusetts other than the OTS While we believe that our prior

consultations with regulatory counsel and in some cases local counsel identified all material licensing

registration and other regulatory requirements that could be applicable to us legislative changes to

state licensing schemes may raise potential concerns Even if we are not physically present in state its

regulators may take the position that registration or licensing is required because we provide services

by mail telephone the Internet or other remote means

All of our operations relating to private education loan processing are located in Massachusetts In

2001 we received determination letters from the Massachusetts Division of Banks confirming that the

loan origination outsourcing services provided under contract to TERI by our subsidiary First

Marblehead Education Resources Inc or FMER were not subject to licensing under the

Massachusetts Small Loan Act because FMER did not conduct lending business with consumers in its

own name and its processing centers were not generally open to the public In May 2008 following the

TERI Reorganization we received an additional determination letter from the Massachusetts Division

of Banks confirming that FMERs business of back office loan application processing loan origination

and loan underwriting functions on behalf of lenders was exempt from licensing under the

Massachusetts Small Loan Act The Massachusetts Small Loan Act requires any person that is engaged
for compensation in the business of making small loans or in aiding or assisting the borrower or the

lender in procuring or making such loans to obtain license Under the statute the business of

making small loans includes the making of loans of $6000 or less with interest rates and expenses of

more than 12% per year The loans that we have facilitated include amounts as small as $1000 and

portion of those loans have combined interest rates and fees exceeding 12% We have provided
outsourced private education loan origination services on fee-for-service basis through FMER and

Union Federals subsidiary FM Loan Origination Services LLC or FMLOS To the extent that these

activities are conducted through Union Federal or FMLOS we believe it is less likely that state

regulatory requirements affecting loan brokers small lenders and credit services organizations will be

asserted Operational restrictions imposed by federal regulators could however limit our ability to

offer services through FMLOS on fee-for-service basis
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We will continue to review state registration and licensing requirements that may become

applicable to us in the future As result of providing portfolio management services additional

licensing requirements may apply to us As result of this continuing review we may determine that

registration or licensing is required in jurisdictions where we are not currently registered or licensed In

such case we may proceed with licensing or registration in the affected state or we may attempt to

restructure our activities through Union Federal or its operating subsidiary or otherwise in manner

that we believe to be exempt from such licensing or registration

Compliance with state licensing requirements could involve additional costs which could have

material adverse effect on our business Our failure to comply with these laws could lead to among

other things

curtailment of our ability to continue to conduct business in the relevant jurisdiction pending

processing of registration or license application

administrative enforcement actions

class action lawsuits

the assertion of legal defenses delaying or otherwise affecting the enforcement of loans and

criminal and civil liability each of which could have material adverse effect on our business

Any of the foregoing could have material adverse effect on our business However if required to

obtain license or to register we do not anticipate difficulty meeting the licensing or registration

requirements

While our licensing requirements are currently limited the consumer assets with which we deal are

subject to the full panoply of state and federal regulation and defect in such assets could affect our

business Similarly the growing complexity of regulation of loan origination and collection may affect

the cost and efficiency of our operations We have sought to minimize the risk created by consumer

loan regulation in number of ways The securitizations that we have facilitated have involved sales by

financial institutions insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or FDIC and other parties

which represented and warranted that the assets in question were originated in compliance with all

applicable law and were valid binding and enforceable in accordance with their terms Similarly the

securitization trusts have benefited from an assignment of representations and warranties made by the

lender and by the applicable loan servicer regarding compliance with law in the origination and

servicing of loan assets TERI may nonetheless have recourse to us to the extent that regulatory

failure in loan origination of TERI-guaranteed loan by us breached the standards of care under the

master servicing agreement formerly in effect between TERI and us

The risk of noncompliance with regulatory requirements by our lender clients and their marketing

partners has been highlighted by recent state and federal investigations into education loan marketing

practices particularly the payment of marketing fees directly to schools in exchange for loan referrals

None of our contracts with lenders or marketers involves the payment of fees to schools for loan

volume State and federal regulatory authorities have sought information from some of our former

clients and us regarding the loan programs we have coordinated for them and it is possible that some

marketing or underwriting practices associated with the programs we coordinated and assets we

securitized will be challenged as result of such investigations In August 2007 we announced that as

part
of the New York Attorney Generals investigation of several lending educational and nonprofit

institutions we had received subpoena for information regarding our role in the education loan

industry During fiscal 2008 we worked with the New York Attorney Generals office regarding the

investigation

The regulatory actions described above have also prompted state and federal legislation that will

affect our operations In August 2009 the Federal Reserve Board issued regulations to implement
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provisions of the Higher Education Opportunity Act which was signed into law in August 2008 The

regulations revise the number timing and content of disclosures required for private education loans

by TILA and the Federal Reserve Boards implementing regulation for TILA Regulation Under the

regulations creditors that extend private education loans will be required to provide disclosures about

loan terms and features on or with the loan application and will also be required to disclose

information about federal education loan programs that may offer less costly alternatives to private

education loans Additional disclosures must be provided when the loan is approved and after loan

acceptance but prior to loan disbursement The Federal Reserve Board has also proposed model

disclosure forms that creditors could use to comply with the new disclosure requirements Compliance

with the new regulations will be mandatory as of February 14 2010

In delivering services our operations must conform to consumer loan regulation that applies to

lenders This regulation includes but is not limited to compliance with the federal TILA the Higher

Education Opportunity Act of 2008 the Fair Credit Reporting Act the USA PATRIOT Act the Equal

Credit Opportunity Act the Gramm Leach Bliley Act the FTC Act the Fair Debt Collection Practices

Act and numerous state laws that replicate and expand upon the requirements of federal law In

addition there is increasing regulation of the type of electronic loan application processing that we

conduct as well as regulation of access to and use of consumer information databases growing
number of states are imposing disparate and costly requirements on our operations including

protections against identity theft privacy protection and data security protection The Fair and

Accurate Credit Transactions Act of 2003 imposed significant federal law requirements on loan

application processors including requirements with respect to resolving address inconsistencies

responding to red flags of potential identity theft and processing identity theft notices notices of

adverse credit decisions based on credit scoring and other requirements that required both changes to

automated loan processing and the creation of manual exception systems These requirements strained

and future legislation or regulation may also strain our systems Failure to comply with these

requirements will interfere with our ability to develop and market our new business model for

processing services

Employees

During the last two quarters of fiscal 2008 we announced reduction in our overall cost structure

including the reduction of headcount by over 600 employees During fiscal 2009 we further reduced

headcount by 145 employees Following these reductions we had 223 full-time employees at June 30
2009 compared to 368 full-time employees as of June 30 2008

We are not subject to any collective bargaining agreements and we believe our relationships with

our employees are good

Our Corporate Information

We were formed as limited partnership in 1991 and were incorporated in Delaware in August

1994 Our principal executive offices are located at The Prudential Tower 800 Boylston Street

34th Floor Boston Massachusetts 02199 The telephone number of our principal executive offices is

617 638-2000

Available Information

Our Internet address is http//wwwfirstmarblehead.com The contents of our website are not part of

this annual
report on Form 10-K and our Internet address is included in this document as an inactive

textual reference only We make our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q
current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports available free of charge on our

website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such reports with or furnish such reports to the
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SEC Alternatively reports filed with or furnished to the SEC are available from the SEC on its

website wwwsec.gov by request from the Public Reference Room at 100 Street NE Washington

D.C 20549 or by phone at 800 SEC-0330

Executive Officers

The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers including their ages as

of June 30 2009

Position

Daniel Meyers 46 Chief Executive Officer and President

Peter Tarr 58 Chairman of the Board of Directors

Kenneth Klipper 50 Managing Director Chief Financial Officer Treasurer and Chief

Accounting Officer

Set forth below is certain information regarding the business experience of each of the above-

named persons

Daniel Meyers has served as our Chief Executive Officer and President and as Director since

September 2008 Mr Meyers served as First Marbleheads Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of

the Board from its incorporation
in 1994 to September 2005 and as its President from November 2004

to September 2005 From 1980 to 1991 Mr Meyers was involved in arbitrage and derivatives trading at

EF Hutton Prudential Bache Securities LF Rothschild Unterberg Towbin and Commodities

Corporation He began working on ABS financings in 1986 He currently serves as the Chair of the

Board of the Curry School of Education Foundation at the University of Virginia He is also currently

member of the International Institute for Strategic Studies and serves on the Board of the Forum for

the Future of Higher Education Mr Meyers received an A.B in Economics from Brandeis University

and completed the Owner President Management Program at the Harvard Graduate School of Business

Administration

Peter Tarr has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors since October 2005 Mr Tarr

served as our General Counsel from July 2005 to August 2008 and Vice Chairman of the Board of

Directors from August 2005 until his election as Chairman From 1986 to June 2005 Mr Tarr was

senior partner in the corporate law department and member of the Executive Committee at the law

firm of Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP Mr Tarrs practice focused on advising boards of

directors on corporate governance strategic transactions and public offerings of securities Mr Tarr

received B.A from Yale College an M.A.R from Yale Divinity School and J.D from the

University of Virginia School of Law

Kenneth Klipper has served as our Chief Financial Officer and Managing Director since

September 2008 Treasurer and Chief Accounting Officer since November 2006 and as Senior Vice

President Finance from March 2005 to September 2008 From January 2003 to March 2005

Mr Klipper served as the Chief Executive Officer of Brown Co an online brokerage firm owned by

JPMorgan at the time From May 2002 to January 2003 Mr Klipper served as the Chief Financial

Officer of Park Street Capital private equity firm From January 2000 to April 2002 Mr Klipper

served as the Chief Financial Officer of Tucker Anthony Sutro Inc publicly traded securities

brokerage firm Prior to joining Tucker Anthony Mr Klipper served for five years as both the Chief

Financial Officer and Controller for the securities brokerage unit of Fidelity Investments and he held

positions with KPMG LLP registered public accounting firm for eleven years Mr Klipper received

B.S from the University of Richmond and is Certified Public Accountant
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Code of Ethics

We have adopted code of conduct that applies to our employees and officers including our

principal executive officer principal financial officer principal accounting officer or persons serving

similar functions We have also adopted statement of business ethics that applies to our directors We
will provide copy of our code of conduct and statement of business ethics for our board of directors

to any person without charge upon written request to Corporate Secretary The First Marblehead

Corporation The Prudential Tower 800 Boylston Street 34th Floor Boston Massachusetts 02199 Our
code of conduct and statement of business ethics for our board of directors as well as our corporate

governance guidelines and the charters of the standing committees of our board of directors are posted

on our website at wwwfirstmarblehead.com and each of these documents is available in print to any
stockholder who submits written request to our corporate secretary If we amend our code of conduct

in the future or grant waiver under our code of conduct to an officer or anyone functioning as our

principal accounting officer we intend to post information about such amendment or waiver on our

website

Item 1A Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves high degree of risk You should carefully consider the

risks and uncertainties described below in addition to the other information included in this annual

report If any of the following risks actually occurs our business financial condition or results of

operations would likely suffer In that case the trading price of our common stock could fall Although

we have grouped risk factors by category the categories are not mutually exclusive Risks described

under one category may also apply to another category and you should carefully read the entire risk

factors section not just any one category of risk factors

Risks Related to Asset-Backed Securitizations and Other Funding Sources

We have historically derived significant portion of our revenue and substantially all of our income from

structuring securitization transactions our financial results and future growth may continue to be adversely

affected if we are unable to structure securitizations or alternative financings

In the past we did not charge separate fees for many of our services but generally entered into

agreements with clients giving us the exclusive right to securitize the private education loans that they

did not intend to hold As result we have
historically derived significant portion of our revenue and

substantially all of our income from structuring securitization transactions We derived approximately

$320.4 million and $684.1 million in revenue from new securitizations in fiscal 2008 and 2007

respectively

We did not complete securitization during the second third or fourth quarters of fiscal 2008 or

during fiscal 2009 contributing to our net losses for each period If we are able to facilitate the

securitization of loans in the future we expect the structure and economics of the transactions to be

substantially different than our past transactions We expect lower revenues and additional cash

requirements on our part and limited if any demand for subordinate tranches of ABS We have

recently changed our fee structure with respect to our services and have developed additional services

that are designed to provide us with fee-based income for the services we render We will need to gain

market acceptance of our Monogram loan product new fee structure and additional services in order

to improve our cash flow and reduce our dependence on the credit and securitization markets If we
continue to be unable to access the ABS market our revenues may continue to be adversely impacted
and we may continue to generate net losses which would further erode our liquidity position
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number of factors some of which are beyond our control have adversely affected and may continue to

adversely affect our securitization activities and thereby adversely affect our results of operations

The success of our business may depend on our ability to structure securitizations or other

financing transactions for our clients loan portfolios Several factors have had and may continue to

have material adverse effect on both our ability to structure financing transactions and the revenue

we may generate for providing our structural advisory and other services including the following

persistent and prolonged disruption or volatility in the capital markets generally or in the private

education loan ABS sector specifically which could continue to restrict or delay our access to

the capital markets

our inability to structure and gain market acceptance for new products or services to meet new

demands of ABS investors

continuing degradation of the credit quality or performance of the loan portfolios of the trusts

we have previously structured which could reduce or eliminate investor demand for future

securitizations that we facilitate particularly for subordinate classes of ABS or result in

material adverse modifications in rating agency assumptions ratings or conclusions with respect

to the securitization trusts

rating agency action including downgrades of ABS that we have facilitated in the past or any

occurrence of an event of default with respect to such securities which could reduce demand for

additional securitizations that we structure

developments in connection with the TERI Reorganization including the outcome of the

challenges to the trusts security interests

unwillingness of investors to ascribe value to the TERI-guaranteed loan loss reserves or financial

guarantees offered by other third parties

the adequacy of the segregated reserves pledged to each securitization trust as collateral for

TERIs guaranty obligations with respect to the loans held by the trust including the validity and

perfection of the trusts security interests and the replenishment of the reserves from recoveries

on defaulted loans

material breach of our obligations to clients including securitization trusts and former or current

lender clients

the timing and size of private education loan asset-backed securitizations that other parties

facilitate or the adverse performance of or other problems with such securitizations which

could impact pricing or demand for our securitizations

challenges to the enforceability of private education loans based on violations of federal or state

consumer protection laws and related regulations or imposition of penalties or liability on

assignees of private education loans for violation of such laws and regulations and

changes to bankruptcy laws that change the current non-dischargeable status of education-

related loans which could materially adversely affect
recovery rates on defaulted loans

We have actually experienced or are at particular risk of experiencing in the near term the first

seven factors listed above

Capital markets dislocations and the timing size and structure of any future capital markets transactions

will greatly affect our quarterly financial results

Continuing dislocations in the capital markets write-downs of our service receivables and the

private education loans held by us and the size structure or economic terms of our future capital
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markets transactions if any could increase the variability of our operating results on quarterly basis

In addition the sale or other disposition of Union Federals private education loan portfolio could

negatively affect our operating results for the
quarter

in which the transaction occurs We are uncertain

whether the fee structure that we have historically used will be used in any future securitization

transaction We expect
the structure and pricing terms in future securitizations if any to be

substantially less favorable than in the past Developments in the TERI Reorganization including the

outcome of legal challenges to the trusts security interests and resulting write-downs in our service

receivables could also contribute to increased variability of our operating results Finally our operating

results may continue to be affected by the seasonality of education loan applications which could affect

the amount of loan processing fees that we earn in particular quarter Origination of education loans

is generally subject to seasonal trends with the volume of loan applications increasing with the

approach of tuition payment dates

We may need to pursue alternatives to securitizations which may not be available or the terms of which may

not be attractive

We have been unsuccessful in obtaining alternatives to securitization to finance our clients loans

Other sources of funding have not been available to us In addition we are uncertain as of

September 2009 whether it will be feasible or advantageous to participate in TALF

Under the terms of our purchase agreements with lender clients we generally have an obligation

to use our best efforts to facilitate the purchase of clients loans during specified loan purchase

period The length of the loan purchase period varies by client and generally ranges from 195 days to

555 days following final loan disbursement Our purchase agreements applicable to approximately

$485.5 million of the facilitated loan volume available for securitization as of June 30 2009 may be

subject to liquidated damages provisions in the event that we fail to facilitate securitization in breach

of our obligations to certain former clients The payment of liquidated damages and the amount of our

potential liability with respect to such loans is dependent in part upon the outcome of the TERI

Reorganization and is not determinable at this time If we do not honor our contractual obligations

our value proposition would be compromised and prospective clients may not be interested in entering

into business arrangements with us In addition our financial results would be adversely affected if we

were required to pay damages

In structuring and facilitating securitizations of our clients loans administering securitization trusts or as

holders of rights to receive residual cash flows in non-NCSLT Trusts we may incur liabilities to investors in

the asset-backed securities those trusts issue

We have facilitated and structured number of different special purpose trusts that have been

used in securitizations to finance private education loans that our clients originate including trusts that

have issued auction rate notes Under applicable state and federal securities laws if investors incur

losses as result of purchasing ABS that those trusts issue we could be deemed responsible and could

be liable to those investors for damages If we failed to cause the trusts or other transaction parties to

disclose adequately all material information regarding an investment in the ABS or if the trust made

statements that were misleading in any material respect in information delivered to investors it is

possible that we could be held responsible for that information or omission Recent investigations by

state attorneys general and private litigation have focused on auction rate securities including the

marketing and trading of such securities It is possible that we could become involved in such matters

in the future In addition under various agreements entered into with underwriters or financial

guaranty insurers of those ABS as well as certain lenders we are contractually bound to indemnify

those persons if investors are successful in seeking to recover losses from those parties and the trusts

are found to have made materially misleading statements or to have omitted material information
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If we are liable for losses investors incur in any of the securitizations that we facilitate or structure

and any insurance that we may have does not cover this liability or proves to be insufficient our

profitability or financial position could be materially adversely affected

Risks Related to Our Financial Reporting and Liquidity

If the estimates we make or the assumptions on which we rely in preparing our financial statements prove

inaccurate our actual results may vary materially from those reflected in our financial statements

Historically we have received structural advisory fees for our services in connection with

securitization transactions We have received an up-front portion of these structural advisory fees when

the securitization trust purchases the loans We are entitled to receive an additional portion of these

structural advisory fees over time based on the amount of loans outstanding in the trust from time to

time over the life of the trust We also have the right to receive portion of any residual interests in

certain trusts other than the NCSLT Trusts and asset servicing fees from the NCSLT Trusts for

additional services that we are contractually obligated to perform As required under accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America or GAAP we recognize as revenue an

estimate of the fair value of the additional portion of the structural advisory fees and residuals at the

time the securitization trust purchases the loans because these revenues are deemed to be earned

before they are actually paid to us Similarly we are required under GAAP to recognize asset servicing

fees as our services are performed however the receipt of the fees is contingent on distributions

available to the owners of the residual interests of such trusts

We record additional structural advisory fees asset servicing fees and residuals as receivables on

our balance sheet at our estimate of their fair value Because there are no quoted market prices for

our service revenue receivables we use discounted cash flow modeling techniques and certain

assumptions to estimate fair value We estimate the fair value both initially and in each subsequent

quarter and reflect the change in our estimate of fair value in earnings for that period as well as asset

servicing fees earned for the period Our key assumptions to estimate the fair value include discount

rates the annual rate and timing of education loan prepayments the trend of interest rates over the

life of the loan pooi including the forward LIBOR curve the expected annual rate and timing of loan

defaults and TERIs obligation and ability to pay default claims expected recoveries of defaulted

loans including the use of recoveries to replenish segregated reserve accounts pledged to the

securitization trusts by TERI to secure its guaranty obligations or Pledged Accounts the source and

amount of guaranty payments made on defaulted loans and the fees and expenses of the securitization

trusts Because our estimates rely on quantitative and qualitative factors including macroeconomic

indicators to predict prepayment default and recovery rates managements ability to determine which

factors should be more heavily weighted in our estimates and to accurately incorporate those factors

into our estimates are subjective and can have material effect on valuations

We have adjusted our key accounting assumptions throughout fiscal 2009

During the first quarter of fiscal 2009 we adjusted our key accounting assumptions including

our assumptions with regard to default and discount rates used in determining the value of our

service receivables which resulted in $111.7 million pre-tax decrease in the value of those

receivables

During the second quarter of fiscal 2009 we further adjusted our key accounting assumptions

including our assumptions with regard to the auction rates and discount rates used in

determining the value of our service receivables which resulted in $121.2 million pre-tax

decrease in the value of those receivables

During the third quarter of fiscal 2009 after the sale of the Trust Certificate we further adjusted

our key accounting assumptions including our assumptions with regard to the discount rates and
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default rates used in determining the value of our service receivables which resulted in

$6.8 million pre-tax decrease in the value of those receivables

During the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2009 we further adjusted our key accounting assumptions

including our assumptions with regard to the default rates recoveries assumptions and discount

rates used in determining the value of our service receivables which resulted in $7.5 million

pre-tax decrease in the value of those receivables

In general our adjustments during fiscal 2009 were necessary because securitization trusts had

performed below our range of expectations including with regard to delinquencies and defaults

dislocations in the capital markets that began in the second quarter of fiscal 2008 persisted through

June 30 2009 requiring significant adjustments to our discount rate TERIs ability to pay claims is

uncertain as result of the TERI Reorganization and the estimated cost of funding auction rate notes

issued by several securitization trusts was projected to be higher than previously estimated For

discussion of these changes and the sensitivity of the additional structural advisory fees and residuals to

variations in our assumptions and estimates see Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of OperationsExecutive SummaryApplication of Critical Accounting Policies

and Estimates We also made adjustments to certain key assumptions during fiscal 2008

If the actual performance of some or all of the securitization trusts were to vary appreciably from

the adjusted assumptions we use we may need to adjust further our key assumptions which could

materially affect our earnings in the period in which our assumptions change and the actual additional

structural advisory fees and residuals that we receive from the trusts and the actual asset servicing fees

that we receive from the owner of the Trust Certificate could be significantly less than reflected in our

current financial statements In addition our securitization yields or our structural advisory fees and

residuals from new securitization transaction expressed as percentage of the total principal and

accrued interest securitized realized on future securitized transactions could decrease if the actual

performance of some or all of the securitization trusts varies from the key assumptions we have

historically used In particular economic regulatory competitive and other factors affecting

prepayment default and recovery rates on the underlying securitized loan portfolio including full or

partial prepayments could cause or contribute to differences between the actual performance of the

securitization trusts and our key assumptions In addition developments in the TERI Reorganization

including challenges to the trusts security interests in collateral securing TERIs guaranty obligations or

TERIs rejection of its guaranty agreements could cause us to adjust further our key assumptions As of

September 2009 TERI had not rejected its guaranty obligations although we expect
TERI to do so

in connection with its plan of reorganization For purposes of estimating the fair value of our service

receivables we assumed at June 30 2009 that the application of collateral will occur in accordance with

existing agreements The official committee of unsecured creditors or Creditors Committee is

challenging the enforceability of certain trusts security interests which may result in significant

reduction of collateral available to the trusts Finally continuing dislocations in the capital markets

have resulted in increased volatility in investors yield requirements for ABS If such conditions

degrade we may need to further adjust our key assumptions

We have no further obligation to support the obligations within the bankruptcy-remote

securitization trusts with respect to our additional structural advisory fees or residuals in the

securitizations we have facilitated However our fees are subordinate to securities issued to investors in

such securitizations and the trusts may fail to generate any cash flow for us if the securitized assets do

not generate enough cash flow to pay debt holders in full or only generate enough cash flow to pay the

debt holders Our projected cash flows from service receivables from certain securitization trusts are

expected to be eliminated entirely and our projected cash flows from other securitization trusts could

be impaired or eliminated if default rates increase beyond our assumptions at June 30 2009 We

expect as of June 30 2009 to receive additional structural advisory fees and residuals beginning five to
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years after the date of particular securitization transaction At March 31 2009 we expected to

receive such cash flows beginning five to 17 years after the date of particular securitization

Our loans held for sale at June 30 2009 consisted of $351.0 million in private education loans

originated by Union Federal $183.9 million of which remain on the balance sheet of Union Federal

Our loans held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or fair value The fair value of loans held for

sale is evaluated on periodic basis In the absence of readily determined market values the fair value

is estimated by management based on the present value of expected future cash flow from the loans

held for sale Under GAAF we are required to reduce the carrying value of our private education loans

if their fair value decreases below our cost In such an event we are required to write-down the

carrying value of our private education loans which would result in an increase in our non-interest

expenses and we may be required to provide additional regulatory capital to Union Federal We
recorded valuation adjustment of approximately $138.2 million in fiscal 2009 and we may be required

to make additional adjustments in the future

Our liquidity could be adversely affected if the sale of the Trust Certificate does not result in the tax

consequences that we expect

Effective March 31 2009 we completed the sale of the Trust Certificate representing our

ownership interest in NC Residuals Owners Trust in transaction intended to improve our financial

condition and liquidity The sale of the Trust Certificate is expected to generate cash refund for

income taxes previously paid as we have been required to pay income taxes on the expected residual

cash flows from the NCSLT Trusts in excess of what we have actually received In addition we estimate

that we would have been required to pay approximately $430 million in additional taxes over the

remaining life of these residuals with approximately $370 million to be paid prior to the residuals

generating sufficient annual cash flows to offset the tax payments As result of the transaction we

expect to eliminate any tax obligations from these residuals The U.S federal and state income tax

consequences are complex and uncertain The Internal Revenue Service or state taxing authority

could challenge our tax positions in connection with the transactions even after we receive any tax

refunds If such challenge were successful in whole or in part we may not receive or keep refund

for taxes previously paid or we may not eliminate our tax obligations relating to the residuals In either

case our near-term financial condition and liquidity would be materially adversely affected In addition

any investigation audit or suit relating to the sale including any such proceeding brought by the

Internal Revenue Service could result in substantial costs

Changes in interest rates could affect the value of our additional structural advisory fees asset servicing fees

and residuals receivable as well as demand for private education loans and our services

Private education loans typically carry floating interest rates tied to prevailing short-term interest

rates Higher interest rates would increase the cost of the loan to the borrower which in turn could

cause an increase in default rates for outstanding education loans In addition higher interest rates or

the perception that interest rates could increase in the future could cause an increase in prepayments

including full or partial prepayments If the prepayment or default rates increase for the education

loans held by the securitization trusts we may experience decline in the value of our additional

structural advisory fees asset servicing fees and residuals receivables which could cause decline in the

price of our common stock and could cause future securitization transactions to be less profitable for

us In addition an increase in interest rates could reduce borrowing for education generally which in

turn could cause the overall demand for our services to decline

LIBOR is the underlying rate for most of the trusts assets and liabilities and changes in LIBOR

can have significant effect on the cash flows generated by each trust Changes in the forward LIBOR

curve affect the principal balances of education loans held by the trusts particularly as interest is

capitalized during loan deferment which affects the net interest margin that the trust generates In
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addition certain trusts have issued tranche of ABS that bears fixed interest rate decrease in the

forward LIBOR curve may result in reduced spread on the fixed-interest tranche which in turn

decreases the estimated fair value of our service receivables Significant changes to the forward LIBOR

curve can also affect the estimated fair value of our additional structural advisory fees and asset

servicing fees which bear interest at the rate of LIBOR plus spread to the extent such fees are

accrued but unpaid by the trusts

If sufficient funds to finance our business including Union Federal are not available to us when needed or

on acceptable terms then we may be required to delay scale back or alter our strategy

We may require additional funds for our products our operating expenses the pursuit of

regulatory approvals acquisition opportunities and the expansion of our capabilities Historically we

have satisfied our funding needs primarily through private education loan asset-backed securitizations

The securitization market has not been available to us and may not be available to us when needed in

the future and if available the terms may not be acceptable to us We have also satisfied our funding

needs through equity financings We cannot be certain that additional public or private financing would

be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us if at all We also cannot assure you that our

capital resources as of June 30 2009 will be sufficient to satisfy our liquidity needs or capital funding

requirements after fiscal 2010 particularly in the event of prolonged dislocation in the private

education loan ABS market or our failure to obtain tax refund as result of our sale of the Trust

Certificate Our short-term financing needs are subject to regulatory capital requirements related to

Union Federal including the requirement imposed by the Supervisory Agreement that FMC maintain

Union Federals regulatory capital ratios at specified levels See Note 23 Subsequent Events

Supervisory Agreement and Order to Cease and Desist in the notes to our consolidated financial

statements included under Item of this annual report for additional details Our short-term financing

needs are also subject to amounts that we may determine to be necessary or appropriate to contribute

to prospective clients to fund portfolio reserves related to new programs Insufficient funds could

require us to delay scale back or eliminate certain of our products and further scale back our expenses

Our assumptions regarding the future cost of funding of auction rate notes affect the valuation of our service

receivables

We have facilitated five trusts that have issued auction rate notes to finance in whole or in part

the purchase of private education loans Interest rates for the auction rate notes are determined from

time to time at auctions We use spread over one-month LIBOR to project the future cost of funding

of the auction rate notes issued by each such trust in determining the value of our service receivables

Prior to the second quarter of fiscal 2008 the spread over one-month LIBOR that we used to

estimate the future cost of funding was based on historical trends then current auction rates for each

trust and assumptions for future auction rates During the second quarter
of fiscal 2008 material

deterioration of the debt capital markets resulted in actual auction rates that trended significantly

higher than the rates we had assumed in the past We also concluded that the higher actual auction

rates would persist resulting in
greater spread over LIBOR for longer period of time than we had

previously estimated Our assumption with regard to future auction rates like our other key valuation

assumptions requires our subjective judgment and is susceptible to change

The interest rate on each outstanding auction rate note is limited by maximum rate The

maximum rate is the least of three rates floating interest rate generally one-month LIBOR plus

margin fixed interest rate and the maximum legally permissible rate The margin applicable to the

floating interest rate is dependent upon the then current ratings of the notes subject to an auction If

the notes are downgraded the applicable margin and the maximum floating rate would increase If

the interest rate determined pursuant to the auction procedures would exceed the maximum rate the

interest rate for the applicable interest period would be set at the maximum rate but the amount of
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the excess interest would accrue as carryover interest noteholders right to receive
carryover

interest is superior to our interests in the applicable securitization trust As result our projected cash

releases from securitization trusts that have issued auction rate notes including the timing of receipt

could be materially adversely affected by increased costs of funding of auction rate notes including the

extent to which trust accrues carryover
interest

Risks Related to the TERI Reorganization

The TERI Reorganization has had and will likely continue to have negative effect on our client

relationships which will adversely affect our revenue and results of operations

We have historically structured and supported private education loan programs for commercial

banks including JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A Bank of America N.A and RBS Citizens N.A

Following the TERI Reorganization these clients elected to terminate some or all of their agreements

with us Our clients that have not terminated their agreements have instructed TERI to stop accepting

applications for TERI-guaranteed loans These actions resulted in significant reduction in our

facilitated loan volumes during fiscal 2009 In addition we expect that the remaining guaranty

agreements and loan origination agreements that TERI has with significant number of our clients will

be terminated in the context of the TERI Reorganization Termination of the clients guaranty

agreement or loan origination agreement with TERI would generally result in the termination of our

agreements with that client

Our revenue business and financial results will continue to suffer as result until we can bring in

new client origination volume

In addition the TERI Reorganization together with our inability to access the securitization

market has resulted in many of our former clients holding private education loan portfolios for longer

than they had expected which has negatively affected our client relationships and may affect market

acceptance of our Monogram product offering or our stand-alone services Finally we may continue to

incur significant legal costs related to the TERI Reorganization

The TERI Reorganization will adversely affect our ability to facilitate the securitization of TERI-guaranteed

loans and could adversely affect our cash flows from the securitization trusts

In its role as guarantor in the private education lending market TERI has agreed to reimburse

lenders for unpaid principal and interest on defaulted loans TERI has historically been the exclusive

provider of borrower default guarantees for our clients private education loans We expect the TERI

Reorganization to adversely affect our ability to facilitate the securitization of TERI-guaranteed loans

In particular we expect investors to ascribe little or no value to the TERI guaranty beyond trusts

Pledged Account As result in structuring future securitizations of loans guaranteed or formerly

guaranteed by TERI if any we will likely be required to reduce or eliminate our up-front structural

advisory fee in order to increase the level of reserves available to the trust In addition it is likely that

we would need to obtain additional credit enhancement for any future securitizations of such loans the

cost of which would also result in lower revenues

To the extent the Pledged Account or other reserves available to particular securitization trust

were exhausted or in the event that the security interests granted by TERI to the trusts are

unperfected or otherwise unenforceable or compromised and loan defaults continued to occur that

trust would have claim as an unsecured creditor of TERI in the context of the TERI Reorganization

If TERIs general reserves are insufficient to satisfy the guaranty claims loan defaults would have

further adverse effect on the amount or timing of cash flows that would otherwise be expected to be

generated by the trust which would adversely affect the value of our service receivables and our asset

servicing fees
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The Creditors Committee is challenging the enforceability of certain of the trusts security interests which may
result in additional delay and expense as well as significant reduction in collateral available to the trusts

In June 2008 the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Massachusetts or the

Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving motion by TERI to honor its guaranty agreement

obligations using cash in Pledged Accounts established for the benefit of certain securitization trusts

Beginning in July 2008 TERI resumed paying its obligations under the guaranty agreements with

respect to defaulted loans from the trusts but only using cash in the Pledged Account established for

the benefit of the specific trusts that owned the defaulted loan As of September 2009 TERI is not

permitted to satisfy its guaranty obligations using funds from TERIs general reserves Funds in the

Pledged Accounts of certain trusts have been exhausted or are expected to be exhausted in the near

term at which point such trust will have general unsecured claim against TERI

The Bankruptcy Courts June 2008 order however granted the parties rights to challenge the

trusts security interests in the collateral other than the Pledged Accounts In January 2009 the

Creditors Committee filed an adversary complaint in the Bankruptcy Court against the owner trustee

and indenture trustee of 17 securitization trusts and against our subsidiary First Marblehead Data

Services Inc or FMDS as administrator of such trusts The complaint generally alleges that the

security interests granted by TERI to the trusts excluding the security interests in the Pledged

Accounts are unperfected or may otherwise be avoided under the Bankruptcy Code In particular the

complaint alleges that the trusts do not have enforceable rights to future recoveries on defaulted loans

owned by TERI with an aggregate principal and accrued interest balance of approximately

$600.0 million as of June 30 2009 or in amounts owed or transferred by TERI to Pledged Accounts

after the filing of TERIs petition for reorganization totaling approximately $34.5 million as of June 30

2009 Effective February 13 2009 pending resolution of the issues raised in the Creditors Committees

complaint certain trusts suspended the transfer of defaulted loans to TERI and suspended requests for

default claim payments from their respective Pledged Accounts In March 2009 FMDS and the owner

trustee filed motion to dismiss the Creditors Committees adversary complaint The indenture trustee

also filed motion to dismiss joining the arguments made in the motion filed by FMDS and the owner

trustee The Creditors Committee filed an opposition to the motion to dismiss in April 2009 together

with an amended complaint naming the trusts themselves as defendants In May FMDS filed

response to the opposition and amended complaint hearing on the motion to dismiss is scheduled

for September 29 2009 We cannot at this time predict the timing costs or outcome of the adversary

proceeding and did not adjust our accounting assumptions during fiscal 2009 regarding TERI

If the Creditors Committee or any other party is successful in challenging the trusts security

interests in the funds transferred to the Pledged Accounts after the filing of TERIs petition for

reorganization or other collateral the amount of pledged collateral available exclusively to particular

securitization trust to satisfy TERIs guaranty obligations to that trust would decrease materially As

result the trusts unsecured claims against TERI would increase proportionately For example
recoveries from defaulted education loans transferred to TERI which have historically been used to

replenish particular trusts Pledged Account would instead become an asset of TERIs bankruptcy

estate and other holders of claims The settlement of the adversary complaint in the context of plan

of reorganization or otherwise could also result in material decrease in the amount of pledged

collateral available exclusively to particular securitization trust Any such decrease could adversely

affect the estimated fair value of our service receivables

Risks Related to Our Industr Business and Operations

Challenges exist in implementing revisions to our business model

During fiscal 2009 we took several measures to adjust our business in response to economic

conditions Most significantly we refined our loan program offerings and added fee-for-service offerings
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such as portfolio management and asset servicing Successful sales of these products and services will

be critical in order to grow our revenues and client base in the future We have limited experience with

the new product the development of which was completed in August 2009 As of September 2009

we have not fuliy deployed the product to any clients We are uncertain of the level of interest from

former or prospective clients with regard to the new product or offered services particularly in the case

of the Monogram product

Commercial banks have historically served as the initial funding sources for loans we manage and

have been our principal clients In the absence of securitizations we are not able to provide to these

banks the liquidity necessary to support long term funding of private education loans and commercial

banks are facing liquidity and credit challenges from other sources in particular mortgage lending

losses In addition the synergies that previously existed between federal loan marketing and private

education loan marketing have been reduced by both the compression of margins in the federal

program and regulatory restrictions on cross marketing of federal and private education loans and in

2010 could face additional compression as result of the elimination of the FFELP by the federal

government As result as of September 2009 the private education loan business may generally be

less attractive to commercial banks than in the past

In this environment it is uncertain whether commercial banks will continue funding private

education loans Some of our former clients have exited the private education loan market completely

To the extent that commercial banks exit the private education loan market the number of our

prospective clients diminishes

The outsourcing services market for education lending is competitive and if we are not able to compete

effectively our revenue and results of operations may be adversely affected

We offer our clients and prospective clients national and regional financial institutions and

educational institutions services in structuring and supporting their private education loan programs
The outsourcing services market in which we operate includes number of service providers some of

which have greater financial technical and marketing resources larger customer bases greater name

recognition and more established relationships with their clients than we have Larger competitors with

greater financial resources may be better able than we are to overcome capital markets dislocations

respond to the need for technological changes compete for skilled professionals build upon efficiencies

based on larger volume of loan transactions fund internal growth and compete for market share

generally We may face competition from our clients or former clients if they choose or acquire the

ability to provide directly the services that we provide or formerly provided to them In addition to

the extent that Union Federal provides private education loans directly to consumers we would

compete directly with clients and former clients We may face competition from third parties who

decide to expand their services to include the suite of services that we provide Based on the range of

services that we offer we believe that Sallie Mae is our principal competitor Our business could be

adversely affected if Sallie Maes program to market private education loans continues to grow or if

Sallie Mae or Nelnet Inc which currently provides fee-based services for non-federally guaranteed

loans seeks to market more aggressively to third parties the full range of services that we offer Other

private education loan originators include JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A Wells Fargo Company
Discover Financial Services and Student Loan Corporation an 80% owned subsidiary of Citibank

N.A that offer similar range of services and/or products If we are not able to compete effectively

our revenue and results of operations may be adversely affected In addition if third parties choose to

provide the range of services that we provide pricing for our services may become more competitive

which could lower our profitability

Historically lenders in the education loan market have focused their lending activities on federal

loans because of the relative size of the federal loan market and because the federal government

guarantees repayment of these loans thereby significantly limiting the lenders credit risk The demand

for our services could decline if lenders place additional emphasis on the private education loan market

and offer the services we provide in response to recent legislative initiatives affecting the availability

and profitability of federal loans including the proposed elimination of the FFELP
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The growth of our business could be adversely affected by changes in government education loan programs or

expansions in the population of students eligible for loans under government education loan programs

We focus our business exclusively on the market for private education loans and more than 98%

of our business is concentrated in products for post-secondary education The availability and terms of

loans that the government originates or guarantees affects the demand for private education loans

because students and their families often rely on private education loans to bridge gap between

available funds including family savings grants and federal and state loans and the costs of

post-secondary education The federal government currently places both annual and aggregate

limitations on the amount of federal loans that any student can receive and determines the criteria for

student eligibility These guidelines are generally adjusted in connection with funding authorizations

from the United States Congress for programs under the Higher Education Act Recent federal

legislation expands federal grant and loan assistance which could weaken the demand for private

education loans In addition legislation such as the College Cost Reduction and Access Act of 2007 has

significantly reduced the profit margins of traditional providers of federal education loans which could

result in increased competition in the market for private education loans which could adversely affect

the volume of private education loans and the securitization transactions that we facilitate and structure

and as result the growth of our business

In May 2008 the Ensuring Continued Access to Student Loans Act of 2008 was signed into law

and contains provisions which might adversely impact the demand for private education loans and

outsourcing services provided by us availability and flow of funds for private education loans and our

liquidity position Among other things the Act

permits parent borrower under the federal PLUS loan program to defer repayment of the

PLUS loan until six months after the student ceases to carry at least one-half the normal

full-time academic workload

extends eligibility for PLUS loan to an applicant who during the period beginning January

2007 and ending December 31 2008 has not been delinquent for more than 180 days on

mortgage loan payments or medical bill payments nor more than 89 days delinquent on the

repayment of any other debt in any case during such period and

increases the loan limits for unsubsidized Stafford loans for undergraduate students

In August 2008 the Higher Education Opportunity Act was signed into law which will

add significant restrictions to the marketing of federal and private education loans and

add significant compliance burdens to private education loan lenders by adding new

truth-in-lending disclosures procedures and rescission rights as well as accompanying civil

penalties

Access to alternative means of financing the costs of education may reduce demand for private education

loans

The demand for private education loans could weaken if student borrowers use other vehicles to

bridge the gap between available funds and costs of post-secondary education These vehicles include

among others

home equity loans under which families borrow money based on the value of their real estate

pre-paid tuition plans which allow students to pay tuition at todays rates to cover tuition costs

in the future

529 plans which are state-sponsored investment plans that allow family to save funds for

education expenses and
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education IRAs now known as Coverdell Education Savings Accounts under which holder can

make annual contributions for education savings

If demand for private education loans weakens we would experience reduced demand for our

services which would seriously harm our financial results

Continuation of the current economic conditions could adversely affect the private education loan industry

During the past year rising unemployment rates and the unsteady financial sector have adversely

affected many consumers and borrowers throughout the country Some consumers may find that higher

education is an unnecessary investment during turbulent economic times and defer enrollment in

educational institutions until the economy improves thus decreasing education loan application and

funding volumes In addition current borrowers may experience more trouble in repaying credit

obligations which could increase loan delinquencies and defaults Finally many lending institutions have

exited the private education loan business and may or may not seek our services to revive this line of

business as the economy improves If the adverse economic environment continues our financial

condition may deteriorate for any one of the foregoing reasons

If our clients do not actively or successfully market and fund private education loans our business will be

adversely affected

We have in the past relied on and will continue in the future to rely on our clients to market and

fund private
education loans to student borrowers If our clients do not devote sufficient time and

resources to their marketing efforts or if they are otherwise not successful in these efforts then we

may experience reduction in the volume of loans that we process
and securitize and our business will

be adversely affected

In addition if the loans were marketed by our clients in manner that is unfair or deceptive or if

the marketing origination or servicing violated any applicable law state unfair and deceptive practices

acts could impose liability on securitization trust holding the loan or create defenses to the

enforceability of the loan Investigations by the New York Attorney General the Attorneys General of

other states the United States Congress or others could have negative impact on lenders desire to

market private education loans The Higher Education Opportunity Act of 2008 creates significant

additional restrictions on the marketing of private education loans

If we fail to manage effectively our cost reductions our business could be disrupted and financial results could

be adversely affected

During fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009 we reduced headcount by over 800 employees including

departures of our former Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Chief Administrative Officer

Chief Information Officer and Chief Marketing Officer Our cost reduction initiatives have placed and

will continue to place strain on our management systems and resources at critical point in our

business and industry We must continue to develop alternatives to the loan guaranty and origination

services that TERI has historically provided to our clients and we must refine our business

development capabilities our systems and processes
and our access to financing sources We must

retain train supervise and manage our remaining employees during this period of change in our

business

We currently outsource some borrower services and telesales functions in an effort to reduce costs

take advantage of technologies and effectively manage the seasonality associated with education loan

volume We rely on our vendors to provide high levels of service and support Our reliance on these

external vendors subjects us to risks associated with inadequate or untimely service and could result in

fewer loans than we would experience if we performed the service functions in-house
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We cannot assure you that we will be able to

expand our systems effectively

successfully develop new products or services

allocate our human resources optimally

identify hire and retain qualified employees or vendors or

incorporate effectively the components of any business that we may acquire in our effort to

achieve growth

We are dependent upon the retention of certain key employees and the loss of any such employees

could adversely affect our business If we are unable to manage our cost reductions or if we lose key

employees as result our operations and our financial results could be adversely affected

If competitors acquire or develop private education loan database or advanced loan information processing

systems our business could be adversely affected

We own proprietary database of historical information on private education loan performance

that we use to help us establish the pricing provisions of new products on behalf of lenders determine

the terms of securitization transactions and establish the fair value of the structural advisory fees asset

servicing fees and residuals that we recognize as revenue We also have developed and continue to

develop as of September 2009 proprietary loan information processing system to enhance our

application processing and loan origination capabilities Our private education loan database and loan

information processing system provide us with competitive advantage in offering our services Third

parties could create or acquire databases and systems such as ours For example as lenders and other

organizations in the private education loan market originate or service loans they compile over time

information for their own private education loan performance database Our competitors and potential

competitors may have originated or serviced greater volume of private education loans than us over

the past two fiscal years which may have provided them with comparatively greater borrower or loan

data or insights particularly during the most recent economic cycle If third-party creates or acquires

private education loan database or develops loan information processing system our competitive

positioning ability to attract new clients and business could be adversely affected As result of the

termination of our agreements with TERI in the context of the TERI Reorganization we have lost

access to continuing updates to the database of TERI-guaranteed loan performance data with regard to

TERI-guaranteed loans that are neither held by securitization trusts facilitated by us nor Union

Federal

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our proprietary database and information systems and

processes the value of our services and technology will be adversely affected

We rely on trade secret laws and restrictions on disclosure to protect our proprietary database and

information systems and processes We have sought to limit TERIs rights to disclose its historical loan

database in the context of the TERI Reorganization and we have entered into confidentiality

agreements with third parties and with some of our employees to maintain the confidentiality of our

trade secrets and proprietary information These methods may neither effectively prevent disclosure of

our confidential information nor provide meaningful protection for our confidential information if there

is unauthorized use or disclosure

We own no material patents Accordingly our technology including our loan information

processing systems is not covered by patents that would preclude or inhibit competitors from entering

our market Monitoring unauthorized use of the systems and processes that we have developed is

difficult and we cannot be certain that the
steps that we have taken will prevent unauthorized use of

our technology Furthermore others may independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary
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information and techniques or otherwise gain access to our proprietary information If we are unable to

protect the confidentiality of our proprietary information and know-how the value of our technology

and services will be adversely affected

The loan origination process is becoming increasingly dependent upon technological advancement and we

could lose clients and market share if we are not able to keep pace with rapid changes in technology

Our future success depends in part on our ability to process loan applications in an automated

error-free manner The volume of loan originations that we are able to process is based in large part

on the systems and
processes we have implemented and developed The loan origination process is

becoming increasingly dependent upon technological advancement such as the ability to process loans

over the Internet accept electronic signatures and provide initial decisions instantly Our future sucess

also depends in part on our ability to develop and implement technology solutions that anticipate and

keep pace with continuing changes in technology industry standards and client preferences We may

not be successful in anticipating or responding to these developments on timely basis In addition we

expect to reduce our investment in technology during fiscal 2010 compared to past fiscal years If

competitors introduce products services systems and
processes

that are better than ours or that gain

greater market acceptance those that we offer or use may become obsolete or noncompetitive In

addition if we fail to execute our clients origination requirements or properly administer the clients

credit agreement templates or required disclosures we could be subject to breach of contract claims

and related damages Any one of these circumstances could have material adverse effect on our

business reputation and ability to obtain and retain clients

We may be required to expend significant funds to develop or acquire new technologies If we

cannot offer new technologies as quickly as our competitors we could lose clients and market share

We also could lose market share if our competitors develop more cost effective technologies than those

we offer or develop

Our business could be adversely affected if PHEAA fails to provide adequate or timely services or if our

relationship with PHEAA terminates

As of June 30 2009 PHEAA serviced substantial majority of loans held by the securitization

trusts that we administer This arrangement allows us to avoid the overhead investment in servicing

operations but requires us to rely on PHEAA to adequately service the trusts education loans

including collecting payments responding to borrower inquiries and communicating with borrowers

whose loans have become delinquent We periodically review the costs associated with establishing

servicing operations to service loans Our reliance on an external service provider for loan servicing

subjects us to risks associated with inadequate or untimely services including notice of developments in

prepayments delinquencies and defaults substantial increase in these rates could adversely affect our

ability to access profitably the securitization markets for our clients loans and the value of our

additional structural advisory fees asset servicing fees and residuals receivables In addition if PHEAA

were to fail to comply with TERIs servicing guidelines in servicing securitized TERI-guaranteed private

education loans TERI would not be obligated to make guaranty payments on such loans in which case

PHEAA would be obligated to cure the noncompliance or purchase the loans Such an event could

have negative impact on the value of our residuals asset servicing fees and additional structural

advisory fee receivables If our relationship with PHEAA terminates we would either need to expand

or develop relationship with another loan servicer which could be time consuming and costly In such

event our business could be adversely affected

An interruption in or breach of our information systems may result in lost business

We rely heavily upon communications and information systems to conduct our business Our

systems and operations are potentially vulnerable to damage or interruption from network failure

hardware failure software failure power or telecommunications failures computer viruses and worms
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penetration of our network by hackers or other unauthorized users and natural disasters Any failure or

interruption or breach in security of our information systems or the third-party information systems on

which we rely could cause underwriting or other delays and could result in fewer loan applications

being received slower processing of applications and reduced efficiency in loan processing failure

interruption or breach in security could also result in an obligation to notif clients in number of

states that require such notification with possible civil liability resulting from such failure interruption

or breach We cannot assure you that such failures interruptions or breaches will not occur or if they

do occur that we or the third parties on whom we rely will adequately address them The precautionary

measures that we have implemented to avoid systems outages and to minimize the effects of any data

or telephone systems interruptions may not be adequate and we may not have anticipated or addressed

all of the potential events that could threaten or undermine our information systems The occurrence

of any failure interruption or breach could significantly impair the reputation of our brand diminish

the attractiveness of our services and harm our business

If we experience data security breach and confidential customer information is disclosed we may be subject

to penalties imposed by regulators civil actions for damages and negative publicity which could affect our

customer relationships and have material adverse effect on our business In addition current state and

federal legislative proposals if enacted may impose additional requirements on us to safeguard confidential

customer information which may result in increased compliance costs

Recently data security breaches suffered by well-known companies and institutions have attracted

substantial amount of media attention prompting state and federal legislative proposals and

regulatory rule-making to address data privacy and security If some of the current proposals are

adopted we may be subject to more extensive requirements to protect the applicant and borrower

information that we process in connection with the loans Implementation of systems and procedures to

address these requirements would increase our compliance costs If we were to experience data

security breach or if we or the securitization trusts that we administer otherwise improperly disclose

confidential customer information such breach or other disclosure could generate negative publicity

about us and could adversely affect our relationships with our clients including the lenders and

educational institutions with which we do business This could have material adverse effect on our

business In addition pending legislative proposals if adopted likely would result in substantial

penalties for unauthorized disclosure of confidential consumer information Failure to comply with

those requirements could result in regulatory sanctions imposed on our client lenders and loss of

business for us

Risks Relating to Regulatory Matters

We are subject to regulation as savings and loan holding company and Union Federal Savings Bank is

regulated extensively

As result of our acquisition of Union Federal in November 2006 we became subject to

regulation as savings and loan holding company and our business is limited to activities that are

financial or real-estate related We have registered with the OTS and are required to file periodic

reports In addition we are subject to examination by the OTS which has certain types of enforcement

powers over us including the ability in certain circumstances to review and approve changes in

management and compensation arrangements issue additional cease-and-desist orders force divestiture

of Union Federal and impose civil and monetary penalties for violations of federal banking laws and

regulations or for unsafe or unsound banking practices Any such actions could adversely affect our

reputation liquidity or ability to execute our business plan

In addition Union Federal is subject to extensive regulation supervision and examination by the

OTS and the FDIC Such regulation covers all banking business including activities and investments

lending practices safeguarding deposits capitalization risk management policies and procedures
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relationships with affiliated companies efforts to combat money laundering recordkeeping and conduct

and qualifications of personnel In particular the failure to meet minimum capital requirements could

initiate certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary actions by regulators that if

undertaken could have direct material adverse effect on our operations and financial statements We
have in the past been required to make capital infusions to Union Federal to support the private

education loan portfolio held by Union Federal and regulatory authorities could require additional

capital infusions or take other corrective measures in the future

There is risk that we could incur additional costs in complying with regulations applicable to

savings and loan holding companies and savings banks or significant penalties if we fail to comply Our

ability to comply with all applicable laws and rules depends largely on our establishment and

maintenance of system to ensure such compliance as well as our ability to attract and retain qualified

compliance personnel Further reductions in staffing levels could make it difficult to retain experienced

personnel to maintain adequate internal controls related to regulatory matters If severe failures in

internal controls occur regulatory authorities could impose sanctions on Union Federal or us We have

relatively limited experience with these regulations and we could in the future be subject to additional

supervisory orders to cease and desist civil monetary penalties or other actions due to claimed

noncompliance which could have an adverse effect on our business financial condition and operating

results

Failure to comply with recent OTS enforcement agreements could adversely affect our business financial

condition and operating results

In July 2009 we entered into the Supervisory Agreement with the OTS and Union Federal entered

in to stipulation consenting to the issuance by the OTS of the Order to cease and desist The

Supervisory Agreement requires us to among other things

maintain Union Federals regulatory capital ratios at the greater of the capital ratios

specified
in Union Federals business plan approved by the OTS in November 2006 ii the

capital ratios specified in future business plan found acceptable to OTS or iii the minimum

regulatory capital requirements

maintain deposit at Union Federal in the amount of $30.0 million until the earlier to occur of

the sale of Union Federal or ii reduction of Union Federals private education loan

concentration ratio to 50% of Union Federals Tier capital plus allowances for loan losses

obtain prior approval of the OTS before engaging in any transaction with Union Federal or

ii paying any cash dividends repurchasing or redeeming any shares of its stock incurring any

debt exceeding $5.0 million or accepting any dividend or other payment representing reduction

in capital from Union Federal and

obtain prior approval of the OTS in connection with any golden parachute payment and

comply with notice requirements for certain changes in directors and senior executive officers

The Order requires Union Federal to among other things

submit to the Regional Director of the OTS within 60 days new business plan covering fiscal

years 2010 2011 and 2012 reflecting Union Federals proposed strategy business activities and

quarterly financial projections

develop and implement liquidity plan that contains strategies for ensuring that Union Federal

maintains adequate short-term and long-term liquidity

adopt concentration reduction plan that would prevent Union Federal from originating

private education loans until Union Federal reduces the concentration of private education loans

to Tier capital plus allowances for loan losses below 50% and ii require Union Federal to

achieve such reduction by December 31 2009
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engage within 60 days qualified third-party provider subject to approval of the Regional

Director of the OTS to perform an evaluation of the private education loans held by Union

Federal as of March 31 2009

obtain prior approval of the OTS before increasing the dollar amount of brokered deposits

provide the OTS with prior notice before engaging in any transaction with an affiliate or

ii entering into renewing extending or revising any contractual arrangement relating to

compensation or benefits for any senior executive officer or director and

obtain prior approval of the OTS in connection with any golden parachute payment and

comply with notice requirements for certain changes in directors and senior executive officers

The terms of the Supervisory Agreement and the Order will remain in effect until terminated

modified or suspended by the OTS These terms require significant commitment from us of capital

and management attention which could be otherwise deployed

Although we and Union Federal each intend to take such actions as may be necessary to enable us

to comply with our respective requirements there can be no assurance that we will be able to comply

fully with the provisions of the Supervisory Agreement or the Order as applicable or to do so within

the timeframes required Moreover there can be no assurance that compliance with such requirements

will not be more time consuming or more expensive than anticipated or that efforts to comply with

such requirements will not have adverse effects on the operations and financial condition of us or

Union Federal In particular compliance with the Order to reduce the level of private education loans

held by Union Federal by December 31 2009 could require us to sell or otherwise dispose of the

portfolio on terms that we would not otherwise consider acceptable including the sale or other

disposition of such loans at significant loss which would negatively affect our financial results in the

quarter in which such transaction occurs In addition the limitations imposed on Union Federals rates

of private education loans to capital will foreclose meaningful participation by Union Federal in our

new product offering in the near term

Failure to comply with the Supervisory Agreement or Order or other supervisory directives could

subject us to further orders to cease and desist significant civil monetary penalties recovery of

severance payments made to former employees or other mandatory actions Accordingly any material

failure to comply could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and

operating results

We may become subject to state registration or licensing requirements If we determine that we are subject to

the registration or licensing requirements of any jurisdiction our compliance costs could increase significantly

and other adverse consequences may result

Many states have statutes and regulations that require the licensure of small loan lenders loan

brokers and loan arrangers Some of these statutes are drafted or interpreted to cover broad scope of

activities We have not taken formal action regarding licensing or registration with any regulatory body

outside the Commonwealth of Massachusetts other than the OTS While we believe that our prior

consultations with regulatory counsel and in some cases local counsel have identified all material

licensing registration and other regulatory requirements that could be applicable to us legislative

changes to state licensing schemes may raise potential concerns In particular subsequent legislation in

one state could require licensure if we provide outsourced loan origination services in the future

otherwise than through an operating subsidiary of Union Federal Even if we are not physically present

in state its regulators may take the position that registration or licensing is
required because we

provide services by mail telephone the Internet or other remote means

All of our operations relating to education loan processing are located in Massachusetts In 2001
we received determination letters from the Massachusetts Division of Banks confirming that the loan

origination outsourcing services provided under contract to TERI by FMER were not subject to
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licensing under the Massachusetts Small Loan Act because FMER did not conduct lending business

with consumers in its own name and its processing centers were not generally open to the public In

May 2008 following the TERI Reorganization we received an additional determination letter from the

Massachusetts Division of Banks confirming that FMERs business of back office loan application

processing loan origination and loan underwriting functions on behalf of lenders was exempt from

licensing under the Massachusetts Small Loan Act The Massachusetts Small Loan Act requires any

person that is engaged for compensation in the business of making small loans or in aiding or

assisting the borrower or the lender in procuring or making such loans to obtain license Under the

statute the business of making small loans includes the making of loans of $6000 or less with interest

rates and expenses of more than 12% per year The loans that we have facilitated include amounts as

small as $1000 and portion of those loans have combined interest rates and fees exceeding 12% We
have provided outsourced private education loan origination services on fee-for-service basis through

FMER and Union Federals subsidiary FMLOS To the extent that these are conducted through Union

Federal or FMLOS we believe it is less likely that state regulatory requirements affecting loan brokers

small lenders and credit services organizations will be asserted Operational restrictions imposed by

federal regulators could however limit our ability to offer services through FMLOS on

fee-for-service basis

We will continue to review state registration and licensing requirements that may become

applicable to us in the future As result of providing portfolio management services additional

licensing schemes may apply to us As result of this continuing review we may determine that

registration or licensing is required in jurisdictions where we are not currently registered or licensed In

such case we may proceed with licensing or registration in the affected state or we may attempt to

restructure our activities in manner that we believe to be exempt from such licensing or registration

Compliance with state licensing requirements could involve additional costs which could have

material adverse effect on our business Our failure to comply with these laws could lead to among
other things

curtailment of our ability to continue to conduct business in the relevant jurisdiction pending

processing of registration or license application

administrative enforcement actions

class action lawsuits

the assertion of legal defenses delaying or otherwise affecting the enforcement of loans and

criminal as well as civil liability each of which could have material adverse effect on our

business

We may be exposed to liability for failures of third parties with which we do business to comply with the

registration licensing and other requirements that apply to them

Third parties with which we do or have done business including federal and state chartered

financial institutions non-bank loan marketers as well as TERI are subject to registration licensing

and extensive governmental regulations including Truth-in-Lending laws and other consumer protection

laws and regulations For example some of the third-party marketers with which we have done or may
do business may be subject to state registration or licensing requirements and laws and regulations

including those relating to small loans loan brokers and credit services organizations As result of the

activities that we conduct or may conduct for our clients it may be asserted that we have some

responsibility for compliance by third parties with which we do business with the laws and regulations

applicable to them whether on contractual or other grounds If it is determined that we have failed to

comply with our obligations with respect to these third parties we could be subject to civil or criminal

liability
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Failure to comply with consumer protection laws could subject us to civil and criminal penalties or litigation

including class actions and have material adverse effect on our business

The federal government and state governments regulate extensively the financial institutions and

other entities that originate loans in the private education loan market These regulations include

bankruptcy tax usury disclosure credit reporting identity theft privacy fraud and abuse and other

laws to protect borrowers Changes in consumer protection laws or related regulations or in the

prevailing interpretations thereof may expose us to litigation result in greater compliance costs

adversely affect the collection of balances due on the loan assets held by securitization trusts or

otherwise adversely affect our business We could incur substantial additional expense complying with

these requirements and may be required to create new processes and information systems Moreover

changes in the consumer protection laws and related regulations or in the prevailing interpretations

thereof could invalidate or call into question the legality of certain of our services and business

practices

The risk of noncompliance with regulatory requirements by our lender clients and their marketing

partners has been highlighted by recent state and federal investigations into education loan marketing

practices particularly the payment of marketing fees directly to schools in exchange for loan referrals

None of our contracts with lenders or marketers involves the payment of fees to schools for loan

volume State and federal regulatory authorities have sought information from some of our former

clients and us regarding the loan programs we coordinated and it is possible that some marketing or

underwriting practices associated with the programs we coordinated and assets we securitized will be

challenged as result of such investigations In August 2007 we announced that as part of the New
York Attorney Generals ongoing investigation of several lending educational and nonprofit

institutions we had received subpoena for information regarding our role in the education loan

industry During fiscal 2008 we worked with the New York Attorney Generals office regarding the

investigation

The regulatory actions described above have also prompted state and federal legislation that will

affect our operations In August 2009 the Federal Reserve Board issued regulations to implement

provisions of the Higher Education Opportunity Act which was signed into law in August 2008 The

regulations revise the number timing and content of disclosures required for private education loans

by TILA and the Federal Reserve Boards implementing regulation for TILA Regulation Under the

regulations creditors that extend private education loans will be required to provide disclosures about

loan terms and features on or with the loan application and will also be required to disclose

information about federal education loan programs that may offer less costly alternatives to private

education loans Additional disclosures must be provided when the loan is approved and after loan

acceptance but prior to loan disbursement The Federal Reserve Board has also proposed model

disclosure forms that creditors could use to comply with the new disclosure requirements Compliance

with the new regulations will be mandatory as of February 14 2010

Violations of the laws or regulations governing our operations or the operations of our clients

could result in the imposition of civil or criminal penalties the cancellation of our contracts to provide

services or our exclusion from participating in education loan programs These penalties or exclusions

were they to occur would negatively impair our ability to operate our business In addition the loan

assets held by securitization trusts that we have structured could be adversely impacted by violation of

tax or consumer protection laws In such event the value of our residual interests or asset servicing

fees could also be adversely impacted In some cases such violations may render the loan assets

unenforceable
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Recent litigation has sought to re-characterize certain loan marketers and other originators as lenders if

litigation on similar theories were successful against us or any third-party marketer we have worked with in

the past the loans that we securitize would be subject to individual state consumer protection laws

All of the lenders with which we work are federally-insured banks and credit unions and therefore

are not subject to many state consumer protection laws including limitations on certain interest rates

fees and other charges In providing our private education loan services to our clients we do not act as

lender guarantor or loan servicer and the terms of the loans that we securitize are regulated in

accordance with the laws and regulations applicable to the lenders

The association between marketers of high-interest payday loans and tax-return anticipation

loans or TRAL and out-of-state national banks has come under recent scrutiny Recent litigation

asserts that payday loan and TRAL marketers use out-of-state lenders in order to evade the usury and

interest rate caps and other consumer protection laws imposed by the states where they do business

Such litigation has sought successfully in some instances to re-characterize the loan marketer as the

lender for purposes of state consumer protection law restrictions Similar civil actions have been

brought in the context of gift cards We believe that our activities and the activities of third parties

whose marketing on behalf of lenders has been coordinated by us are distinguishable from the

activities involved in these cases

Additional state consumer protection laws would be applicable to the loans we facilitate if we or

any third-party loan marketer whose activities we coordinated were re-characterized as lender and

the loans or the provisions governing interest rates fees and other charges could be unenforceable In

addition we could be subject to claims by consumers as well as enforcement actions by regulators

Even if we were not required to cease doing business with residents of certain states or to change our

business practices to comply with applicable laws and regulations we could be required to register or

obtain licenses or regulatory approvals that could impose substantial cost on us To date there have

been no actions taken or threatened against us on the theory that we have engaged in unauthorized

lending However such actions could have material adverse effect on our business

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock

The price of our common stock may be volatile

The trading price of our common stock may fluctuate substantially depending on many factors

some of which are beyond our control and may not be related to our operating performance These

fluctuations could cause you to lose part or all of your investment in our shares of common stock

Those factors that could cause fluctuations include but are not limited to the following

actual or anticipated changes in our earnings or fluctuations in our operating results or in the

expectations of securities analysts including as result of the timing size or structure of any

securitizations or alternative transactions

difficulties we may encounter in structuring securitizations or alternative financings including

continued disruptions in the private education loan ABS market or demand for securities offered

by trusts that we facilitate or the loss of opportunities to structure securitization transactions

any variance between the actual performance of the securitization trusts and the key assumptions

that we have used to estimate the fair value of our additional structural advisory fees and

residuals receivables

changes in the key assumptions we use to estimate the fair value of our additional structural

advisory fees asset servicing fees residuals receivables and education loans held for sale

including among others discount default and prepayment rates

announcement by us our competitors or our potential competitors of acquisitions new products

or services significant contracts commercial relationships or capital markets activities
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the success of Monogram our new product offering or our fee-for-service offerings

developments in the TERI Reorganization including challenges to the trusts security interests in

collateral securing TERIs guaranty obligations or TERIs rejection of its guaranty agreements

negative publicity about the private education loan market generally or us specifically

regulatory developments or sanctions directed at Union Federal or us

adverse rating agency actions with respect to the securitization trusts that we have facilitated

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market and volatility in the ABS market from

time to time

our failure to realize the tax benefits we expect from the sale of the Trust Certificate

significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of financial services and process

outsourcing companies

general economic conditions and trends including economic pressure on consumer asset classes

such as private education loans

legislative initiatives affecting federal or private education loans including the federal budget

and final regulations implementing Title of the Higher Education Opportunity Act of 2008

that revise disclosure and procedural requirements for private education loans

major catastrophic events

purchases or sales of large blocks of our stock or other strategic investments involving us or

departures or long-term unavailability of key personnel

In the past following periods of volatility in the market price of companys securities securities

class action litigation has often been brought against that company Due to the recent volatility of our

stock price we have in fact become the target of securities litigation See Item of this annual report

Legal Proceedings for additional detail

The securities litigation as well as any future litigation could result in substantial costs and divert

managements attention and resources from our business

Insiders have substantial control over us and could limit your ability to influence the outcome of key

transactions including change of control

Our directors and executive officers and entities affiliated with them beneficially owned

approximately 26.1% of the outstanding shares of our common stock as of June 30 2009 excluding

shares of preferred stock held by affiliates of GS Capital Partners or GSCP and convertible into

8846733 additional shares of our common stock Affiliates of GSCP have agreed to hold shares of

and not to convert the preferred stock if after giving effect to any such conversion they and their

affiliates would own more than 9.9% of our outstanding shares of common stock These stockholders if

acting together could substantially influence matters requiring approval by our stockholders including

the election of directors and the approval of mergers or other extraordinary transactions They may
also have interests that differ from yours and may vote in way with which you disagree and which

may be adverse to your interests The concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying

preventing or deterring change of control of our company could deprive our stockholders of an

opportunity to receive premium for their common stock as part of sale of our company and might

ultimately affect the market price of our common stock

36



Some provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated by-laws may deter

third-parties from acquiring us

Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated by-laws contain provisions that

may make the acquisition of our company more difficult without the approval of our board of directors

including the following

only our board of directors the chairman of our board of directors or our president may call

special meetings of our stockholders

our stockholders may take action only at meeting of our stockholders and not by written

consent

we have authorized undesignated preferred stock the terms of which may be established and

shares of which may be issued without stockholder approval

our directors may be removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of majority of the

directors present at meeting duly held at which quorum is present or by the holders of 75%

of the votes that all stockholders would be entitled to cast in the election of directors and

we impose advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals

These anti-takeover defenses could discourage delay or prevent transaction involving change in

control of our company These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more

difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors of your choosing or cause us to take other

corporate actions you desire

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may delay defer or prevent change in control that

our stockholders might consider to be in their best interests

We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law which subject to certain

exceptions prohibits business combinations between Delaware corporation and an interested

stockholder which is generally defined as stockholder who becomes beneficial owner of 15% or

more of Delaware corporations voting stock for three-year period following the date that such

stockholder became an interested stockholder Section 203 could have the effect of delaying deferring

or preventing change in control that our stockholders might consider to be in their best interests

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

We lease buildings for our executive offices and operations Our headquarters are located in

Boston Massachusetts and we have additional offices in Medford Massachusetts and North

Providence Rhode Island The following table summarizes information with respect to the principal

facilities that we lease

Lease

Area expiration

Location Principal activities sq feet date

Boston MA Boylston Street Headquarters 51972 2014

Medford MA Loan processing 153136 2012

North Providence RI Union Federal 13064 2010

In addition we have leased approximately 134000 square feet of office space in Boston

Massachusetts pursuant to lease with term expiring in 2014 As of September 2009 we do not

occupy such office space of which we have subleased approximately 88051 square feet
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We do not anticipate significant difficulty in obtaining lease renewals or alternate space as needed

Item Legal Proceedings

In April and May 2008 seven purported class action lawsuits were filed against us and certain of

our current and former officers and certain of our directors in the United States District Court for the

District of Massachusetts The plaintiffs alleged among other things that the defendants made false

and misleading statements and failed to disclose material information in various SEC filings press

releases and other public statements The complaints alleged various claims under the Exchange Act

and Rule lOb-5 promulgated thereunder The complaints sought among other relief class certification

unspecified damages fees and such other relief as the court deemed just and proper In August 2008
the court consolidated these cases and appointed lead plaintiffs and lead counsel In November 2008

consolidated amended complaint was filed by the lead plaintiffs that contained allegations similar to

the earlier complaints On August 2009 the court issued an order granting our motion to dismiss the

plaintiffs consolidated amended complaint The court did not grant plaintiffs leave to re-plead

however the plaintiffs have right to appeal the dismissal

In addition three federal derivative lawsuits and one state derivative lawsuit have been filed

against certain of our current and former officers and directors and nominally against us in the United

States District Court for the District of Massachusetts and Massachusetts Superior Court respectively

The federal derivative suits were filed in May and June 2008 and the state derivative suit was filed in

June 2008 The derivative complaints allege various violations of federal and state law including

violations of the Exchange Act breaches of fiduciary duties waste of corporate assets and unjust

enrichment The derivative complaints seek monetary judgment injunctive relief restitution

disgorgement and variety of purported corporate governance reforms In August 2008 the federal

court consolidated the federal derivative cases and stayed them pending resolution of the purported

class actions described above In August 2009 the state court stayed the state derivative action until

October 2009 We plan to move for dismissal of the federal and state derivative actions in light of the

dismissal of the purported class action in August 2009

We intend to continue to vigorously assert our defenses in these actions until they are finally and

fully resolved There can be no assurance however that plaintiffs will not succeed in appealing the

dismissal of the purported class action or that we will be successful in defending the federal or state

derivative actions An adverse resolution of any of the lawsuits could have material effect on our

consolidated financial position and results of operations in the period in which lawsuit is resolved In

addition although we carry insurance for these types of claims judgment significantly in excess of our

insurance coverage could materially and adversely affect our financial condition results of operations

and cash flows We are not presently able to reasonably estimate potential losses if any related to the

lawsuits The securities litigation as well as any future litigation could result in substantial costs and

divert managements attention and resources from our business

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

None
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases

of Equity Securities

Market Information and Holders

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol FMD The

following table sets forth the high and low sales prices of our common stock as reported by the New

York Stock Exchange and cash dividends declared per then outstanding share of our common stock

for each quarterly period within our two most recent fiscal years

Cash

High Low Dividends

Fiscal 2009

First Quarter 5.14 $1.65

Second Quarter 2.85 0.58

Third Quarter 1.68 0.71

Fourth Quarter 2.71 1.23

Fiscal 2008

First Quarter $42.50 $29.23 $0.275

Second Quarter 41.77 11.01 0.120

Third Quarter 19.39 7.36

Fourth Quarter 8.25 2.51

Computershare Trust Company N.A is the transfer agent and registrar for our common stock As

of the close of business on September 2009 we had 60 holders of record of our common stock This

number does not include stockholders for whom shares are held in street or nominee name

Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative five-year total return attained by stockholders of The

First Marblehead Corporations common stock relative to the cumulative total returns of the Dow

Jones U.S index and the Dow Jones U.S Financial Services index The graph tracks the performance

of $100 investment in our common stock and in each of the indices with the reinvestment of all

dividends from June 30 2004 to June 30 2009
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The information included under the heading Performance Graph is furnished and not filed
for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section

nor shall it be deemed to be soliciting material subject to Regulation 14A or incorporated by

reference in any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act

Dividends

We did not declare any dividends during fiscal 2009 and we do not expect to declare any dividends

in the foreseeable future Any decision to pay future dividends will be made by our board of directors

and will depend upon applicable regulatory approvals and our earnings financial condition capital and

regulatory requirements and such other factors as the board of directors deems relevant

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

In April 2007 our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to 10 million shares of

common stock The 10 million shares authorized for repurchase included approximately 3.4 million

shares that remained available for repurchase under previously authorized repurchase program As of

June 30 2009 we had repurchased an aggregate of 1169100 shares under this program at an average

price excluding commissions of $36.17 per share We did not repurchase any shares of common stock

pursuant to this program during the twelve months ended June 30 2009 or 2008 Future repurchases

pursuant to this program may require regulatory approval

During fiscal 2009 72452 shares were retained by us upon the vesting of employee restricted stock

units in order to satisfy the applicable statutory minimum tax withholding obligations in connection

with such vesting

$200

6/04 6/05 6/06 6/07 6/08 6/09
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our

consolidated financial statements and related notes and Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations appearing elsewhere in this filing We have derived the

data from consolidated financial statements which were audited by KPMG LLP independent registered

public accounting firm The historical results presented here are not necessarily indicative of future

results

Fiscal years ended June 30

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

in thousands

Consolidated Statements of Income Data

Service revenues

Up-front structural advisory fees $179106 $457352 $208178 $168166

Additional structural advisory fees

From new securitizations 24304 43984 33685 27520
Trust updates 57157 44106 1363 1241 1767

Total additional structural advisory fees 57157 19802 45347 34926 29287
Asset servicing fees

Fee income 2350
Fee update 35

Total asset servicing fees 2385
Residuals

From new securitizations 116972 182744 177309 121187

Trust updates 283295 488832 29548 28239 17593

Total residuals 283295 371860 212292 205548 138780

Processing fees from TERI 3050 126540 134845 106072 78200

Administrative and other fees 19908 31985 21497 8848 3544

Total service revenues 315109 54031 871333 563572 417977

Net interest income 25103 25622 9371 5463 3288

Total revenues 290006 28409 880704 569035 421265

Non-interest expenses

Compensation and benefits 42232 96735 111364 89214 67608
General and administrative expenses 80438 254439 141591 98593 76568
Unrealized losses on loans held for sale 138163 7373

Total non-interest expenses 260833 358547 252955 187807 144176

Income loss from operations 550839 386956 627749 381228 277089
Other income 16 2526

Income loss before income taxes 550839 386956 627765 383754 277089
Income tax expense benefit 187819 151880 256434 147794 117424

Net income loss $363020 $235076 $371331 $235960 $159665
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Income Per Share Data

Net income loss per common share

Net income loss per share basic

Net income loss per share diluted

Cash dividends declared per share

Weighted-average shares outstanding basic

Weighted-average shares outstanding diluted

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Fiscal years ended June 30

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

in thousands except per share data

3.66 2.46 3.94 2.47 1.64

3.66 2.46 3.92 2.45 1.59

0.395 0.62 0.32

99081 95732 94296 95366 97550

99081 95732 94845 96258 100206

June 30

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

in thousands

Cash and cash equivalents $158770 70280 95937 75711 $193796

Federal funds sold 14326 80215 10334

Investments 8450 70629 128650 67250

Loans held for sale 350960 497324 37052

Service receivables 67522 411183 809668 551567 309590

Income taxes receivable 166410 49345 11649 2594

Total assets 821330 1200898 1214463 770346 558193

Total liabilities 415865 563286 371843 194177 136627

Total stockholders equity 405465 637612 842620 576169 421566
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of

operations together with our Selected Financial Data and consolidated financial statements and

accompanying notes included in Item of this annual report In addition to the historical information the

discussion contains certain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties Our actual

results could differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements due to

applications of our critical accounting policies and factors including but not limited to those set forth

under the caption Risk Factors in Item 1A of Part of this annual report

Executive Summary

Overview

We offer outsourcing services to national and regional financial institutions and educational

institutions for designing and implementing private education loan programs These private education

loan programs are designed to be marketed to prospective student borrowers and their families directly

or through educational institutions and to generate portfolios intended to be held by the originating

lender or financed in the capital markets In addition we provide administrative and other services to

securitization trusts that we have facilitated asset servicing to the third-party owner of certain

securitization trusts and portfolio management services to limited number of clients

We offer prospective clients the opportunity to outsource key components of their private

education loan programs to us by providing fully integrated suite of services including our new

Monogram product offering that allows clients to meet their desired risk control and return objectives

In addition we offer the following services on stand alone fee-for-service basis

Loan originationWe provide loan processing services to schools and lenders from application

intake through loan disbursement We customize our services to meet the specific branding

pricing and underwriting requirements of our clients

Portfolio managementWe manage private education loan portfolios on behalf of their owners

by employing risk analytics to monitor and manage the performance of the portfolio over time

As part of this service offering we monitor portfolio performance metrics work with our clients

to manage the performance of third-party vendors and interface with rating agencies Our

infrastructure provides us with data that enables robust analytics and we are able to customize

collections strategies as needed to optimize loan performance

Trust administrationAs administrator for securitization trusts that we facilitated we monitor the

performance of the loan servicers and third-party collection agencies including ensuring

compliance with the servicing guidelines and review of default prevention and collections

activities In this capacity we are responsible for reconciliation of funds among the third parties

and the trusts We also provide regular reporting to investors in the ABS issued by the trusts

and other parties related to the trusts

Asset ServicingOur experience enables us to offer asset servicing such as residual analysis and

valuation optimization services and strategies relating to asset funding

Additional ServicesFrom time to time we may offer other services as needs arise including

services relating to loan marketing and loan financing

We also provide banking services such as residential and commercial mortgage loans retail savings

products time deposit products and money market accounts through our subsidiary Union Federal

which is federally chartered thrift regulated by the OTS In the past Union Federal has also offered

private education loans directly to consumers
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During fiscal 2009 we took several measures to adjust our business model in light of economic

conditions Most significantly we refined our product offerings in an effort to attract lenders and

educational institutions back into the market for private education loans We also added fee-for-service

offerings such as portfolio management and asset servicing We also revised our fee structures made

major changes in senior management and significantly reduced our operating expenses

Our new Monogram product offering has been designed to strengthen the value of the resulting

loan assets through redesigned risk-based pricing enhanced cosigner participation and by aligning risk

and product options to the specific credit profile of the student borrower and their cosigner

Additionally given the current market conditions we would anticipate originating greater proportion

of immediate-repayment loans or loans for which payment of principal and interest begins shortly after

final disbursement and interest-only loans or loans for which payment of interest begins shortly after

disbursement but payment of principal is deferred during enrollment The success of the new product

will be critical to growing and diversifying our revenues and client base In light of regulatory

constraints however Union Federal is not expected to participate as program lender during fiscal

2010

We also changed our fee structure with respect to our services and have developed additional

services that would provide us with fee-based income as our services are provided The revised fee

structure is intended to improve our cash flow and reduce our dependence on the credit and capital

markets and on any single guarantor or other credit enhancement provider Significant uncertainty

exists regarding the success or market acceptance of our new products and services and our ability to

access the securitization markets Nonetheless we believe our new strategies combined with our capital

experience and industry knowledge should position us to compete effectively in re-emerging private

education loan marketplace

The historical driver of our results of operations and financial condition has been the volume of

private education loans for which we provided outsourcing services from loan origination through

securitization Asset-backed securitizations have historically been our sole source of permanent

financing for our clients private education loan programs and substantially all of our income has been

derived from securitizations Securitization refers to the technique of pooling loans and selling them to

special purpose bankruptcy remote entity typically trust which issues bonds backed by those loans

to investors In the past we offered our clients fully integrated suite of outsourcing services but we

did not charge separate fees for many of those services Although we provided those various services

without charging separate fee or at cost in the case of loan processing services we generally

entered into agreements with the lender clients giving us the exclusive right to securitize the private

education loans that they did not intend to hold For our past securitization services we have been

entitled to receive from the trusts up-front structural advisory fees additional structural advisory fees

over time and residual cash flows

We have been unable to access the securitization market since September 2007 as result of

market disruptions that began in the second quarter of fiscal 2008 accelerated during the third quarter

of fiscal 2008 and to lesser extent persist as of September 2009 In addition our lender clients

previously had the opportunity to mitigate their credit risk through loan repayment guaranty by

TERI and we historically received reimbursement from TERI for outsourced loan processing services

we performed on TERIs behalf In April 2008 TERI filed voluntary petition for relief under

Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code The TERI Reorganization together with capital markets

dislocations has had and will likely continue to have material negative effect on our client

relationships facilitated loan volumes our ability to structure loan securitizations the value of our

service receivables and our ability to realize fully the cost reimbursement and guaranty obligations of

TERI During fiscal 2009 we facilitated loans with an aggregate principal balance of $106.7 million and

received $3.0 million in processing fees from TERI In contrast during fiscal 2008 we facilitated loans
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with an aggregate principal balance of $4.9 billion and received $126.5 million in processing fees from

TERI We do not expect to receive processing fees from TERI in the future

In addition credit performance of consumer-related loans generally and the private education

loans held by us and the various securitization trusts we have facilitated have been adversely affected

by general economic conditions in the United States including increasing unemployment rates and

reduced availability of consumer credit During fiscal 2009 we increased the projected weighted-average

gross default rates for the NCSLT Trusts by 417 basis points to 19.00% and credit-rating agencies took

negative rating actions with respect to those trusts resulting in write-downs of our service receivables

The portfolio of private education loans held by us has experienced higher level of defaults than we

originally projected The interest rate economic and credit environments may continue to have

material negative effect on the estimated value of our service receivables and loans held for sale We
recorded losses during fiscal 2009 of $138.2 million in connection with write-downs of the loans to their

estimated fair value In addition we have committed to the OTS to reduce the level of private

education loans held by Union Federal by December 31 2009 which could result in the sale or other

disposition of such education loans at significant loss

We remain focused on preserving capital and maximizing liquidity in these challenging market

conditions During fiscal 2009 we received $132.7 million in
gross proceeds from an equity financing

and we greatly reduced our annual cash expenditure requirements through reductions in headcount

consolidation of office
space

and other cost saving initiatives that began in fiscal 2008 In addition as

of March 31 2009 we sold the Trust Certificate which represented our residual interests in

substantially all of the TERI-guaranteed private education loans that we had previously securitized As

result of this transaction we expect to generate refund for income taxes previously paid and

eliminate certain of our future tax liabilities which would have had material negative effect on our

financial condition and liquidity Also we are no longer entitled to receive residual cash flows from the

NCSLT Trusts which represented substantially all of our residuals receivables however we continue to

have rights to additional structural advisory fees and will earn asset servicing fees from the NCSLT

Trusts as well as additional structural advisory fees and residuals from certain trusts other than the

NCSLT Trusts

Business Trends and Uncertainties

Beginning in late 2007 and continuing through the date of this annual report general economic

conditions in the United States have deteriorated Credit performance of consumer-related loans

generally and the private education loans held by us and the various securitization trusts that we have

facilitated have been adversely affected and are continuing to deteriorate In the broader markets the

current conditions have remained challenging as result of increasing unemployment rates the lack of

available consumer credit securitization market disruptions and capital constraints and reluctance by

lenders to participate in the private education loan market

Changes in any of the following factors have materially affected and may continue to materially

affect our financial results

the private education loan securitization market including the costs or availability of financing

including the impact of government efforts such as the TALF and market receptivity to private

education loan asset-backed notes and auction rate notes including notes backed by direct to

consumer private education loans

regulatory requirements applicable to Union Federal and us including the Supervisory

Agreement and the Order which require among other things reduction in the level of private

education loans Union Federal holds by December 31 2009 and maintenance by FMC of Union

Federals regulatory capital ratios at specified levels and which prevents Union Federal from

funding additional private education loans
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valuation adjustments relating to Union Federals portfolio of private education loans held for

sale

our ability to recover federal income taxes previously paid on certain of our residuals

receivables

the demand for private education financing which may be affected by limitations established by

the federal government on the amount of federal loans that student can receive the terms and

eligibility criteria for loans under the federal governments PLUS loan program and legislation

recently passed or under consideration as of September 2009

the market acceptance of our Monogram product offering and our fee for service offerings

the competition for providing private education financing and reluctance by lenders to

participate in the private education loan market

the general interest rate and consumer credit environments including their effect on our

assumed discount net default and prepayment rates and the trusts ability to recover principal

and interest from borrowers

our critical accounting policies and estimates

applicable laws and regulations which may affect the terms upon which lenders agree to make

private education loans recovery rates on defaulted education loans and the cost and complexity

of our loan facilitation operations

developments in connection with the TERI Reorganization including approval of any plan of

reorganization proposed by TERI or the Creditors Committee and

actions taken by rating agencies including changes to transaction assumptions ratings actions on

outstanding securitization transactions and/or modifications of credit enhancement levels

Dislocations in the debt capital markets persisted throughout fiscal 2009 and we did not complete

securitization transaction during the period In addition rating agencies have expressed concerns that

direct to consumer loans will experience higher levels of defaults than school channel loans

significant portion of the loans that we have facilitated for clients in the past and all of our private

education loans held for sale are direct to consumer loans We believe however that conditions in

capital markets have begun to improve during the first quarter of fiscal 2010 including additional

issuances of private education loan ABS pursuant to the TALF program If we are able to facilitate the

securitization of private education loans in the future we expect the structure and economics of such

transaction to be substantially different from our past transactions We expect lower revenues and

additional cash requirements on our part and limited if any demand for subordinate tranches of ABS
We have pursued alternative means to finance our clients loans and our loans held for sale but other

sources of funding have not been available to us

In July 2009 we entered into the Supervisory Agreement with the OTS and Union Federal

consented to the issuance by the OTS to Union Federal of the Order Among other things we agreed

to reduce the level of private education loans held by Union Federal by December 31 2009 and we

agreed to submit to the OTS new business plan for Union Federal covering fiscal years 2010 2011

and 2012 We are uncertain whether we will be able to dispose of Union Federals loan portfolio on

acceptable terms if at all In addition we are uncertain whether the OTS will approve the strategy and

business activities that we propose for Union Federal including the extent to which Union Federal will

be permitted to originate private education loans See Note 23 Subsequent EventsSupervisory

Agreement and Order to Cease and Desist in the notes to our consolidated financial statements

included under Item of this annual
report

for additional details Although we intend to take such

actions as may be
necessary to enable us to comply with the Supervisory Agreement and the Order we
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cannot assure you that we will be able to comply fully or do so within the timeframes required

Moreover compliance with the requirements may be more time consuming or more expensive than we

anticipate and efforts to comply with such requirements may have adverse effects on our operations

and financial condition

Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP The

preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates assumptions and judgments

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of income and

expenses during the reporting periods We base our estimates assumptions and judgments on historical

experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances Actual

results may differ from these estimates under varying assumptions or conditions

Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note Summary of Significant

Accounting Policies in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included under Item of

this annual report On an ongoing basis we evaluate our estimates and judgments particularly as they

relate to accounting policies that we believe are most important to the portrayal of our financial

condition and results of operations such as those involving recognition of service revenues and the

valuation of our service receivables and portfolio of private education loans held for sale We regard an

accounting estimate or assumption underlying our financial statements to be critical accounting

estimate where

the nature of the estimate or assumption is material due to the level of subjectivity and

judgment necessary to account for highly uncertain matters or the susceptibility of such matters

to change and

the impact of the estimates and assumptions on our financial condition or operating

performance is material

We have discussed our accounting policies with the audit committee of our board of directors and

we believe that our estimates relating to the recognition and valuation of our securitization-related

revenue and receivables and asset servicing revenue and receivables as described below fit the

definition of critical accounting estimates We also consider our policy with respect to the

determination of whether or not to consolidate the financial results of the securitization trusts that we

facilitate and the valuation of the portfolio of private education loans held by Union Federal to be

critical accounting policies

Service Revenue and Receivables

We have historically structured and facilitated securitization transactions for our clients through

series of bankruptcy remote special purpose statutory trusts Through the securitization process the

trusts obtain private education loans from the originating lenders or their assignees which relinquish to

the trust their ownership interest in the loans The debt instruments that the trusts issue to finance the

purchase of these private education loans are obligations of the trusts rather than our obligations or

those of originating lenders or their assignees We have received several types of fees in connection

with our past securitization services

Up-front structural advisory fees We received portion of the structural advisory fees at the

time the securitization trust purchased the loans

Additional structural advisory fees We are entitled to receive portion of the structural advisory

fees over time based on the amount of loans outstanding in the trust from time to time over the

life of the trust
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Asset servicing fees For NCLST Trusts for which we were previously entitled to receive

portion of the residual interests we are now entitled to receive asset servicing fees based on

services we are contractually obligated to perform on behalf of the new residual interest owners

Receipt of such fees is contingent upon distributions available to the owners of the residual

interests of such trusts See Note Sale of Trust Certificate and Related Transactions in the

notes to our consolidated financial statements included under Item of this annual report for

additional details

Residuals We also have the right to receive portion of the residual interests if any generated

by various securitization trusts other than the NCSLT Trusts This right is junior in priority to

the rights of the holders of the debt sold in the securitizations and additional structural advisory

fees

As required under GAAP we recognize the fair value of additional structural advisory fees and

residuals as revenue at the time the securitization trust purchases the private education loans as they

are deemed to be earned at the time of the securitization but before we actually receive payment
These amounts are deemed earned because evidence of an arrangement exists we have provided the

services the fee is fixed and determinable based upon discounted cash flow analysis there are no

future contingencies or obligations and collection is reasonably assured For asset servicing fees we
earn additional fees as the services are performed however the receipt of the fees is contingent on

distributions available to the owners of the residual interests of the trusts subject to these services

Under GAAP we are required to estimate the fair value of the additional structural advisory fees asset

servicing fees and residuals receivables as if they are investments in securities classified as trading

similar to retained interests in securitizations In subsequent periods we reevaluate the estimated fair

value of these receivables and recognize the change in fair value as servicing revenue in the period in

which the change in estimate occurs

Because there are no quoted market prices for our additional structural advisory fees asset

servicing fees residuals receivables or private education loans held for sale we use discounted cash

flow modeling techniques and the following key assumptions to estimate their values

expected annual rate and timing of loan defaults and TERIs obligation and ability to pay
default claims if applicable

expected recoveries of defaulted loans including recoveries to replenish trusts Pledged

Accounts

the annual rate and timing of private education loan prepayments

the discount rate which we use to calculate the present value of our future cash flows

the trend of interest rates over the life of the loan pool including the forward LIBOR curve and

the spread between LIBOR and auction rates if applicable

fees and expenses of the securitization trusts and

in the case of private education loans held for sale the proportion of equity to financing and

borrowing costs and buyers expected rate of return

We base our estimates on our proprietary historical data publicly available third-party data and

our industry experience adjusting for specific product and borrower characteristics such as loan type

and borrower creditworthiness We also monitor trends in loan performance over time and make

adjustments we believe are necessary to value properly our receivables balances and private education

loans at each balance sheet date

At June 30 2009 and 2008 the
aggregate outstanding principal balance of the debt issued by the

NCSLT Trusts was $12.8 billion and $13.9 billion respectively The underlying assets in the NCSLT
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Trusts were TERI-guaranteed private education loans of which approximately 33.2% were in

deferment 6.8% were in forbearance and 60.0% were in repayment status as of June 30 2009

Approximately 88.7% of the loans in repayment status as of June 30 2009 were current 5.4% were

between 31 and 90 days past due 3.7% were between 91 and 180 days past due and 2.2% were greater

than 180 days past due As of June 30 2009 the cumulative gross default rate with regard to loans in

and loans that have previously been in repayment status was 10.3% for the aggregate loans in the

NCSLT Trusts We have posted to our website and filed as exhibit 99.1 to this annual report static

pool data as of June 30 2009 including actual borrower payment status delinquency cumulative loss

and prepayment data as of June 30 2009 for certain securitization trusts that we have facilitated We
have also posted to our website and filed as exhibit 99.2 to this annual report supplemental

presentation of certain historical trust performance data including channel specific loans available for

securitization by fiscal quarter parity ratios by trust net recovery rates by trust FICO score rates by

year of origination and by channel payment status by trust and six-month rolling prepayment rates by

trust

Because our fair value estimates rely on quantitative and qualitative factors including historical

data and macroeconomic indicators to predict prepayment default and recovery rates managements

ability to determine which factors should be more heavily weighted in our estimates and our ability to

accurately incorporate those factors into our loan performance assumptions can have material effect

on our valuations

Default and Recovery Rates The net default rate is calculated as the weighted average for all of

our private education loan securitization trusts of

the estimated cumulative principal balance including capitalized interest and fees of defaulted

private education loans over the life of trust which we refer to as the endpoint default minus

the estimated net cumulative amount of recoveries reduced by costs of recovery on defaulted

loans over the life of the trust divided by

the original principal balance of the loans

securitization trust may have life of over 24 years based on lifecycle for private education

loans that includes borrowers in-school deferment grace repayment and forbearance periods Higher

levels of loan defaults are generally expected to occur in the early years
of trust as loans enter

repayment Recoveries on defaulted loans are expected to lag defaults by months or years with

cumulative recoveries increasing gradually over an extended period of time later in the life of trust

As result at single point in time particularly early in the life of trust trust may experience an

actual net default rate that is higher than the estimated endpoint net default rate for that trust For the

same reason we assess the actual current net default rates against an expected default timing curve

which reflects the expected speed of defaults over the life of trust The shape of the default curve is

based in part on our proprietary database of loan performance information reflecting data through

variety of economic cycles and influences the estimated endpoint defaults which in turn influence the

net default rate

Prepayment Rates We compute prepayments as the difference between the total amount of

payments both principal and interest received from or on behalf of borrower and the amount of

principal and interest billed to the borrower during the same period To convert this dollar amount into

rate we divide these amounts by the dollar amounts that could possibly have been repaid during that

period and annualize the result This approach results in rate that is expressed as conditional

prepayment rate or CPR The CPR is essentially an estimate of the likelihood that loan will be

prepaid during period given that it has not previously defaulted or been prepaid in full The

prepayment rate can be significantly different at different points in time over the life of trust or any

pool of loans because the prepayment rate for given cohort of loans will vary with their seasoning

credit quality prevailing interest rates and availability of consumer credit
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loan in deferment is expected to have low likelihood of being prepaid loan is expected to

have higher likelihood of being prepaid during the first compared to the second year of repayment

However after the second year as loan becomes more seasoned the likelihood of prepayment is

expected to increase further as borrowers increase their earning power and their ability to partially or

fully prepay their loans or as they establish better credit

Discount RateAdditional Structural Advisoiy Fees We base the discount rate that we use to

estimate the fair value of our additional structural advisory fees on spread over the 10-year U.S

freasury Note rate The spread represents our estimate of the risk premium related to the additional

structural advisory fees In developing the spreads we primarily consider yield curves for certain

composite indices for BBB- and BB-rated corporate bond indices with 10-year maturities as well as

yields including indicative yields in the broader ABS marketplace during the fiscal year

Discount RateAsset Servicing Fees and Residuals In determining an appropriate discount rate for

valuing our asset servicing fee receivables and the remaining residual interests we consider number

of factors including market data made available to us on spreads on federally guaranteed loans and

private education loans as well as rates used in the much broader ABS market We also evaluate yield

curves for corporate subordinated debt with maturities similar to the weighted-average life of our

residuals In developing our discount rates during fiscal 2009 we considered among other things

spreads in subordinate tranches of actual federal loan ABS issuances and actual transactions involving

other ABS asset classes as well as indicative spreads not supported by actual transactions in

subordinate tranches of private education loan ABS

Auction Rate Note Interest Rates Prior to fiscal 2009 we facilitated five trusts that issued auction

rate notes to finance the purchase of private education loans Interest rates for the auction rate notes

are determined from time to time at auction We use spread over one-month LIBOR to project the

future cost of funding of the auction rate notes issued by each such trust The spread over LIBOR used

to estimate the future cost of funding was based on historical trends then-current market conditions or

then-current rates paid by the trusts

During fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009 failed auctions occurred and persisted with respect to auction

rate notes issued by each of the five securitization trusts As result of the failed auctions the auction

rate notes bear interest at contractual maximum spread over one-month LIBOR based on the ratings

assigned to the notes by certain rating agencies During fiscal 2009 the ratings assigned to the auction

rate notes were downgraded resulting in an increase in that maximum spread In addition the

insurance financial strength rating assigned to Ambac Assurance Corporation or Ambac which

provides credit enhancement for certain auction rate notes was downgraded in fiscal 2009 resulting in

further downgrading of the ratings assigned to certain of our auction rate notes We assumed at

June 30 2009 that all auction rate notes would continue to bear interest at their current maximum

spreads until their expected maturity dates

If auctions do not fail but the interest rate determined pursuant to the auction procedures exceeds

the maximum rate the interest rate for the applicable interest period would be set at the maximum

rate The amount of the excess interest would accrue as carryover interest noteholders right to

receive carryover interest is superior to our additional structural advisory fees asset servicing fees and

residual interest in the applicable securitization trust As result our projected cash releases from

securitization trusts that have issued auction rate notes including the timing of receipt could be

materially adversely affected In estimating the fair value of our service receivables we have assumed

that no trust will accrue carryover interest

Forward LIBOR Curve LIBOR is the underlying rate for most of the trusts assets and liabilities

and can have significant effect on the cash flows generated by each trust Changes in the forward

LIBOR curve affect the principal balances of education loans held by the trusts particularly as interest
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is capitalized during loan deferment which affects the net interest margin that the trust generates In

addition certain trusts have issued tranche of ABS that bears fixed interest rate decrease in the

forward LIBOR may result in reduced spread on the fixed-interest tranche which in turn decreases

the estimated fair value of our service receivables Significant changes to the forward LIBOR curve can

also affect the estimated fair value of our additional structural advisory fees and asset servicing fees

which bear interest at the rate of LIBOR plus spread to the extent such fees are accrued but unpaid

by the trusts

TERIs Obligation and Ability to Pay Claims The indentures relating to the securitization trusts

specify certain circumstances which we refer to as Trigger Events upon the occurrence of which

payments that would otherwise be due in respect of additional structural advisory fees and residuals

would instead be directed to the holders of the notes issued by the trusts until the conditions causing

the Trigger Event cease to exist or all notes and related interest are paid in full Under the indentures

Trigger Event generally occurs when the cumulative gross defaults of loans held by such trust exceed

specified level As result of the TERI Reorganization in the third quarter of fiscal 2008 we

adjusted our assumptions to assume that amounts available to pay trusts default claims will be

limited to amounts available from the trusts Pledged Account assuming that recoveries on defaulted

loans would replenish such Pledged Account Previously we assumed that TERI would pay default

claims on timely basis and that no default Trigger Event would occur Although the overall expected

cash flows generated by the trusts improved as result of the higher priority of repayment of the notes

the expected timing of cash payments to us with respect to additional structural advisory fees and

residuals was delayed reducing their estimated fair value We did not adjust our assumptions regarding

TERIs obligation and ability to pay claims during fiscal 2009 notwithstanding the adversary complaint

filed by the Creditors Committee challenging certain security interests and the expected rejection in

the context of plan of reorganization of TERIs guaranty obligations to existing lenders and the

NCSLT Trusts

Loans Held for Sale In April 2009 Union Federal sold to FMC substantially all of its economic

interest in warehouse facility provided by third-party lender Loans used to secure the education

loan warehouse facility are subject to call provisions by the third-party lender therefore we do not

have the ability to hold the loans to maturity We also classify Union Federals education loan portfolio

as held for sale Our intent is to dispose of Union Federals private education loans in accordance with

OTS requirements Loans held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or fair value In the absence of

quoted market values we have utilized cash flow model for estimating fair value similar to the model

used for valuing our service receivables utilizing assumptions and techniques previously described

In addition to the relevant loan performance and interest rate assumptions described above the

model determines an estimated fair value based on the following

percentage of the purchase price that is financed by debt versus buyer equity

buyers estimated return on equity

lenders interest rate on the debt

gross
default and

recovery rates on the pooi of loans and

collateral performance criteria necessary to garner TALF financing

These estimates are based on historical and third-party data and our industry experience The

extent of buyers equity versus debt is assumed to be similar to the TALF margin requirement for

investments of this duration The assumption for lenders cost of debt is based on market observations

of recent securitizations of education loan portfolios that have similar characteristics to our loan

portfolio
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Sensitivity Analysis

Increases in our estimates of defaults prepayments and discount rates as well as decreases in

default recovery rates and the multi-year forward estimates of LIBOR would have negative effect on

the value of our additional structural advisory fees as well as our asset servicing fees receivable and our

loans held for sale Private education loan prepayments include either full or partial payments by

borrower in advance of the maturity schedule specified
in the credit agreement If amounts in the

Pledged Accounts were unavailable to pay the trusts default claims or if recoveries on defaulted loans

were not used to replenish the Pledged Accounts or if net defaults increase beyond the level of

expected third-party reimbursement assumptions then these changes will have an additional negative

effect on the value of these assets LIBOR is the reference rate for substantial majority of the loan

assets and we believe reasonable index for borrowings of the trusts and loan purchaser

We have included sensitivity analysis in Note Service Receivables in the notes to our

consolidated financial statements included under Item of this annual report This analysis is intended

to show the sensitivity of our fair value estimates of our additional structural advisory fees to the

significant inputs used in our discounted cash flow model The analysis presents our loan performance

and discount rate assumptions at June 30 2009 and changes to the estimated fair value of our

additional structural advisory fees as of June 30 2009 that would result from changes in our

assumptions See Note under the heading Service Receivables in the notes to our consolidated

financial statements included under Item of this annual
report for additional information

Consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of The First Marblehead Corporation

and its subsidiaries after eliminating inter-company accounts and transactions We have not

consolidated the financial results of the securitization trusts purchasing loans that we have facilitated

At June 30 2009 and 2008 each of the securitization trusts created after January 31 2003 has met

the criteria to be qualified special-purpose entity or OSPE as defined by the Financial Accounting

Standards Board or FASB Statement No 140 Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets

and Extinguishments of Liabilities Accordingly we did not consolidate these existing securitization trusts

in our financial statements In addition the securitization trusts created prior to January 31 2003 in

which we hold variable interest that could result in us being considered the primary beneficiary of

such trust have been amended in order for them to be considered QSPEs

On June 12 2009 FASB issued Financial Accounting Standard 166 Accounting for Transfers of

Financial Assets- an amendment of FASB Statement 140 which we refer to as FAS 166 and Financial

Accounting Standard 167 Amendments to FASB Interpretation No 46R which we refer to as FAS 167

Both statements are effective beginning with our financial statements for fiscal
year

2011 FAS 166

removes the concept of QSPE from FASB Statement 140 and removes the exception from applying

FASB Interpretation No 46 revised as FASB Interpretation No 46R in December 2003
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities to qualifying special-purpose entities

FAS 167 amends FASB Interpretation No 46R to require an enterprise to perform an analysis to

determine whether the enterprises variable interest or interests give it controlling financial interest in

variable interest entity This analysis identifies the primary beneficiary of variable interest entity as

the enterprise that has both of the following characteristics

The power to direct the activities of variable interest entity that most significantly impact the

entitys economic performance and

The obligation to absorb losses of the entity that could potentially be significant to the variable

interest entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant

to the variable interest entity
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As of September 2009 we are evaluating the impact that adoption of these statements will have

on our consolidated financial condition and results of operations

Results of Operations

Years ended June 30 2009 June 30 2008 and June 30 2007

Summary

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the fiscal years ended June 30 2009

2008 and 2007

Fiscal years ended June 30 Change between periods

2009 2008 2007 2009-2008 2008-2007

in thousands except per share data in thousands except per

share data

Service revenues $315109 54031 $871333 $261078 925364
Net interest income 25103 25622 9371 519 16251

Total revenues 290006 28409 880704 261597 909113
Non-interest expense 260833 358547 252955 97714 105592

Income loss before income taxes 550839 386956 627765 163883 1014721
Income tax benefit expense 187819 151880 256434 35939 408314
Net income loss 363020 235076 371331 127944 606407

Net income loss per share diluted 3.66 2.46 3.92 1.20 6.38

Diluted average shares outstanding 99081 95732 94845 3349 887

On fully diluted basis we reported net loss per share of $3.66 for fiscal 2009 compared with

net loss per share of $2.46 in fiscal 2008 The higher net loss per share for fiscal 2009 is in part

attributable to our inability to access the securitization markets to generate new revenue We did not

facilitate any new securitization transactions in fiscal 2009 We facilitated two securitization transactions

during the first quarter of fiscal 2008 In addition we recorded further write-downs of our service

receivables in fiscal 2009 due to current market conditions and the sale of the Trust Certificate We
ceased providing loan processing services to TERI and marketing services to many clients in fiscal 2009

causing significant decrease in our cost reimbursement and other fee revenues however the decrease

in these service revenues was largely offset by decrease in the related expenses In total revenues in

fiscal 2009 decreased by $261.6 million from fiscal 2008 Partially offsetting the decrease in revenue

total non-interest expenses decreased $97.7 million over the same period The cessation of services for

TERI and marketing services for other clients combined with reductions in headcount and other

cost-savings initiatives reduced non-interest expenses by $228.5 million during fiscal 2009 however the

write-down of our private education loans held for sale increased non-interest expenses to

$138.2 million from $7.4 million in fiscal 2008

During fiscal 2008 we recorded net loss per share of $2.46 on fully diluted basis compared
with net income of $3.92 per share in fiscal 2007 The loss in fiscal 2008 reflected $925.4 million

decrease in service revenues from the prior period coupled with $105.6 million increase in

non-interest expenses Lower revenue in fiscal 2008 as compared to fiscal 2007 was due in large part to

lower securitization volumes and the write-downs of the service receivables for increases in discount

prepayment and default rates partially offset by an increase in marketing revenue The increase in

non-interest expenses in fiscal 2008 included severance costs higher marketing and advertising expenses

associated with the increase in marketing revenues and higher liquidity fees and loan origination costs
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Service Revenues

The following table summarizes the changes in our service revenues for the fiscal years ended

June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

Fiscal years ended June 30 Change between periods

2009 2008 2007 2009-2008 2008-2007

in thousands except rates in thousands

Up-front structural advisory fees 179106 457352 179106 278246

Up-front structural advisory fee yield on new

securitizations1 8.8% 12.2%

Change in up-front structural advisory fees

attributable to

Securitization volumes 179106 209392
Fee yield and loan mix1 69123
Receipt of cost of issuance funds 269

Total change 179106 278246
Additional structural advisory fees

From new securitizations 24304 43984 24304 19680
Trust updates 57157 44106 1363 13051 45469

Total additional structural advisory fees 57157 19802 45347 37355 65149
Additional structural advisory fee yield on new

securitizations1 1.2% 1.2%

Change in additional structural advisory fees

attributable to

Securitization volumes 24304 20288
Fee yield and loan mix1 608

Trust updates 13051 45469

Total change 37355 65149
Asset servicing fees

Fee income 2350 2350

Fee update 35 35

Total asset servicing fees 2385 2385

Residuals

From new securitizations 116972 182744 116972 65772
Trust updates 283295 488832 29548 205537 518380

Total residuals 283295 371860 212292 88565 584152
Residual yield on new securitizations1 5.8% 4.9%

Change in residual income attributable to

Securitization volumes 116972 84016
Fee yield and loan mix1 18244

Trust updates 205537 518380

Total change 88565 584152

Processing fees from TEffi 3050 126540 134845 123490 8305
Administrative and other fees 19908 31985 21497 12077 10488

Total service fee revenue $315109 54031 871333 261078 925364

Total income on new securitizations 320382 684080 320382 363698
Volume of loans securitized 2027079 3750043 2027079 1722964
Total yield on new securitizations1 15.8% 18.2%

The yields presented in the table are dependent on number of factors including the mix of loans between

marketing channels that are included in particular securitization the average
life of loans which can be

impacted by prepayments the time of year that the loans are securitized and the relative mix of loans from
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students with various expected terms to graduation the structure of and prevailing market conditions at the

time of securitization the marketing fees which our clients earn on loans we securitize for them and

number of other factors Therefore readers are cautioned that the yields above are not indicative of yields

that we will be able to achieve in future securitizations

Up-front structural advisoiy fees

Historically we received up-front structural advisory fees at the time securitization trust

purchased the loans In exchange for these fees we structured the debt securities sold in the

securitization coordinated the attorneys accountants trustees loan servicers loan originators and

other transaction participants and prepared cash flow modeling for rating agencies as needed We did

not record any up-front structural advisory fees in fiscal 2009 because we did not facilitate any

securitizations during the period We recorded $179.1 million in up-front structural advisory fees in

fiscal 2008 related to two securitizations of TERI-guaranteed loans that we facilitated during the first

quarter of fiscal 2008 For the securitizations facilitated during the first quarter of fiscal 2008 up-front

structural advisory fees were equal to 8.8% of the aggregate principal and accrued interest of the loans

securitized down from 12.2% of loans securitized during fiscal 2007 We are uncertain as of

September 2009 whether the fee structure that we have historically received will be used in any

future securitization transactions In particular market conditions may dictate that we reduce or forgo

our up-front structural advisory fee in connection with securitizations if any that we are able to

facilitate in the near-term In fiscal 2007 we recorded $457.4 million in up-front structural advisory fees

due to higher volume of loans securitized during that period as compared to prior or subsequent

periods In addition the private education securitization trusts that we facilitated in fiscal 2007 issued

BBB-rated securities resulting in higher up-front structural advisory fee yield compared to the

securitization trusts we facilitated in fiscal 2008 which did not issue BBB-rated securities

Additional structural advisory fees

We are entitled to receive additional structural advisory fees over time based on the amount of

loans outstanding in the trusts from time to time over the life of the trusts with no further requirement

for service on our part In the case of the NCSLT Trusts this portion accumulates monthly in each

trust from the date of securitization at rate of 15 to 30 basis points per year plus accrued interest

on earned but unpaid fee income We record the net present value or estimated fair value of these

fees as structural advisory fee receivable on the balance sheet We generally become entitled to

receive this additional portion plus interest once the ratio of assets to liabilities in the particular

NCSLT Trust which we refer to as the Parity Ratio reaches stipulated level which
ranges

from 103%

to 105.5% The stipulated Parity Ratio levels may be raised if certain trust characteristics change The

level applicable to particular trust is determined at the time of securitization Actual Parity Ratios at

June 30 2009 ranged from 92.88% to 98.94% Please refer to exhibit 99.2 to this annual report for

additional information on actual trust Parity Ratios as of June 30 2009

Additional structural advisory fees recognized in the income statement represent the change in fair

value during the period in the structural advisory fee receivable less cash received if any The

estimated fair value of structural advisory fee receivables is based on the net present value of the

future cash flows due to us from the trusts To estimate the amount and timing of the cash flows of

these fees we use discount rate and estimate the amount and timing of cash flows of each trust

taking into consideration default and recovery rates prepayments recoverability from third-party

guarantors operating expenses of the trust and trust performance assumptions the trend of contractual

and market interest rates over the life of the loan pool the cost of funding outstanding auction rate

notes and the probability of delays due to the existence of Trigger Events which generally occur when

the cumulative gross defaults of loans held by trust exceed specified level These assumptions are

based on historical and third-party data and our industry experience

55



On quarterly basis we update our estimate of the fair value of our structural advisory fee

receivable We expect as of June 30 2009 to begin to receive these fees approximately five to 22 years

after the date of particular securitization transaction However for many of the trusts the bankruptcy

filing of their loans primary guarantor TERI and the securitization market disruptions over the last

two years have constituted Trigger Events These events may significantly delay the receipt of fees We
estimate the trend of interest rates over the life of the loan pool using an implied forward LIBOR

curve and an assumed spread between LIBOR and auction rates to estimate trust cash flows

For fiscal 2009 we recorded losses from trust updates for additional structural advisory fees of

$57.2 million compared to losses from trust updates of $44.1 million for fiscal 2008 The higher losses

in fiscal 2009 reflect further increases in the assumed discount rate net default rates and auction rate

notes spreads and decrease in the forward LIBOR curve and resulted in $66.5 million decrease in

the fair value of the receivables during fiscal 2009 offset in part by accretion of $9.4 million for the

passage of time Fiscal 2008 service revenue also included $24.3 million of revenue attributable to new

securitizations See Service Revenues Receivables Assumptions below for discussion of each

assumption

We recorded losses of $19.8 million related to additional structural advisory fees for fiscal 2008
decrease of $65.1 million when compared to income of $45.3 million for fiscal 2007 Of this decrease

$19.7 million was due to lower securitization volumes and $55.7 million was due to increases in the

assumed discount prepayment and default rates and decrease in the forward LIBOR curve offset

somewhat by accretion of $10.3 million for the passage of time

The following table summarizes the changes in our estimate of the fair value of the additional

structural advisory fees receivable for the fiscal years ended June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

Fiscal years ended June 30

2009 2008 2007

in thousands

Fair value at beginning of period $113842 $133644 88297

Additions from new securitizations 24304 43984

Cash received from trust distributions 1555
Trust updates

Passage of time fair value accretion 9362 10258 7503

Decrease increase in average prepayment rate 3127 3168 3529
Increase in discount rate assumptions 23022 41555
Increase in timing and average default rate 11262 2910
Decrease in recovery assumption 9416
Increase in auction rate notes spread 13087 140
Decrease in forward LIBOR curve 12517 5442
Other factors net 342 1149 2611

Net change from trust updates 57157 44106 1363

Fair value at end of period 55130 $113842 $133644

Residuals and the Sale of the Trust Certificate Asset Servicing Fees

Historically as we facilitated the securitizations of loan pools we were entitled to receive portion

of the residual cash flows if any generated by the various securitization trusts We recorded the

estimated fair value of these residual cash flows on our balance sheet as residuals receivables Residual

fees recognized in the income statement represent the change during the period in the estimated fair

value of residuals receivable The estimated fair value is based on the net present value of the future

cash flows due to us from the trusts related to our residual interest ownerships
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During fiscal 2009 we recorded losses on residuals receivables of $283.3 million compared with

losses of $371.9 million in fiscal 2008 and income of $212.3 million in fiscal 2007 The losses in fiscal

2009 reflect our inability to access the securitization markets to generate new revenue and our write-off

of residuals receivables related to the sale of the Trust Certificate of NC Residuals Owners Trust which

held substantially all of the TERI-guaranteed loans facilitated by us

We sold the Trust Certificate effective March 31 2009 Under the terms of the sale we are no

longer entitled to receive any amounts related to the residual interests in these trusts At the time of

the sale we reduced our residuals receivables by $134.5 million in addition to net write-downs of

$148.8 million recorded prior to the sale for changes in assumptions regarding discount rates

prepayment rates net default rates and auction rate notes spread prior to the sale and fourth
quarter

adjustments to residuals of trusts not part
of the sale See Service Revenues Receivables

Assumptions below for discussion of each assumption We continue to have the right to receive

portion of the residual interests if any generated by various securitization trusts other than the NCSLT

Trusts This right is junior in priority to the rights of the holders of the debt sold in the securitizations

and additional structural advisory fees

Losses in fiscal 2008 included write-downs of $488.8 million partially offset by $117.0 million

generated by two securitizations The write-downs in fiscal 2008 reflected TERIs inability to pay claims

increases in the assumed discount default and prepayment rates increases in the spread on auction

rate notes and decrease in the forward LIBOR curve In fiscal 2007 additions from new

securitizations were higher consistent with the higher level of loans securitized and adverse changes in

assumptions had less effect on the estimated fair value of our residuals receivables

We entered into the Asset Services Agreement with the purchaser of the Trust Certificate and

VCG Securities LLC pursuant to which we have agreed to provide certain services to the purchaser to

support its ownership of the NCSLT Trust residuals including among others analysis and valuation

optimization services and services relating to funding strategy We are entitled to asset servicing fees for

these services to the extent that amounts payable to the holder of the NCSLT Trust residuals are paid

from distributions made by each of the NCSLT Trusts on each payment date See Note Sale of

Trust Certificate and Related Transactions in the notes to our consolidated financial statements

included in Item of this annual report for additional details During fiscal 2009 we recorded

$2.4 million in asset servicing fees as the net present value of our receivable under the Asset Services

Agreement
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The following table summarizes the changes in our estimate of the fair value of the residuals

receivables for the fiscal years ended June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

Fair value at beginning of period

Additions from new securitizations

Trust updates

Passage of time fair value accretion

Decrease increase in average prepayment rates

Increase in discount rate assumptions

Increase decrease in timing and average default rate

Increase in auction rate notes spread

Decrease in forward LIBOR curve

TERIs inability to pay claims

Decrease to reflect disposition

Increase in trust expenses

Other factors net

Net change from trust updates

Fair value at end of period

Service Revenues Receivables Assumptions

The following table shows the approximate weighted-average assumptions for discount rates and

loan performance

Discount rate-additional structural advisory fees

Discount rate-asset servicing fees and residuals

Gross default rate

Net default rate

Recovery rate

Prepayment rate

Discount RateAdditional Structural Advisory Fees During fiscal 2009 we increased the discount

rate spread over the 10-year U.S Treasury Note rate by 325 basis points to 900 basis points In

increasing the discount rate we considered among other things overall significant widening in spreads

in the ABS marketplace as well as increases in indicative spreads on subordinate private education

loan securities The 10-year U.S Treasury Note rate decreased by 44 basis points during the same

period to 3.53% at June 30 2009 As result we applied discount rate of 12.53% for purposes of

estimating the fair value of the additional structural advisory fees The increase in the discount rate

during fiscal 2009 resulted in decrease of $23.0 million in the estimated fair value of additional

structural advisory fees During fiscal 2008 we increased the discount rate spread over the 10-year U.S

Treasury Note from 200 basis points to 575 basis points The 10-year U.S Treasury Note rate decreased

by 105 basis points during the same period resulting in discount rate of 9.72% up from 7.02% at

June 30 2007 in response to the deterioration in the market for structured and corporate debt The

effect of the increase was $41.6 million decrease in the estimated fair value during fiscal 2008

Fiscal years ended June 30

2009 2008 2007

in thousands

293255 665115 $452823

116972 182744

20453 75070 66428

11336 34765 36236
82571 129169

50108 49929 26680

31779 93813
22009 17590

219553

134481

9026
5864 10057 27324

283295 488832 29548

9960 293255 $665115

June 30

2009 2008 2007

12.53% 9.72% 7.02%

17.00 14.88 11.81

19.00 14.83 9.38

11.40 7.71 5.63

40.00 48.00 40.00

8.01 8.40 8.00

Change between

periods

2009-2008 2008-2007

2.81% 2.70%

2.12 3.07

4.17 5.45

3.69 2.08

8.00 8.00

0.39 0.40

58



Discount RateAsset Servicing Fees and Residuals At June 30 2009 we used weighted-average

discount rate of 17.00% for purposes of estimating the fair value of our asset servicing fee receivables

and the remaining residual interests on our balance sheet The weighted-average discount rate used to

estimate the fair value of residuals receivables related to the NCSLT Trusts at the date of sale of the

Trust Certificate was 18.4% These rates are up from the weighted-average discount rates used at

June 30 2008 and 2007 of 14.88% and 11.81% respectively The increases over the two fiscal years

were in response to the deterioration of the ABS market and revised assumptions about TERIs ability

to pay claims Losses related to the increases in the weighted-average discount rates used for residuals

were $82.6 million and $129.2 million in fiscal 2009 and 2008 respectively

Default and Recoveiy Rates We increased the weighted-average gross default rate assumptions

used to estimate the fair value of our residuals and additional structural advisory fees receivables as

result of the trusts actual default experience and general economic
pressure on all consumer asset

classes over the last two fiscal years The weighted-average gross default rate at June 30 2009 was

19.00% up from 14.83% at June 30 2008 and 9.38% at June 30 2007 The increases in the weighted-

average gross
default rate assumptions resulted in decreases in the estimated fair value of our

additional structural advisory fee receivables of $11.3 million and $2.9 million in fiscal 2009 and 2008

respectively and decreases in the estimated fair value of residual receivables of $50.1 million and

$49.9 million in fiscal 2009 and 2008 respectively

During fiscal 2009 we reduced the recovery rate from 48% to 40% In addition we lengthened the

recovery timetable we use from nine years to 15 years as result of changing the methodology used to

determine both the endpoint as well as the timing of cash recoveries The decrease in the recovery rate

resulted in decrease of $9.4 million in the value of our additional structural advisory fees Our

assumed weighted-average net default rates were 11.40% 7.71% and 5.63% at June 30 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively

Auction Rate Notes Spread During fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009 failed auctions occurred and

persisted with respect to auction rate notes issued by each of the five securitization trusts As result

of the failed auctions the auction rate notes bear interest at maximum spread over one-month

LIBOR based on the ratings assigned to the notes by certain rating agencies During fiscal 2009 the

ratings assigned to the auction rate notes were downgraded resulting in an increase in the maximum

spread In addition the insurance financial strength rating assigned to Ambac which provides credit

enhancement for certain auction rate notes was downgraded in fiscal 2009 resulting in further

downgrading of the ratings assigned to certain of our auction rate notes These events resulted in

increases of 100 to 200 basis points on the interest rates on those auction rate notes to the maximum

amount under the terms of the agreements We assumed at June 30 2009 and 2008 that those auction

rate notes would continue to bear interest at their respective maximum rates until their expected

maturity dates which resulted in $13.1 million decrease in the estimated fair value of additional

structural advisory fees and $31.8 million for residuals during fiscal 2009 and decrease of

$93.8 million in the estimated fair value of residuals during fiscal 2008

Prepayment Rates In response to historically low prepayment rate the current interest rate

environment and limited availability of consumer credit we adjusted our prepayment assumption during

fiscal 2009 by extending the period during which decreased prepayments were expected to persist As of

June 30 2009 we assumed that the current prepayment rate will persist until June 30 2010 and then

gradually revert to historical norms during the ensuing 12 months These changes resulted in an

increase in the estimated fair value of our additional structural advisory fees receivable of $3.1 million

and an increase of $11.3 million for residuals during fiscal 2009 During fiscal 2008 we had anticipated

higher level of prepayments in response to actual experience which resulted in decrease in our

estimates of additional structural advisory fees and residuals of $3.2 million and $34.8 million

respectively
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Forward LIBOR Curve LIBOR is the underlying rate for most of the trusts assets and liabilities

and can have significant effect on the cash flows generated by each trust Changes in the forward

LIBOR curve affect the principal balances of education loans held by the trusts particularly as interest

is capitalized during loan deferment which affects the net interest margin that the trust generates In

addition certain trusts have issued tranche of ABS that bear fixed interest rate decrease in the

forward LIBOR curve may result in reduced spread on the fixed-interest tranche which in turn

decreases the estimated fair value of our service receivables Significant changes to the forward LIBOR
curve can also affect the estimated fair value of our additional structural advisory fees which bear

interest at the rate of LIBOR plus 150 basis points to the extent such fees are accrued but unpaid by

the trusts Decreases in the forward LIBOR curve resulted in decreases in the estimated fair value of

additional structural advisory fees of $12.5 million and $5.4 million in fiscal 2009 and 2008 respectively

and decreases in the estimated fair value of residuals of $22.0 million and $17.6 million in fiscal 2009

and 2008 respectively

TERIs Ability to Pay Claims The change in our assumptions with regard to TERIs ability to pay

claims resulted in decrease of $219.6 million in the estimated fair value of our residuals receivable

during fiscal 2008 No changes were made to our assumptions regarding TERIs ability to pay claims

during fiscal 2009

Processing fees from TERI

Historically we provided outsourcing services for TERI including loan origination customer

service default processing default prevention and administrative services at cost under master

servicing agreement We recognized TERIs reimbursement of our expenses for these services as

revenue During fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007 we received $126.5 million and $134.8 million respectively

in processing fees from TERI pursuant to master servicing agreement In June 2008 in the context of

the TERI Reorganization the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving motion by TERI to

reject the master servicing agreement effective as of May 31 2008 but provided for transition

services agreement between TERI and us with term through September 29 2008 As result our

reimbursement from TERI for fiscal 2009 was $3.0 million decrease of $123.5 million We do not

expect to receive material amount of processing fees from TERI in the future In addition we have

filed general unsecured claim with regard to $16.0 million of processing fees from TERI that were

due but unpaid prior to the filing of TERIs bankruptcy petition The decrease in fiscal 2008

compared to fiscal 2007 was primarily due to the impact of the TERI Reorganization partially offset by

an increase in reimbursable expenses required to process higher volume of loans actively disbursed

during fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007

Administrative and other fees

Administrative and other fees decreased to $19.9 million in fiscal 2009 from $32.0 million in fiscal

2008 and $21.5 million in fiscal 2007 Administrative and other fees include trust administration fees

generated from the daily management and information gathering and reporting services for parties

related to securitization trusts marketing fee reimbursements upon the securitization of certain private

education loans and in fiscal year 2009 stand-alone fee-based loan origination and processing fees and

loan portfolio default prevention services

Administrative and other fees decreased by $12.1 million in fiscal 2009 from fiscal 2008 Marketing

fees decreased by $19.8 million to $4.8 million in fiscal 2009 due to the termination of contracts with

many clients as result of the TERI Reorganization Trust administration fees remained flat at

$7.3 million during each of fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008 Stand-alone fee-based loan origination and

processing fees and default prevention services new in fiscal 2009 were $5.7 million
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During fiscal 2008 we experienced $10.5 million increase in administrative and other fees from

fiscal 2007 The increase primarily related to $9.0 million increase in reimbursed marketing expenses

and marketing fees and to lesser extent $1.5 million increase in trust administration fees from

$5.8 million in fiscal 2007 to $7.3 million in fiscal 2008 as result of higher private education loan

balances in the securitization trusts

Net Interest Income

Net interest income decreased to $25.1 million in fiscal 2009 from $25.6 million in fiscal 2008 and

up from $9.4 million in fiscal 2007 Interest income from cash equivalents investments and federal

funds sold decreased by $6.7 million The decrease in interest income was due primarily to sharp

reductions in market rates compared to the prior year and lower volume due to the use of cash for

operating expenses and taxes Interest income from loans held for sale increased due to higher volume

resulting from our inability to access the securitization markets Interest expense decreased year over

year by $0.3 million due to lower volume and rates for deposits and lower rates on borrowings under

the loan warehouse facility largely offset by higher volume for the loan warehouse facility

During fiscal 2008 interest income from loans held for sale increased by $32.5 million over fiscal

2007 due to higher average volume of loans held for sale as result of our inability to access the

securitization markets Higher interest income was partially offset by higher interest expense as result

of funding required to support loan balances
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The following table reflects the rates earned on interest-earning assets and paid on interest-bearing

liabilities for the fiscal
years ended June 30 2009 2008 and 2007 This table reflects the net interest

margin for
average interest-bearing assets

Consolidated average balance sheet interest and rates

Taxable-equivalent rates1

Fiscal years ended June 30

Average

daily

Interest Rate balance Interest Rate

in thousands except rates

Taxable-equivalent rate is method of presentation in which the tax savings achieved by investing in tax-exempt securities

are included in interest revenue for purposes of calculating the yield This method facilitates the comparison of the

performance of tax-exempt and taxable securities The adjustment is computed using federal income tax rate of 35%
adjusted for applicable state income taxes net of the related federal tax benefit

2009

Average

daily

balance

2008 2007

Average

daily

balance Interest Rate

Assets

Cash and cash equivalentstaxable 110426 907 0.82% 86508 3185 3.68% $123078 6310 5.13%

Cash and cash equivalentstax exempt 4081 63 2.35 16224 512 4.86 14055 475 5.20

Federal funds sold 44852 469 1.05 54272 1761 3.24 5880 328 5.58

Investmentstaxable 8935 472 5.28 10575 562 5.31 9184 485 5.28

Investmentstax exempt 65403 1110 2.61 117656 3671 4.80 78988 2860 5.57

Loans held for sale 507889 38646 7.61 336975 32656 9.69 1651 188 11.39

Mortgage loans held to maturity 10727 575 5.36 11914 758 6.36 8076 513 6.35

Total interest-earning assets 752313 42242 5.80 634124 43105 7.34 240912 11159 5.36

Cash and cash equivalents 1248 451 571

Service receivables 181589 735257 674455

Other assets 111651 84935 68909

Total assets $1046801 $1454767 $984847

Liabilities

Time and savings accounts 130183 3885 2.98% 162594 7262 4.47% 22749 1075 4.73%

Money market accounts 48076 1419 2.95 7848 240 3.06

Warehouse line of credit 244042 10993 4.50 189343 9250 4.89

Other short-term borrowings 22194 128 0.58

Other interest-bearing liabilities 12141 714 5.88 11043 731 6.62 12741 713 5.60

Total interest-bearing liabilities 456636 17139 3.75 370828 17483 4.71 35490 1788 5.04

Non-interest-bearing deposits 3482 66 188

All other liabilities 11772 240116 227504

Total liabilities 471890 611010 263182

Stockholders equity 574911 843757 721665

Total liabilities and stockholders equity $1046801 $1454767 $984847

Net interestbearing assets 752313 634124 $240912

Net interest income $25103 $25622 9371

Net interest margin 3.34% 4.04% 3.89%
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Analysis of changes in net interest income

Non-interest Expenses

Total non-interest expenses decreased to $260.8 million in fiscal 2009 from $358.5 million in fiscal

2008 change of $97.7 million Excluding the write down of loans held for sale non-interest expenses

decreased to $122.7 million in fiscal 2009 from $351.2 million in fiscal 2008 change of $228.5 million

across all categories of expenses Non-interest expenses were $253.0 million in fiscal 2007 The

following table reflects non-interest expenses for the fiscal years ended June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

From 2008 to 2009

due to change in

From 2007 to 2008

due to change in

Net Net

Volume Rate change Volume Rate change

in thousands

Cash and cash equivalentstaxable 880 3158 $2278 1875 $1250 3125
Cash and cash equivalentstax exempt 383 66 449 73 36 37

Federal funds sold 306 986 1292 2703 1270 1433
Investmentstaxable 86 90 72 77

Investmentstax exempt 1630 931 2561 1400 589 811

Loans held for sale 23016 17026 5990 38093 5625 32468

Mortgage loans held to maturity 75 108 183 244 245

Total interest income 863 31946

Time and savings accounts 1448 1929 3377 6608 421 6187

Money market accounts 1232 53 1179 240 240

Warehouse line of credit 2672 929 1743 9250 9250

Other short-term borrowings 128 128

Other interest-bearing liabilities 84 101 17 96 114 18

Total interest expense 344 15695

Net decrease increase in net interest

income 519 $16251

Fiscal years ended June 30 Change between periods

From 2008 From 2007

2009 2008 2007 to 2009 to 2008

in thousands except employee data in thousands except

employee data

Compensation and benefits 42232 96735 $111364 54503 14629
General and administrative expenses

Depreciation and amortization 17800 19633 16498 1833 3135

Third-party services 29991 66652 57175 36661 9477

Occupancy and equipment 16699 28752 26044 12053 2708

Marketing coordination 3482 100754 28850 97272 71904
Other 12466 38648 13024 26182 25624

Subtotalgeneral and administrative expenses 80438 254439 141591 174001 112848

Unrealized losses on loans held for sale 138163 7373 130790 7373

Total non-interest expenses $260833 $358547 $252955 97714 $105592

Total number of employees at fiscal year-end 223 368 1028 145 660

Compensation and Benefits Expenses Compensation and benefits decreased to $42.2 million in

fiscal 2009 from $96.7 million in fiscal 2008 and $111.4 million in fiscal 2007 The decrease over the
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three year period was primarily the result of reductions in personnel and decrease in incentive

compensation related to both the reduction in personnel and overall company performance We

reduced headcount by 145 employees and 660 employees during fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008

respectively

General and Administrative Expenses General and administrative expenses decreased to

$80.4 million in fiscal 2009 from $254.4 million in fiscal 2008 as result of decreases in several

categories of expenses The overall decrease in marketing coordination expense was primarily due to

the termination by clients of their marketing coordination agreements largely as result of the TERI

Reorganization The overall decrease in loan volumes reduced the need for and expenses related to

external call centers professional and consulting services and other costs for loan origination and

liquidity and guaranty fees included in other expenses In addition the reduced headcount in fiscal

2009 resulted in lower occupancy and equipment costs

General and administrative expenses increased during fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 primarily due to

the high volume of marketing services provided in fiscal 2008 as well as higher loan liquidity fees and

loan origination expenses included in other expenses

Unrealized Losses on Loans Held for Sale Unrealized losses on loans held for sale were

$138.2 million in fiscal 2009 compared with $7.4 million for fiscal 2008 and no losses for fiscal 2007

The increase during fiscal 2009 was due to increases in assumptions for the discount rate default rate

the anticipated cost of funds and decrease in the assumption for recoveries These assumptions may
differ from the assumptions used for our service revenue receivables The default rate used for our

loan portfolio is higher than that of the NCSLT Trusts based on borrower characteristics See Note

Loans Held for Sale in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included under Item of

this annual report for additional information

Income Tax Benefit Expense

Income tax benefit increased to $187.8 million during fiscal 2009 from $151.9 million in fiscal 2008

and an income tax expense of $256.4 million in fiscal 2007 The increase in income tax benefit was

primarily the result of an increase in the amount of pre-tax losses between periods During fiscal 2009

our effective tax rate or the income tax benefit as percentage of pre-tax loss decreased to 34.10%

from an effective tax rate of 39.25% for fiscal 2008 Our effective tax rate was 40.85% in fiscal 2007

The decrease in our effective tax rate between fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008 was primarily due to our

inability to utilize state net operating losses primarily in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts which

does not provide for carry back or carry forward The decrease in our effective tax rate between

fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007 was primarily due to the change in the relative sources of total revenues

Our up-front structural advisory fees decreased and our residual revenues which have lower effective

tax rate were greater proportion of our loss before taxes during fiscal 2008 as compared to fiscal

2007
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Financial Condition Liquidity and Capital Resources

We expect to fund our long-term liquidity requirements through revenues from operations and

through issuances of common stock promissory notes or other securities We expect to assess our

financing alternatives periodically and access the capital markets opportunistically
If our existing

resources are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements or if we were to enter into strategic

arrangement with another company we may need to sell additional equity or debt securities Any sale

of additional equity or convertible debt securities may result in additional dilution to our stockholders

and we cannot be certain that additional public or private financing will be available in amounts or on

terms acceptable to us if at all If we are unable to obtain this additional financing we may be

required to further delay reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more aspects of our operational

activities which could harm our business

Our actual liquidity and capital funding requirements may depend on number of factors

including

the extent to which our services and products including our new Monogram product offering

gain market acceptance and remain competitive

the timing size structure and terms of any securitization or other funding transactions that we

structure as well as the composition of the loan pool being securitized

the timing and magnitude of income tax payments created by our service receivables and receipt

of income tax receivables based on the sale of the Trust Certificate

the extent to which we contribute amounts to fund portfolio reserves in connection with our

Monogram product

regulatory capital requirements applicable to Union Federal see Support of Subsidiary

Bank below

the amount and timing of receipt of additional structural advisory fees asset servicing fees and

residuals

our operating and information systems needs

damages that we may owe former clients as result of failure to securitize their loans

the extent to which we repurchase shares of our common stock or pay cash dividends to our

stockholders and

th .1bility of education loans or grants through federal programs

Liquidity would be required for capital expenditures working capital business development

expenses costs associated with alternative financing transactions general corporate expenses

repurchases of our common stock quarterly cash dividends and maintaining the regulatory capital of

our bank subsidiary Union Federal In order to preserve capital and maximize liquidity in challenging

market conditions we have taken four broad measures

In August 2008 we received aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $132.7 million from the

sale of preferred stock to affiliates of GSCP The proceeds from the sale of preferred stock

significantly improved our ability to meet our short-term liquidity requirements

In March 2009 we sold the Trust Certificate which represented our residual interests in trusts

holding substantially all of the TERI guaranteed loans that we had previously securitized This

disposition should result in significant refund in fiscal 2010 of taxes previously paid and the

sale is expected to eliminate any future federal and state tax liabilities associated with the

NCSLT Trust residuals However the tax consequences of the sale are not certain
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Throughout the fiscal year we have reduced headcount and marketing coordination and

operational expenses

Finally our board of directors has eliminated regular quarterly cash dividends and repurchases

of our common stock for the foreseeable future

We had combined cash cash equivalents federal funds sold and investments of $181.5 million and

$221.1 million at June 30 2009 and June 30 2008 respectively

Net cash used in operating activities was $56.3 million for fiscal 2009 reflecting the funding of

operations Net cash used in operating activities in fiscal 2008 of $456.1 million reflecting net use of

$479.0 million by Union Federal to generate private education loans Cash provided by operating

activities in fiscal 2007 of $195.5 million reflected up-front fees related to the higher securitization

volume less funding of operations

Cash provided by investing activities of $127.3 million in fiscal 2009 was primarily due to the net

reduction in federal funds sold and investments that was used to finance operating activities Cash used

by investing activities of $20.6 million in fiscal 2008 and $76.5 million in fiscal 2007 reflected higher

volume of investments primarily in variable-rate demand notes and equipment purchases

Cash provided by financing activities reflected the net issuance proceeds of series non-voting

convertible preferred stock of $125.9 million in fiscal 2009 largely offset by reduction in deposit

levels At the request of the OTS we reduced the level of broker deposits at Union Federal by

$125.2 million some of which we were able to offset by increases in other types of deposits The Order

requires Union Federal to obtain prior approval of the OTS before increasing the dollar amount of

brokered deposits Cash provided by financing activities in fiscal 2008 reflected the build-up of the

deposit balance at Union Federal borrowings made under the education loan warehouse facility to

fund the private education loans reflected in cash used by operating activities and the issuance of

common stock Cash used in fiscal 2007 of $98.8 million reflected purchases of our stock under stock

repurchase plan and higher dividend payout to shareholders

The following table summarizes our time deposits $100000 by maturity at June 30 2009

in thousands

Within three months 9524
Three to six months 31707

Six months to one year 2371

Over one year 535

$44137

The maturities of these deposits are not directly indicative of future timing of cash needed for

financing activities because they do not take into account the clients that will rollover their funds into

new time deposits or into other types of deposit accounts

We remain uncertain about future regulatory capital requirements relating to Union Federal and

the extent to which we may contribute amounts to fund portfolio reserves pursuant to our Monogram

product However we believe based on our operating plan that we have sufficient liquidity to fund our

operations through fiscal 2010

Support of Subsidiaty Bank

Union Federal is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal

banking agencies Failure to meet minimum capital requirements would initiate certain mandatory and

possibly additional discretionary actions by the regulators that if undertaken could have direct

material effect on our liquidity Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for
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prompt corrective action Union Federal must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative

measures of Union Federals assets liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under

regulatory accounting practices The capital amounts and classification however are also subject to

qualitative judgments by the regulators about components risk weighting and other factors

Union Federals equity capital was $84.3 million at June 30 2009 Quantitative measures

established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require Union Federal to maintain minimum

amounts and ratios of total capital and Tier capital to risk-weighted assets each as defined in the

regulations See Note 22 Union Federal Regulatory Capital Requirements in the notes to our

consolidated financial statements included under Item of this annual report for Union Federal

quantitative measures

In July 2009 FMC entered into the Supervisory Agreement and Union Federal consented to the

Order pursuant to which FMC and Union Federal agreed to comply with certain requirements

imposed by the OTS including reducing the level of private education loans held by Union Federal

which could adversely affect our operations and financial condition See Note 23 Subsequent

EventsSupervisory Agreement and Order to Cease and Desist in the notes to our consolidated

financial statements included under Item of this annual report for additional details

Treasury Stock

We had treasury stock of $184.2 million and $184.0 million at June 30 2009 and 2008 respectively

Our treasury stock balance was primarily derived from the repurchases of our common stock in open

market transactions although we are not repurchasing more stock for the foreseeable future Treasury

stock also includes shares of our stock withheld from employees to satisfy statutory minimum

withholding obligations as equity compensation awards vest

In April 2007 our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to 10 million shares of

common stock As of June 30 2009 we repurchased an aggregate
of 1169100 shares under this

program at an average price paid per share excluding commissions of $36.17 per share under this

repurchase program We did not repurchase any shares of common stock pursuant to this program

during the twelve months ended June 30 2009 or 2008

Contractual Obligations

In July 2007 Union Federals subsidiary UFSB Private Loan SPy LLC or UFSB-SPV entered

into $300.0 million education loan warehouse facility with third-party conduit lender to fund the

purchase of private education loans by UFSB -SPV from Union Federal The facility provided interim

financing which we used to fund the disbursement of private education loans by Union Federal At

June 30 2009 and June 30 2008 $230.1 million and $242.9 million respectively were outstanding

under the facility Under the facility UFSB-SPV pledged the purchased private education loans as

collateral for the advances it received from the conduit lender The conduit lenders recourse to us

under the indenture is limited to the private education loans pledged as collateral The TERI

Reorganization and subsequent TERI ratings downgrades resulted in events of termination under the

indenture relating to the facility As result the facility termination date was declared UFSB-SPV is

not eligible for further borrowings under the facility and the conduit lender may elect to accelerate

repayment of notes outstanding under the facility In fiscal 2009 additional events of termination

occurred under the indenture relating to the one- and three-month default ratios on the underlying

portfolio In April 2009 Union Federal sold substantially all of its economic interest in the facility to

newly formed subsidiary of FMC As result of the transaction the private education loans held by

UFSB-SPV and the related indebtedness to the conduit lender were eliminated from Union Federals

balance sheet which accommodated regulatory capital compliance under the regulations of the OTS
See Note 12 Education Loan Warehouse Facility and Other Liabilities and Unused Lines of Credit
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in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included under Item of this annual report for

more information on the facility termination

In November 2008 Union Federal entered into an agreement with the Federal Reserve Bank of

Boston to provide credit facility to fund operations At June 30 2009 there was no balance

outstanding under the facility Effective October 19 2009 as result of changes enacted by the Federal

Reserve Bank of Boston Union Federal will be able to borrow up to 83% of the outstanding principal

balance of its private education loans in current repayment status Previously Union Federal could

borrow up to 60% of the outstanding principal balance of its private education loans in current

repayment status The interest rate on the facility is variable based on the Federal Reserve Bank of

Bostons stated rates At June 30 2009 we had $145.8 million available for borrowings from the

Federal Reserve Bank discount window through Union Federal

In addition we had $11.8 million available for borrowing under an unused line of credit with the

Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston There were no borrowings outstanding with either institution at

June 30 2009 We expect an increase in amounts available for borrowings through the discount window

after October 19 2009 as result of the changes enacted by the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston As

requirement under the line of credit we own $505 of Federal Home Loan Bank stock included in other

assets in the balance sheet

We entered into two ten-year 6% fixed notes payable agreements with TERI in June 2001 to fund

the acquisition of TERIs loan processing operations and loan database Principal and interest are

payable in monthly aggregate installments of $0.1 million ending June 20 2011 The outstanding

principal balance of the notes payable at June 30 2009 was $3.0 million

In addition to our notes payable to TERI we have future cash obligations under various types of

contracts We lease office space and office equipment under long-term operating and capital leases

The table below summarizes the dollar amounts of our contractual obligations as of June 30 2009 for

the periods specified

Contractual obligations

Long-term Operating Capital

Fiscal years ending June 30 debt lease obligations lease obligations Total

in thousands

2010 $1937 $10182 $3361 $15480

2011 1019 10119 1604 12742

2012 9121 9121

2013 7185 7185

2014 5846 5846

Beyond 2014 350 350

Total $2956 $42803 $4965 $50724

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions

We offer outsourcing services in connection with private education loan programs from program

design through securitization of the loans We have structured and facilitated the securitization of

private education loans for our clients through series of bankruptcy remote special purpose trusts

The principal uses of these trusts have been to generate sources of liquidity for our clients and

Union Federals assets sold into such trusts and make available more funds to students and colleges

See Executive SummaryApplication of Critical Accounting Policies and EstimatesConsolidation

for discussion of our determination to not consolidate these securitization trusts
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Inflation

Inflation was not material factor in either revenue or operating expenses during the periods

presented

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

In the ordinary course of business we are subject to interest-rate risk and credit risk Interest-rate

risk applies to all of our interest-bearing assets and liabilities as well as service revenue receivables

Credit risk is primarily related to loans held for sale service revenue receivables mortgage loans cash

equivalents and investments

Interest-Rate Risk

The interest-rate characteristics of our interest-bearing assets are driven by the nature volume and

duration of our interest-bearing liabilities Generally our interest-bearing liabilities are either

variable-rate instruments or are of short duration and are subject to frequent repricing at maturity

Less than 2% of our customer deposits at Union Federal have fixed interest rates in excess of

twelve months Approximately 83% of the deposits have fixed interest rates of six months or less

Deposit pricing is subject to weekly examination by committee of senior bank management and

representatives from corporate finance and risk and compliance management The committee looks at

pricing of competitors and inflows and outflows of deposit balances at the customer level Pricing

decisions are made based on the desired volume of deposits in each given duration and product type

Outstanding borrowings under the education loan warehouse facility carry interest at prime plus

2% and reprice daily None of our other liabilities bear interest

The frequent repricing of our liabilities drives our investment decisions All of our private

education loans and approximately 70% of our mortgage loans have variable interest rates Excess

cash is primarily invested in federal funds sold and U.S federal agency mortgage-backed securities

depending on the expected timing of time deposit turnover and other cash needs

The matching of the interest-rate characteristics and duration of assets and liabilities mitigates

interest-rate risk with respect to net interest revenue However we are still subject to interest-rate risk

because as interest rates decline the spreads between our assets and liabilities narrow and net interest

income declines

The fair value of private education loans held for sale will fluctuate due to variance in

prepayments and discount rates as well as the multi-year forward estimates of the LIBOR rate which

is the reference rate for the loan assets and assumed borrowings and buyers equity assumptions used

in our cash flow model We frequently monitor these assumptions and their effect on the estimated fair

value of these assets We believe that we have adequately addressed interest-rate risks in our cash flow

models

Credit Risk

We manage cash and investments conservatively The primary objective of our investment policy is

the preservation of capital Therefore cash cash equivalents and short-term investments are only

placed in AA-rated or better investment vehicles federal funds sold or government agency mortgage
backed securities

Union Federal offers conventional conforming and non-conforming fixed and variable interest rate

first and second residential mortgage loans as well as commercial real estate loans We base

underwriting criteria primarily on credit score consumer credit file information and collateral

characteristics and all mortgage loans are underwritten to be saleable to institutional investors Union
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Federal does not offer high loan-to-value second mortgages option adjustable rate mortgages or

sub-prime mortgage products

Private education loans are not offered through Union Federal as of the date of this annual report

We use default prevention and early awareness procedures to mitigate credit risk on the portfolio and

are considering selling the Union Federal portfolio in connection with recent order by the OTS See

Note 23 Subsequent EventsSupervisory Agreement and Order to Cease and Desist in the notes to

our consolidated financial statements included under Item of this annual report for additional

information

Our assumptions regarding defaults and recoveries of loans securitized and TERIs obligation and

ability to pay claims on defaulted loans affect the expected timing of cash payments to us in respect of

additional structural advisory fees asset servicing fees and residual cash flows and our estimates of

their fair value

If we were to determine that recoveries with respect to trusts defaulted education loans would

be unavailable to replenish the trusts Pledged Account the estimated value of our additional structural

advisory fees would be reduced In addition increases in our estimates of defaults as well as decreases

in default
recovery rates would have negative effect on the value of our additional structural advisory

fees

70



Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

The First Marblehead Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The First Marblehead

Corporation and subsidiaries the Company as of June 30 2009 and 2008 and the related

consolidated statements of operations changes in stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the

years
in the three-year period ended June 30 2009 These consolidated financial statements are the

responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these

consolidated financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An

audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We
believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all

material respects the financial position of the Company as of June 30 2009 and 2008 and the results

of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended June 30

2009 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of June 30

2009 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO and our report dated September

2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over

financial reporting

Is KPMG LLP

Boston Massachusetts

September 2009
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THE FIRST MARBLEHEAD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

June 30 2009 and 2008

in thousands except per share data

2009 2008

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $158770 70280
Federal funds sold 14326 80215
Investments 8450 70629
Loans held for sale 350960 497324
Service receivables

Structural advisory fees 55130 113842

Residuals 9960 293255

Asset servicing fees 2385
Other 47 4086

Total service receivables 67522 411183

Property and equipment net 19929 37681

Goodwill and intangibles net 1931 3657
Other prepaid expenses 3571 15377

Mortgage loans held to maturity net 9515 10754

Income taxes receivable 166410

Net deferred tax asset 13124

Other assets 6822 3798

Total assets 821330 $1200898

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Liabilities

Deposits $154462 244113

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 21512 20543
Education loan warehouse facility 230137 242899
Income taxes payable 31275
Net deferred tax liability 10385

Other liabilities 9754 14071

Total liabilities 415865 563286
Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders equity

Preferred stock par value $0.01 per share 20000 shares authorized at

June 30 2009 and June 30 2008 133 shares issued and outstanding at

June 30 2009 and no shares issued and outstanding at June 30 2008

Common stock par value $0.01 per share 250000 shares authorized at

June 30 2009 and June 30 2008 106768 and 106456 shares issued at

June 30 2009 and June 30 2008 respectively 99125 and 98886 shares

outstanding at June 30 2009 and June 30 2008 respectively 1068 1065

Additional paid-in capital 431461 300498
Retained earnings 156913 519933

Treasury stock 7643 and 7570 shares held at June 30 2009 and June 30

2008 respectively at cost 184246 183993
Accumulated other comprehensive income 268 109

Total stockholders equity 405465 637612

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 821330 $1200898

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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THE FIRST MARBLEHEAD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal years ended June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

in thousands except per share amounts

2009 2008 2007

Service revenues

Up-front structural advisory fees $179106 $457352

Additional structural advisory fees

From new securitizations 24304 43984

Trust updates 57157 44106 1363

Total additional structural advisory fees 57157 19802 45347

Asset servicing fees

Fee income 2350

Fee update 35

Total asset servicing fees 2385

Residuals

From new securitizations 116972 182744

Trust updates 283295 488832 29548

Total residuals 283295 371860 212292

Processing fees from TERI 3050 126540 134845

Administrative and other fees 19908 31985 21497

Total service revenues 315109 54031 871333

Net interest income 25103 25622 9371

Total revenues 290006 28409 880704

Non-interest expenses

Compensation and benefits 42232 96735 111364

General and administrative expenses 80438 254439 141591

Unrealized losses on loans held for sale 138163 7373

Total non-interest expenses 260833 358547 252955

Income loss from operations 550839 386956 627749

Other income 16

Income loss before income taxes 550839 386956 627765

Income tax benefit expense 187819 151880 256434

Net income loss $363020 $235076 $371331

Net income loss per share basic 3.66 2.46 3.94

Net income loss per share diluted 3.66 2.46 3.92

Cash dividends declared per share 0.395 0.62

Weighted-average shares outstanding basic 99081 95732 94296

Weighted-average shares outstanding diluted 99081 95732 94845

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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THE FIRST MARBLEHEAD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal years ended June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income loss $363020 $235076 371331

Adjustments to reconcile net income loss to net cash used in provided by operating

activities

Depreciation and amortization 17800 19633 16326
Net deferred tax expense benefit 23509 237363 103508
Stock-based compensation expense 7285 7015 6493
Unrealized losses on loans held for sale 138163 7373
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 2114 2058 112

Structural advisory fee distributions 1555
Goodwill impairment 1701 3177

Change in assets/liabilities

Loans held for sale 8201 478972 19935
Structural advisory fees 57157 19802 45347
Asset servicing fees 2385
Residuals 283295 371860 212292
Other service receivables 4039 6823 462
Income taxes receivable 166410 49345 37696
Other prepaid expenses 11806 11527 9611
Other assets 3024 3389 1309
Accounts payable and accrued

expenses income taxes payable and other liabilities 31045 6671 24397

Net cash used in provided by operating activities 56277 456080 195515
Cash flows from investing activities

Net change in federal funds sold 65889 69881 10334
Dispositions of investments 95938 91366 70809
Purchases of investments 33600 33300 116206
Payments for intangible assets 750 471
Purchases of property and equipment 1387 9115 20014
Payments to TERI for loan database updates 227 248
Net change in loans held to maturity 1239 573

Net cash provided by used in investing activities 127329 20584 76464
Cash flows from financing activities

Net change in deposits 89651 190590 17395
Increase decrease in education loan warehouse

facility 12762 242899

Payment of capital lease obligations 3578 4639 3980
Payment of notes payable to TERI 851 803
Tax expense benefit from stock-based compensation 2176 383 6304
Issuances of common stock net 900 2252
Issuance of non-voting convertible preferred stock net 125858 59592

Repurchases of common stock 253 923 61525
Cash dividends on common stock and cash paid in lieu of fractional shares 36944 58468

Net cash provided by used in financing activities 17438 451007 98825
Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 88490 25657 20226
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 70280 95937 75711

Cash and cash equivalents end of year $158770 70280 95937

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

Interest paid 16151 16237 1788
Income taxes paid 41622 51772 180737

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities

Acquisition of property and equipment through capital leases 7478 723

Conversion of series non-voting convertible preferred stock to common stock 59800
Reclassification of mortgages from held for sale to held to maturity 11327

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

75



THE FIRST MARBLEHEAD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

dollars and shares in thousands except per share amounts

Nature of Business

Unless otherwise indicated or unless the context of the discussion requires otherwise all references

in these Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements to we us our or similar references mean

The First Marblehead Corporation FMC and its subsidiaries on consolidated basis

We offer outsourcing services to national and regional financial institutions and educational

institutions for designing and implementing private education loan programs In addition we provide

administrative and other services to securitization trusts that we have facilitated asset servicing to the

third-party owner of certain of those securitization trusts NCSLT Trusts and portfolio management

services to limited number of clients Our subsidiary Union Federal Savings Bank Union Federal is

federally chartered thrift that prior to fiscal 2009 offered private education loans directly to

consumers and continues to offer residential and commercial mortgage loans retail savings products

time deposit products and money market accounts As result of our ownership of Union Federal we

are savings and loan holding company subject to regulation supervision and examination by the U.S

Office of Thrift Supervision OTS Substantially all of our financial results have been derived from

these activities which are considered to be in single industry segment for financial reporting

purposes

Historically we have structured and facilitated the securitization of private education loans

generated by our clients through series of bankruptcy remote special purpose statutory trusts

Through the securitization process the trusts obtained loans from the originating lenders or their

assignees which relinquished to the trust their ownership interest in the loans The debt instruments

that the trusts issued to finance the purchase of these private education loans are obligations of the

trusts not obligations of us or the originating lenders or their assignees For our past securitization

services we were entitled to receive from the trusts up-front structural advisory fees additional

structural advisory fees over time and residual cash flows expected to be generated by the trusts

During fiscal 2009 we began to receive service fees for stand-alone services for loan origination and

default prevention and collections services

Business Trends Uncertainties and Outlook

Asset-backed securitizations have been our sole source of permanent financing for clients private

education loan programs Recent conditions of the debt capital markets generally and the asset-backed

securities ABS market specifically rapidly deteriorated during the second quarter of fiscal 2008 This

deterioration accelerated during the third quarter
of fiscal 2008 and has persisted to lesser extent

through September 2009 Our business has been and continues to be materially adversely impacted

by these market dynamics including an inability to access the securitization market or alternative

financing facilities We did not complete securitization transaction during fiscal 2009 and we expect

that the structure and pricing terms in future financing transactions if any to be substantially less

favorable than in the past

In addition credit performance of consumer-related loans generally and the private education

loans held by us and the various securitization trusts we have facilitated have been adversely affected

by general economic conditions in the United States including increasing unemployment rates and less

availability of consumer credit During fiscal 2009 we increased the projected weighted-average gross
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THE FIRST MARBLEHEAD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

dollars and shares in thousands except per share amounts

Nature of Business Continued

default rates for the NCSLT Trusts by 417 basis points to 19.0% and the portfolio of private education

loans held by us has experienced higher level of defaults than we originally projected Credit rating

agencies have taken negative rating actions with respect to certain securitizations that we previously

facilitated and the interest rate economic and credit environments may continue to have material

negative effect on the estimated value of our service receivables and loans held for sale

Our lender clients previously had the opportunity to mitigate their credit risk through loan

repayment guaranty by The Education Resources Institute Inc TERI not-for-profit organization

TERI guaranteed the loans held by the NCSLT Trusts and we historically received reimbursement

from TERI for outsourced loan processing services we performed on TERIs behalf In April 2008
TERI filed voluntary petition for relief TERI Reorganization under Chapter 11 of the United

States Bankruptcy Code Bankruptcy Code The TERI Reorganization has had and will likely

continue to have material negative effect on our client relationships facilitated loan volumes our

ability to structure loan securitizations the value of our service receivables and our ability to realize

fully the cost reimbursement and guaranty obligations of TERI See Note TERI Reorganization

for more information on the TERI Reorganization and its impact on our operations

During fiscal 2009 we implemented plan to adjust our business model and address some of the

uncertainties facing us We made major changes in senior management and significantly reduced our

operating expenses In addition we sold the trust certificate Trust Certificate of our subsidiary NC
Residuals Owners Trust formerly known as GATE Holdings Inc effective as of March 31 2009 NC
Residuals Owners Trust owned residual interests in the NCSLT Trusts which held substantially all of

the TERI-guaranteed private education loans facilitated by us The sale of the Trust Certificate is

expected to generate refund for income taxes previously paid and eliminate certain of our future tax

liabilities which would have had material negative effect on our financial condition and liquidity As

result of the sale of the Trust Certificate however we are no longer entitled to receive residuals from

the NCSLT Trusts We continue to have rights to additional structural advisory fees from the NCSLT

Trusts as well as additional structural advisory fees and residuals from trusts other than the NCSLT
Trusts

We significantly refined our product offerings and added fee-for-service offerings such as portfolio

management and asset servicing Our new Monogram product has been designed to provide prospective

lenders with flexible product features intended to meet their desired risk control and return objectives

while also providing borrowers with some ability to configure the terms of their private education loan

The Monogram product which was completed in August 2009 also incorporates refinements to our

origination process including an enhanced application interface and additional disbursement and data

capabilities The success of the new product will be critical to growing and diversifying our revenues

and client base In light of regulatory constraints however Union Federal is not expected to participate

as program lender during fiscal 2010

We also changed our fee structure with respect to our services and have developed additional

services that will provide us with fee-based income as our services are provided The revised fee

structure is intended to improve our cash flow and reduce our dependence on the credit and capital

markets and on any single guarantor or other credit enhancement provider
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THE FIRST MARBLEHEAD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

dollars and shares in thousands except per share amounts

Nature of Business Continued

Our near term financial performance and future growth depend in large part on our ability to

successfully market our new product and transition to more fee-based revenues We are uncertain

whether former current or prospective clients will be interested in the new product offering

particularly in the current economic environment Union Federal is not as of September 2009 able

to fund private education loan originations due to current lack of funding capacity and it will be

necessary
for Union Federal to obtain regulatory clearance before offering such product See

Note 23 Subsequent EventsSupervisory Agreement and Order to Cease and Desist for additional

details

Revenue Concentration

We did not facilitate any securitizations during fiscal 2009 In fiscal 2008 we earned $320382 in

securitization-related revenues from the trusts used to securitize private education loans The

securitization trusts facilitated during the first quarter of fiscal 2008 purchased private education loans

from several lenders including JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A Bank of America N.A RBS Citizens

N.A and Union Federal We did not recognize more than 10% of total revenue from any other client

in fiscal 2008

Servicing Concentration

As of June 30 2009 there were seven loan servicers providing loan services to trusts that we

facilitated Servicers provide administrative services relating to loans including processing deferment

and forbearance requests sending out account statements and accrual notices responding to borrower

inquiries and collecting and crediting payments received from borrowers As of June 30 2009

Pennsylvania Higher Education Assistance Agency PHEAA serviced significant majority of the loans

for which we facilitated origination PHEAA also operates under the name American Education

Services

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S generally accepted

accounting principles requires management to make estimates judgments and assumptions that affect

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at

the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the

reporting period We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other

factors Actual results may differ from these estimates under varying assumptions or conditions On an

ongoing basis we evaluate our estimates and judgments particularly as they relate to accounting

policies that we believe are most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of

operations Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to change relate to the recognition of

service revenues and the valuation of our service receivables and portfolio of private education loans

held for sale
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THE FIRST MARBLEHEAD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

dollars and shares in thousands except per share amounts

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid debt instruments purchased with original maturities of three months or less on the

date of purchase are considered cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost which

approximates fair value

Investments

Investments in marketable debt securities are classified as either held to maturity or available for

sale Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortized cost Available-for-sale investments are

carried at fair value with after-tax net unrealized gains and losses recorded in other comprehensive

income component of stockholders equity

Loans Held for Sale

Loans held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or fair value The fair value of loans held for

sale is evaluated on periodic basis In the absence of readily determined market values the fair value

is estimated by management based on the present value of expected future cash flows from the loans

held for sale These estimates are based on historical and third-party data and our industry experience

with the assumptions for among other things default rates recovery rates on defaulted loans

prepayment rates the proportion of buyers equity to financing and the corresponding weighted-average

cost of capital commensurate with the risks involved Delinquent loans greater than 90 days past due
and loans in default greater than 120 days past due are fully reserved If readily determined market

values became available or if actual performance were to
vary appreciably from managements

estimates the fair value of the loans would need to be further adjusted which could result in material

differences from the recorded carrying amounts Changes in the carrying value of loans held for sale

are recorded as separate component of non-interest expense

If private education loan is delinquent by greater than 90 days the accrual of interest income on
that loan is discontinued until the loan is brought current or paid Past due status is based on the

contractual terms of the credit agreement between the lender and the borrowers

Property and Equipment

Leasehold improvements computers software and other equipment are recorded at cost less

accumulated depreciation and amortization Depreciation and amortization are recorded in general and

administrative expenses and are calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives

of the assets or the remaining terms of the lease Maintenance and repairs are charged to general and

administrative expense as incurred while major leasehold improvements are capitalized and amortized

over the lesser of their estimated useful life or the remaining terms of the lease

Costs related to internal-use software development projects are capitalized if the software is

expected to yield long-term operational benefits such as operational efficiencies and/or incremental

revenue streams
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THE FIRST MARBLEHEAD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

dollars and shares in thousands except per share amounts

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net tangible

and other intangible assets acquired Other intangible assets represent purchased assets that can be

distinguished from goodwill because of contractual rights or because the asset can be exchanged on its

own or in combination with related contract asset or liability Goodwill is not amortized but is

subject to annual impairment tests Intangible assets are amortized on straight-line basis generally

over the period of the related contract or customer agreement Amortization is recorded in general and

administrative expenses Impairment of goodwill is recorded when the carrying value of reporting

unit including its allocation of goodwill exceeds its estimated fair value Impairment of intangible

assets is recorded when the carrying value of the intangible asset exceeds the cumulative expected cash

inflows related to the contract or customer agreement over its remaining useful life Impairment

charges are recorded as general and administrative expenses

Mortgage Loans Held to Maturity

Loan origination fees net of certain direct organization costs are deferred and recognized as an

adjustment of the related loan yield using the interest method If mortgage loan is delinquent by

greater than 90 days the accrual of interest income on that loan is discontinued until the loan is

brought current or paid Past due status is based on the contractual terms An allowance for loan losses

is established through charge to non-interest expense When management believes that the collection

of loans principal balance is unlikely the principal amount is charged to the allowance Recoveries

are credited to the allowance as amounts are recovered

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No 159 Fair Value Options for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities an amendment of

FASB No 115 SFAS No 159 which became effective for us beginning in the first quarter of fiscal

2009 SFAS No 159 permits entities to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at

fair value that were not previously required to be measured at fair value We did not elect to measure

additional assets and liabilities at fair value upon adoption of this statement Therefore there was no

impact to our financial condition or results of operations as result of adoption

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received in the sale of an asset or paid to transfer

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date three-level

valuation hierarchy is used to qualify fair value measurements based upon the transparency of inputs to

the valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date

Level Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices unadjusted for identical assets

or liabilities in active markets Level assets and liabilities include debt and equity securities and

derivative financial instruments actively trade.d on exchanges as well as U.S Treasury securities and

U.S Government and agency mortgage-backed securities that are actively traded in highly liquid

over-the-counter markets

80



THE FIRST MARBLEHEAD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

dollars and shares in thousands except per share amounts

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

Level Observable inputs other than Level prices such as quoted prices for similar assets and

liabilities in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are

not active and inputs that are observable or can be corroborated either directly or indirectly for

substantially the full term of the financial instrument Level assets and liabilities include debt

instruments that are traded less frequently than exchange traded securities and derivative instruments

whose model inputs are observable in the market or can be corroborated by market observable data

Examples in this
category are certain variable and fixed rate non-agency mortgage-backed securities

corporate debt securities and derivative contracts

Level Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable but significant to the fair value

measurement Examples in this category include interests in certain securitized financial assets or

certain private equity investments

Fair value is applied to eligible assets based on quoted market prices where available For

financial instruments for which quotes from recent exchange transactions are not available fair value is

based on discounted cash flow analysis and comparison to similar instruments Discounted cash flow

analysis is dependent upon estimated future cash flows and the level of interest rates

The methods used for current fair value calculations may not be indicative of net realizable value

or reflective of future fair values If readily determined market values became available or if actual

performance were to vary appreciably from assumptions used assumptions may need to be adjusted

which could result in material differences from the recorded carrying amounts We believe our methods

of determining fair value are appropriate and consistent with other market participants However the

use of different methodologies or different assumptions to value certain financial instruments could

result in different estimate of fair value

Revenue Recognition

Structural Advisory Fees

We have recognized as service revenues structural advisory fees for structuring and facilitating the

securitization of the private education loans held by various securitization trusts principally the NCSLT
Trusts We have received portion of these fees as an up-front structural advisory fee at the time of

securitization We are also entitled to receive additional structural advisory fees over time based on the

amount of loans outstanding in the trusts from time to time over the life of the trusts

Additional structural advisory fees receivables are carried at fair value In the absence of readily

determined market values we update our estimates of the fair value of structural advisory fee

receivables on quarterly basis based on the present value of expected future cash flows Our
estimates consider changes in discount rates the estimated operational expenses for the

separate

securitization trusts and trust performance assumptions including the expected annual rate and timing

of loan defaults TERIs obligation and ability to pay default claims expected recoveries on defaulted

loans including use of recoveries to replenish the segregated reserve accounts pledged to the

securitization trusts by TERI to secure its guaranty obligations Pledged Accounts the annual rate and

timing of education loan prepayments the trend of contractual and market interest rates over the life
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of the loan pool including the forward London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR the cost of funding

outstanding auction rate notes the existence of Trigger Events defined below and the discount rate

commensurate with the risk involved These assumptions are based on historical and third-party data

and our industry experience

The indentures relating to the securitization trusts specify certain circumstances Trigger Events

upon the occurrence of which payments that would otherwise be due in respect of additional structural

advisory fees and residuals would instead be directed to the holders of the notes issued by the trusts

until the condition causing the Trigger Event ceases to exist or all notes and related interest are paid

in full Under the indentures Trigger Event generally occurs when the cumulative gross defaults of

loans held by such trust exceed specified level

If readily determined market values became available or if actual performance were to vary

appreciably from assumptions used assumptions may need to be adjusted which could result in

material differences from the recorded carrying amounts Changes to the value of these receivables are

recorded in the statement of operations as additional structural advisory fees-trust updates We

generally become entitled to receive these additional fees plus interest once the ratio of trust assets to

trust liabilities reaches stipulated level which ranges from 103% to 105.5% As further described in

Note TERI Reorganization our receipt of these fees may be significantly delayed as result of the

TERI Reorganization thereby creating deeper discount on the receivables

Asset Servicing Fees and Residuals

We have the right to receive portion of the residual interests if any generated by securitization

trusts other than the NCSLT Trusts This right is junior in priority to the rights of the holders of the

debt sold in the securitizations and additional structural advisory fees As result of the sale of the

Trust Certificate we are no longer entitled to residuals receivables from the NCSLT Trusts See Note

Sale of Trust Certificate and Related Transactions for additional details

In conjunction with the sale of the Trust Certificate we have entered into an asset services

agreement Asset Services Agreement with the third-party purchaser of the Trust Certificate As

compensation for our services we are entitled to monthly asset servicing fee based on the aggregate

outstanding principal balance of the loans owned by the NCLST Trusts Our receipt of the fees

however is contingent upon distributions available to the third-party owners of the residual interests in

the NCSLT Trusts See Note Sale of Trust Certificate and Related Transactions for further detail

regarding the sale and related fees

The fair values of asset servicing fees and residuals receivables were estimated by management

using the same assumptions used for structural advisory fees receivables with the exception of the

discount rate which was adjusted to be commensurate with the risks involved Changes in the fair value

of asset servicing fee receivables and residuals are recognized as service revenues
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Processing Fees from TERI

Processing fees from TERI have historically consisted of reimbursement of expenses incurred

relating to services performed on behalf of TERI and are recognized in the same period that the

expense is incurred

Administrative and Other Fees

Administrative fees are received from the securitization trusts for services performed in

administering securitization trusts including the daily management of the trusts coordination of loan

servicers and reporting information to the parties related to the securitization The fees are based upon
percentage of the outstanding principal balance of the loan principal of each of the trusts The fees

vary with each separate securitization and are recognized in service revenue when earned as

administrative services are provided

During the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2009 we began receiving fees from certain securitization trusts

under special servicing agreement These fees are paid by the securitization trusts for the

performance by us of default prevention services and management of private education loan collections

Such fees are based in part upon the reimbursement of expenses and are recognized as the expenses

are incurred

Interest Income

Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method

Stock-based compensation

We record compensation expense equal to the estimated fair value on the grant date of options

granted to purchase common stock on straight-line basis over the options vesting period We record

compensation expense for equity-based awards other than stock options based on the timing of vesting

We use Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of options granted The
fair values of equity-based awards other than options such as restricted stock units are based on the

price of our common stock on the date of grant

Income Taxes

In determining quarterly provision for income taxes the estimated annual effective tax rate is

based on expected annual income statutory tax rates and tax planning opportunities available to us in

the various jurisdictions in which we operate The estimated annual effective tax rate also includes our

best estimate of the ultimate outcome of tax audits

The asset and liability method of accounting is utilized for recognition of income taxes Under the

asset and liability method deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in connection with the tax

effects of temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and

liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss
carry forwards Deferred tax assets and
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liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in

which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled The effect on deferred tax

assets and liabilities of change in tax rates is recognized as tax expense benefit in the period that

includes the enactment date deferred tax asset valuation allowance is established if it is considered

more likely than not that all or portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized

Net Income Loss Per Share

Basic net income loss per share is computed by dividing net income loss by the basic weighted-

average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the periods presented Diluted net income

loss per share is computed by dividing net income loss by the basic weighted-average shares and

common stock equivalent shares outstanding during the period The weighted-average shares and

common stock equivalent shares outstanding have been determined in accordance with the treasury

stock method Common stock equivalents consist of shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding

stock options the exercise of options to purchase stock under employee stock purchase plans and the

vesting of restricted stock units

Consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of The First Marblehead Corporation

and its subsidiaries after eliminating inter-company accounts and transactions We have not

consolidated the financial results of the securitization trusts purchasing loans that we have facilitated

At June 30 2009 and 2008 each of the securitization trusts created after January 31 2003 has met

the criteria to be qualified special-purpose entity QSPE as defined by FASB Statement No 140

Accounting for the Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities

Accordingly we did not consolidate these existing securitization trusts in our financial statements In

addition the securitization trusts created prior to January 31 2003 in which we hold variable interest

that could result in our being considered the primary beneficiary of such trusts have been amended in

order for them to be considered QSPEs

On June 12 2009 FASB issued Financial Accounting Standard 166 Accounting for Transfers of

Financial Assets an Amendment of FASB Statement 140 FAS 166 and Financials Accounting Standard

167 Amendments to FASB Interpretation No 46R FAS 167 Both statements are effective beginning

with our financial statements for fiscal year 2011 FAS 166 removes the concept of OSPE from FASB

Statement 140 and removes the exception from applying FASB Interpretation No 46 revised as FASB

Interpretation No 46R in December 2003 Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities to qualifying

special-purpose entities

FAS 167 amends FASB Interpretation No 46R to require an enterprise to perform an analysis to

determine whether the enterprises variable interest or interests gives it controlling financial interest
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in variable interest entity This analysis identifies the primary beneficiary of variable interest entity

as the enterprise that has both of the following characteristics

The power to direct the activities of variable interest entity that most significantly impact the

entitys economic performance and

The obligation to absorb losses of the entity that could potentially be significant to the variable

interest entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant

to the variable interest entity

As of September 2009 we are evaluating the impact that adoption of these statements will have

on our consolidated financial condition and results of operations

TERI Reorganization

TERI is private not-for-profit Massachusetts organization as described under section 501c3
of the Internal Revenue Code In its role as guarantor in the private education lending market TERI

agreed to reimburse lenders or securitization trusts for unpaid principal and interest on defaulted loans

Historically TERI was the exclusive third-party provider of borrower default guarantees for our clients

private education loans

Historical Relationship In 2001 we acquired TERIs historical database and loan processing

operations but not its investment assets or guaranty liabilities In connection with the transaction we

entered into series of agreements with respect to loan processing services database updates and the

securitization of TERI-guaranteed loans These agreements included master servicing agreement

Master Servicing Agreement database supplementation and sale agreement Database Agreement

and master loan guaranty agreement Master Loan Guaranty Agreement Pursuant to the Master

Servicing Agreement TERI engaged us to provide certain loan origination default prevention claims

and default management services Under TERIs agreements with lenders lenders delegated their loan

originati ftions to TERI and TERI had the right to subcontract these functions to us Pursuant

to the Database Agreement TERI provided updated information to us regarding the performance of

the education loans it had guaranteed so that we could continue to supplement and enhance the

database that we purchased from TERI

Under the terms of the Master Loan Guaranty Agreement we granted TERI right of first

refusal to provide third-party loan guaranty under existing and future private education loan

programs that we facilitated as well as new loan programs jointly created by us and TERI In addition

we agreed to provide beneficial interest for TERI in portion of the residual value of securitization

trusts that purchase TERI-guaranteed loans The Master Loan Guaranty Agreement generally provided

that the guaranty
fees earned by TERI upon the disbursement of education loans would be placed by

TERI in segregated reserve accounts to be held as collateral to secure TERIs obligation to pay the

principal and interest on defaulted education loans These accounts were generally held by third-party

financial institutions for the benefit of the program lender until the education loans were securitized at

which point the accounts were pledged to the securitization trust that purchased the loans The Master

Loan Guaranty Agreement as it had been implemented through guaranty agreements with individual
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lenders entitled TERI to retain portion of its guaranty fees as an administrative fee rather than place
them in the Pledged Accounts

TERI Reorganization On April 2008 TERI filed voluntary petition for reorganization under

Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code The TERI Reorganization has had and will likely continue to

have material negative effect on our client relationships facilitated loan volumes our ability to

structure loan securitizations the value of our service receivables and our ability to realize fully TERIs
cost reimbursement and guaranty obligations In April 2008 we received notice that Bank of America
N.A and RBS Citizens N.A elected to terminate their agreements with us and certain of our clients
in the case of RBS Citizens N.A as result of the TERI Reorganization In addition JPMorgan
Chase Bank N.A Bank of America N.A and Union Federal have entered into stipulations in the

context of the TERI Reorganization relating to the termination of their agreements with TERI and the

settlement of related claims As result of these actions Bank of America N.A JPMorgan Chase

Bank N.A and Union Federal do not have any further obligations to sell and we do not have any
further obligation to purchase certain private education loans Generally neither RBS Citizens N.A
nor we have any further obligations to sell or purchase private education loans under the various loan

programs previously funded by RBS Citizens N.A

We expect that the remaining guaranty agreements or loan origination agreements that TERI has

with significant number of its clients will be terminated in the context of the TERI Reorganization
Termination of clients guaranty agreement or loan origination agreement with TERI would generally
result in the termination of their agreements with us As result we expect our note purchase

agreements with additional clients to terminate as the TERI Reorganization evolves We also expect the

TERI Reorganization to continue to materially adversely affect our ability to facilitate the securitization

of TERI-guaranteed loans If we are able to facilitate securitizations of TERI-guaranteed loans in the

future our up-front structural advisory fee yields would decline and market conditions would likely

dictate that we obtain additional credit enhancement for such seduritizations the cost of which would
result in lower revenues and additional cash requirements

Termination of Master Agreements In June 2008 the United States Bankruptcy Court for the

District of Massachusetts Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving motion by TERI to reject
the Master Servicing Agreement the Database Agreement and the Master Loan Guaranty Agreement
as well as marketing services agreement pursuant to which we provided certain marketing-related

services to TERI As result of the order each of the agreements as amended or supplemented to

date was terminated effective as of May 31 2008 The order also approved motion by TERI to enter

into transition services agreement which expired on September 29 2008

We facilitated significantly lower level of loan volume during fiscal 2009 compared to past fiscal

years as result of among other factors conditions in the debt capital markets and the TERI
Reorganization As result of the TERI Reorganization our clients instructed TERI to stop accepting

applications or suspended their marketing of TERI-guaranteed loans during fiscal 2008 which resulted

in significant reduction in
processing fees from TERI During fiscal 2009 we facilitated loans with an

aggregate principal balance of $266586 of which $159879 was not TERI-guaranteed and received

$3050 in processing fees from TERI During fiscal 2008 we facilitated loans with an aggregate
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principal balance of $5004000 of which $65833 was not TERI-guaranteed and received $126540 in

processing fees from TERI

See Note 13 Commitments and ContingenciesTERI ReorganizationChallenge to Security

Interests for further discussion relating to the TERI Reorganization

Sale of Trust Certificate and Related Transactions

On March 31 2009 NC Residuals Owners Trust was formed by the statutory conversion of our

wholly-owned subsidiary GATE Holdings Inc As result of the conversion we became the sole legal

and beneficial owner of the Trust Certificate NC Residuals Owners Trust together with its wholly-

owned subsidiary owned certain certificates of beneficial ownership interests Residuals of the NCSLT

Trusts The NCSLT Trusts are the holders of substantially all TERI-guaranteed loans facilitated by us

Effective March 31 2009 we entered into among other agreements purchase agreement

Purchase Agreement with VCG Owners Trust newly formed statutory trust Purchaser and VCG

Securities LLC Vanquish Investor Additionally we entered into the Asset Services Agreement and

data sharing and license agreement Data Agreement with these parties also effective March 31 2009

The Purchaser and Vanquish Investor are affiliates of Vanquish Capital Management LLC

Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement we transferred the Trust Certificate to the Purchaser

effective as of March 31 2009 As result the Purchaser became the indirect owner of the Residuals

that were formerly owned by us indirectly through NC Residuals Owners Trust In consideration for the

sale the Purchaser and Vanquish Investor agreed to bear all future federal and state tax liabilities

associated with the Residuals As result of the sale we expect to receive refund for federal income

taxes paid on income that we had not yet received and are no longer entitled to receive

Pursuant to the Asset Services Agreement we have agreed to provide certain asset servicing to the

Purchaser to support the Purchasers ownership of the Residuals including among others analysis and

valuation optimization services and services relating to funding strategy As compensation for services

we are entitled to an asset servicing fee calculated as percentage of the aggregate outstanding

principal balance of loans outstanding in the trusts Although this fee is earned monthly our right to

receive the fee is contingent on distributions made to the holders of the Residuals Distributions made

by each of the NCSLT Trusts will be allocated as follows

commencing with the first calendar month in which residual cash flows are paid and for each

payment date during the next 60 calendar months from that date we will receive 60% of the

residual cash flows

for each payment date after that we will receive 40% of residual cash flows until all earned but

unpaid asset servicing fees are paid in full and

thereafter once all earned but unpaid fees have been received we will receive our monthly fee

paid in full
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We will not receive any asset servicing fees until the Purchaser has begun to receive residual cash

flows

Pursuant to the Data Agreement the Purchaser has agreed to share with and license to us certain

deidentified private education loan data In consideration of one-time license fee of $750 the

Purchaser granted to us limited exclusive irrevocable perpetual license to retain and use monthly

updates to such data for any lawful purpose This license will survive the termination of the Asset

Services Agreement or the Data Agreement for any reason Unless sooner terminated by the

Purchaser the Purchaser will continue to provide monthly data updates until the earlier of the date

the residual cash flows of the NCSLT Trusts are equal to zero or ii 25 years from the date of the

agreement

Cash and Cash Equivalents Investments

The following table summarizes our cash and cash equivalents

June 30

2009 2008

Money market funds $156179 $67944

Non-interest-bearing deposits 2591 2336

Total cash and cash equivalents $158770 $70280

Compensating balances included in money market funds 886 7550

Compensating balances relate to the leasing of equipment and are included in
segregated cash

account in our name the minimum balance of which is equal to the outstanding lease value In

addition Union Federal was required to maintain minimum balances with correspondent banks of $100
at June 30 2009 and 2008

We utilize the services of related party an institutional money management firm Milestone

Capital Management LLC MCM wholly-owned subsidiary of Milestone Group Partners under an

investment management agreement MCM receives fee for services it performs under this agreement
Members of the immediate family of one of FMCs directors owned approximately 65% of Milestone

Group Partners as of June 30 2009 At June 30 2009 approximately $59983 of money market funds

were invested by MCM At June 30 2008 approximately $70432 of investments and cash equivalents

were invested by MCM and $30866 of cash equivalents were invested in money market fund

managed by MCM

Prior to May 2009 investments primarily consisted of variable rate demand notes that were

redeemable as interest rates reset In June 2009 we disposed of these investments As of June 30 2009

investments consisted solely of mortgage-backed securities held by Union Federal classified as available

for sale The carrying value of available-for-sale securities was $8450 and $70629 including unrealized

gains of $268 and $109 as of June 30 2009 and 2008 respectively
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Loans Held for Sale

The following table reflects the carrying value of education loans held for sale

June 30

2009 2008

Principal and interest of loans 526542 $504697

Fair value adjustment 175582 7373

Net carrying value 350960 $497324

Principal and interest of loans

Delinquent 90 days past due 17329 762

In default 120 days past due 15112 610

Pledged as collateral under education loan warehouse

facility 261923 251528

Fiscal years ended June 30

2009 2008 2007

Unrealized losses for fiscal year $138163 $7373

Interest on delinquent and defaulted loans included in

income 278

Interest on delinquent and defaulted loans foregone 638

We classify our private education loan portfolio as held for sale Loans used to secure the

education loan warehouse facility are subject to call provisions by the third-party lender therefore we

do not have the ability to hold those loans to maturity Our intent is to dispose of the remaining loans

on Union Federals balance sheet to mitigate risks to Union Federal in conjunction with requests made

by the OTS Loans held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or fair value

During fiscal 2009 we received $30046 of segregated reserves held by TERI as part of the TERI

Reorganization Upon receipt of such reserves from TERI we reduced the fair value of the education

loans

All private education loans held for sale have variable rates

Service Receivables

Additional structural advisory fees asset servicing fees and residuals receivables represent the

estimated fair value of service receivables expected to be collected over the life of the various separate

securitization trusts principally the NCSLT Trusts which have purchased private education loans

facilitated by us The fees are expected to be paid directly from the various securitization trusts

Following the sale of the Trust Certificate Note we continue to have rights to additional structural

advisory fees but not residuals receivables from the NCSLT Trusts We continue to be entitled to

residuals receivables from trusts other than the NCSLT Trusts
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At June 30 2009 and 2008 the aggregate outstanding principal balance of the debt issued by the

NCSLT Trusts was $12773676 and $13896525 respectively The underlying assets in the NCSLT
Trusts were TERIguaranteed private education loans of which approximately 33.2% were in

deferment 6.8% were in forbearance and 60.0% were in repayment status as of June 30 2009

Approximately 88.7% of the loans in repayment status as of June 30 2009 were current 5.4% were

between 31 and 90 days past due 3.7% were between 91 and 180 days past due and 2.2% were greater

than 180 days past due As of June 30 2009 the cumulative gross default rate with regard to loans in
and loans that have

previously been in repayment status was 10.3% for the aggregate loans in the

NCSLT Trusts

The following table shows the approximate weighted-average assumptions for loan performance
and discount rates of the NCSLT Trusts at June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

June 30

2009 2008 2007

Discount rate-additional structural advisory fees 12.53% 9.72% 7.02%

Discount rate-asset servicing fees and residuals 17.00 14.88 11.81

Gross default rate 19.00 14.83 9.38

Net default rate 11.40 7.71 5.63

Recovery rate 40.00 48.00 40.00

Prepayment rate 8.01 8.40 8.00

Default Rates During fiscal 2009 we increased the weighted-average gross default rate

assumptions used to estimate the fair value of our additional structural advisory fees asset servicing

fees and residuals receivables from 14.83% to 19.00% as result of the trusts actual default

experience and general economic conditions on all consumer asset classes We also increased our

assumed weighted-average net default rate from 7.71% to 11.40% during fiscal 2009 which reflects the

increase in the gross default rate and decrease in the
recovery rate During fiscal 2009 the increase

in the default rate combined with the decrease in the
recovery rate assumptions resulted in decrease

in the estimated fair value of our additional structural advisory fees receivable of $20678 and

decrease in the estimated fair value of our residuals receivables of $50108 During fiscal 2008 the

increase in the net default rate assumptions resulted in decrease in the estimated fair value of our

additional structural advisory fees receivable of $2910 and decrease in the estimated fair value of our

residuals receivables of $49929

Prepayment Rates In response to historically low prepayment rate the current interest rate

environment and limited availability of consumer credit we adjusted our prepayment assumption during
fiscal 2009 by extending the period during which decreased prepayments were expected to persist As of

June 30 2009 we assumed that the current prepayment rate will persist until June 30 2010 and then

eventually revert to historical norms during the ensuing 12 months During fiscal 2009 these changes
resulted in an increase in the estimated fair value of our additional structural advisory fees of $3127
and an $11336 increase in the estimated fair value of our residuals receivables During fiscal 2008 we
had assumed higher prepayment rate than in fiscal 2007 due to activity we were seeing in the market
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which resulted in decrease in the estimated fair value of our additional structural advisory fees of

$3168 and $34765 decrease in the estimated fair value of our residuals receivables

Discount RateAdditional Structural Advisory Fees We have historically based the discount rate

that we use to estimate the fair value of our additional structural advisory fees on spread over the

10-year U.S Treasury Note rate During fiscal 2009 we increased the discount rate spread by 325 basis

points to 900 basis points In increasing the discount rate spread we considered among other things

increasing yield curves for certain composite indices for BBB- and BB-rated corporate bond indices

with 10-year maturities as well as increases in the broader ABS marketplace during the year The

10-year U.S Treasury Note rate decreased by 44 basis points during the fiscal year to 3.53% at

June 30 2009 As result we applied discount rate of 12.53% for purposes of estimating the fair

value of the additional structural advisory fees which resulted in net decrease of $23022 in the

estimated fair value of our additional structural advisory fees during fiscal 2009 During fiscal 2008 we

increased the discount rate spread over the 10-year U.S Treasury Note from 200 basis points to 575

basis points The 10-year U.S Treasury Note rate decreased by 105 basis points during the same period

resulting in discount rate of 9.72% up from 7.02% at June 30 2007 in response to the deterioration

in the market for structured and corporate debt The effect of the increase was $41555 decrease in

the estimated fair value during fiscal 2008

Discount RateAsset Servicing Fee and Residuals In determining an appropriate
discount rate for

valuing our asset servicing fees receivable and residuals we historically have considered number of

factors including market data made available to us on spreads on federally guaranteed loans and

private education loans as well as rates used in the much broader ABS market We also evaluate yield

curves for corporate subordinated debt with maturities similar to the weighted-average life of our

residuals At June 30 2009 we used weighted-average discount rate of 17.00% for purposes of

estimating the fair value of our asset servicing fee receivable and the remaining residual interests on

our balance sheet The weighted-average discount rate used to estimate the fair value of residuals

receivables related to the NCSLT Trusts at the date of sale of the Trust Certificate was 18.4% These

rates are up from the weighted-average discount rates used at June 30 2008 and 2007 of 14.88% and

11.81% respectively The increases over the two fiscal years were in response to the deterioration of

the ABS market and revised assumptions about TERIs ability to pay claims Losses related to the

increase in the weighted-average discount rates used for residuals were $82571 and $129169 in fiscal

2009 and 2008 respectively

Auction Rates Five securitization trusts that we facilitated issued auction rate notes to finance the

purchase of private education loans During fiscal 2009 and 2008 failed auctions occurred and persisted

with respect to auction rate notes issued by each of the five securitization trusts As result of the

failed auctions the auction rate notes bear interest at maximum spread over one-month LIBOR

which is based on the ratings assigned to such auction rate notes During fiscal 2009 the ratings

assigned to the auction rate notes were downgraded resulting in an increase in the maximum spread

In addition the insurance financial strength rating assigned to Ambac Assurance Corporation which

provides credit enhancement for certain auction rate notes was downgraded in fiscal 2009 resulting in

further downgrading of the ratings assigned to certain of our auction rate notes We assumed at
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June 30 2009 that all auction rate notes would continue to bear interest at their respective then-current

maximum spreads until their expected maturity dates These assumptions resulted in decrease of

$13087 and $140 in the estimated fair value of our additional structural advisory fees during fiscal 2009

and 2008 respectively and decrease of $31779 and $93813 in the estimated fair value of our

residuals during fiscal 2009 and 2008 respectively

The following table shows changes in the estimated fair value of our structural advisory fees

receivables during the fiscal years ended June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

Fiscal years ended June 30

2009 2008 2007

Fair value at beginning of period $113842 $133644 88297
Additions from new securitizations 24304 43984
Cash received from trust distributions 1555
Trust updates

Passage of time fair value accretion 9362 10258 7503
Decrease increase in average prepayment

rate 3127 3168 3529
Increase in discount rate assumptions 23022 41555
Increase in timing and average default rate 11262 2910
Decrease in recovery assumption 9416
Increase in auction rate notes spread 13087 140
Decrease in forward LIBOR curve 12517 5442
Other factors net 342 1149 2611

Net change from trust updates 57157 44106 1363

Fair value at end of period 55130 $113842 $133644
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The following table shows changes in the estimated fair value of our residuals receivables during

the fiscal years ended June 30 2009 and 2008

Fiscal years ended June 30

2009 2008 2007

Fair value at beginning of period 293255 665115 $452823

Additions from new securitizations 116972 182744

Trust updates

Passage of time fair value accretion 20453 75070 66428

Decrease increase in average prepayment

rates 11336 34765 36236
Increase in discount rate assumptions 82571 129169

Increase decrease in timing and average

default rate 50108 49929 26680

Increase in auction rate notes spread 31779 93813
Decrease in forward LIBOR curve 22009 17590
TERIs inability to pay claims 219553

Decrease to reflect disposition 134481
Increase in trust expenses 9026
Other factors net 5864 10057 27324

Net change from trust updates 283295 488832 29548

Fair value at end of period 9960 293255 $665115

Increases in our estimates of defaults prepayments and discount rates as well as decreases in

default recovery rates and the multi-year forward estimates of LIBOR have negative effect on the

value of our additional structural advisory fees Education loan prepayments include either full or

partial payments by borrower in advance of the maturity schedule specified in the credit agreement

If amounts in the Pledged Accounts are unavailable to pay the trusts default claims or if recoveries on

defaulted loans are not used to replenish such Pledged Accounts or if net defaults increase beyond the

level of expected third-party reimbursement assumptions then these changes will have an additional

negative effect on the value of our additional structural advisory fees LIBOR is the reference rate for

substantial majority of the loan assets and we believe reasonable index for borrowings of the

trusts

We assumed that the trusts would not receive funds in excess of the Pledged Accounts and we did

not adjust our assumptions regarding TERI during the fiscal year
ended June 30 2009 As part of its

plan of reorganization we expect TERI to reject its guaranty obligations entirely As of September

2009 TERI had not filed its plan of reorganization As consequence it is uncertain how collateral

securing such obligations will be treated or applied to satisfy TERIs obligations See Note 13

Commitments and ContingenciesTERI ReorganizationChallenges to Security Interests
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8.01%

$55130

Service Receivables Continued

Structural advisory fees

Default rate

Management assumption1
Total structural advisory fees

Change in receivables balance

Default recovery rate

Management assumption

Total structural advisory fees

Change in receivables balance

Annual prepayment rate

Management assumption

Total structural advisory fees

Change in receivables balance

Discount rate

Management assumption

Total structural advisory fees

Change in receivables balance

Forward LIBOR rates

Total structural advisory fees

Change in receivables balance

Change in assumption

Down 200 Down 100

basis points basis points

Change in assumption

Receivables Up 100 Up 200

balance basis points basis points

The percentage change in assumptions applies to future projected defaults in the portfolio after

taking into account actual defaults occurring in the portfolio through June 30 2009 As result

application of the nominal 10% or 20% variation results in change in the management
assumption that is less than 10% or 20% of 19.00%

The following tables show our loan performance and discount rate assumptions and additional

structural advisory fee balances at June 30 2009 and estimated changes that would result from changes
in our assumptions The effect on the fair value of the structural advisory fees are based on variations

of 10% or 20% except for the forward LIBOR rates which are based on variations of 1% and 2%
from the forward LIBOR rates at June 30 2009

The sensitivities presented below are hypothetical and should be used with caution The effect of

each change in assumption must be calculated independently holding all other assumptions constant

Because the key assumptions may not in fact be independent the net effect of simultaneous adverse

changes in key assumptions may differ materially from the sum of the individual effects calculated

below

Percentage change
in assumptions

Management

assumption
and receivables

balance at

Down 10% June 30 2009

Percentage change
in assumptions

Up 10% Up 20%Down 20%

17.04%

$57870

4.97%

32.00%

$53537

2.89

6.41%

$56471

2.43%

10.03%

$74918

35.89%

19.00% 19.95%

$55130 $53885

2.26%

40.00% 44.00%

$55130 $56244

2.02%

18.03%

$56492

2.47%

36.00%

$54277

1.55%

7.21%

$55785

1.19%

11.28%

$64248

16.54%

20.88%

$52832

4.17%

48.00%

$57158
3.68%

9.61%

$53997

2.06%

15.04%

$40660

26.25%

8.81%

$54449

1.24%

12.53% 13.79%

$55130 $47332

14.14%

$45670 $49982 $55130 $61049 $67905

17.16% 9.34% 10.74% 23.17%
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Property and Equipment

June 30

2009 2008 Useful life

Equipment $18409 $19454 years

Software 34287 35174 years

Software under development 1017 366

Leasehold improvements 12692 13762 lesser of years or lease term

Capital
leases equipment furniture and

fixtures 18682 21024 lease term

Furniture and fixtures 2493 2493 years

87580 92273

Less accumulated depreciation and

amortization 67651 54592

Total property and equipment net 19929 37681

We lease office
space

and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases expiring at various

times through April 2014 Gross rent expense under operating leases for the periods ended June 30

2009 2008 and 2007 was approximately $8698 $13026 and $11105 respectively Rent expense is

reduced by sublease revenue of $2758 $933 and $655 for the years ended June 30 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively

The future minimum lease payments required under capital and operating
leases for each of the

five fiscal years subsequent to June 30 2009 and thereafter are as follows

Capital Operating

Fiscal years ending June 30 leases leases

2010 3361 $10182

2011 1604 10119

2012 9121

2013 7185

2014 5846

Thereafter 350

Total minimum lease payments 4965 $42803

Less amounts representing interest 187

Present value of future minimum lease payments 4778

Less current portion 3368

Long-term portion $1410
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Property and Equipment Continued

The amounts we are entitled to receive under non-cancelable subleases of office space for each of

the five fiscal
years subsequent to June 30 2009 are as follows

Sublease

Fiscal years ending June 30 payments

2010 2501
2011 4118
2012 4193
2013 4215
2014 3544

Total $18571

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill consisted of the fair value of certain acquired assets net of liabilities assumed in

connection with our acquisitions of TERIs loan processing operations in 2001 and Union Federal in

2006 Goodwill has been written off in full resulting in impairment charges of $1701 and $3177 during

the fiscal
years

ended June 30 2009 and 2008 respectively

Intangible assets include amounts related to the loan database acquired and core deposit

intangible as result of the acquisition of Union Federal Costs related to monthly database updates

are capitalized and amortized over five years

10 Mortgage Loans Held to Maturity

The following table summarizes the characteristics of our mortgage loans held to maturity at

June 30 2009 and 2008

June 30

2009 2008

Variable rate loans 7117 7662
Fixed rate loans 2968 3378

10085 11040

Allowance for loan losses 562 277
Deferred fees

Mortgage loans held to maturity net 9515 $10754
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11 Deposits

The following table summarizes our deposits

June 30

2009 2008

Annual Weighted- Annual Weighted-

Year-end average average Year-end average average

amount balance rate amount balance rate

Deposits

Time and savings deposits $103653 $130183 2.98% $212666 $162594 4.47%

Money market accounts 49045 48076 2.95 31381 7848 3.06

Non-interest bearing deposits 1764 3482 66 66

$154462 $244113

Included in time deposits in the preceding table are brokered deposits totaling $25000 and

$150194 at June 30 2009 and 2008 respectively At June 30 2008 money market deposits included

$31323 deposited by TERI and pledged to Union Federal to secure TERIs guaranty obligations with

regard to the TERI-guaranteed education loans held by Union Federal At June 30 2009 time deposits

with maturities greater
than one year were $1841

12 Education Loan Warehouse Facility and Other Liabilities and Unused Lines of Credit

In July 2007 UFSB Private Loan SPV LLC UFSB-SPV subsidiary of Union Federal entered

into $300000 education loan warehouse facility with third-party conduit lender to fund the

purchase of private education loans by UFSB-SPV from Union Federal At June 30 2009 and 2008

borrowings of $230137 and $242899 respectively were outstanding under the facility UFSB-SPV has

pledged the purchased education loans as collateral for the advances it received from the third-party

conduit lender The conduit lenders recourse under the indenture is limited to the education loans

pledged as collateral At June 30 2009 and 2008 the outstanding principal and interest of the collateral

was $261923 and $251528 respectively and the estimated fair value of the education loans held as

collateral was $167100 and $247840 respectively

The TERI Reorganization and subsequent TERI ratings downgrades have resulted in events of

termination under the indenture relating to the facility As result the facility termination date was

declared and UFSB -SPy is not eligible for further borrowings under the facility The conduit lender

may elect to accelerate repayment of notes outstanding under the facility which would cause the

conduit lender to take possession of the collateral The facility termination date had been scheduled to

occur on July 16 2008 Under the indenture the facility termination date commences liquidation

period that ends on the date immediately following the later of July 14 2010 or the date on which the

principal and interest on all outstanding notes and all amounts otherwise payable by UFSB -SPV in

connection with the facility are paid in full Principal and interest payments received by us on the loan

collateral are used to satisfy the debt service requirements of the facility In addition in connection

with Union Federals settlement of claims against TERIs bankruptcy estate approximately $15714 of

the settlement amount was allocated to the education loans pledged as collateral and was subsequently
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applied to reduce amounts outstanding under the warehouse facility Additional information on the

TERI Reorganization is included in Note

In April 2008 we entered into letter agreement pursuant to which we agreed that UFSB-SPV
would pay higher fees to the conduit lender in consideration for acknowledgement by the conduit

lender that the interest on the notes issued under the facility would not increase to an alternative rate

set forth in the indenture Default Rate unless and until the conduit lender delivered further notice

In April 2009 the conduit lender delivered notice to us and as result the interest rate on the

outstanding notes increased to the Default Rate the daily Prime rate plus 200 basis points beginning

in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 UFSB-SPV will pay lower fees however as result of such

election

In April 2009 Union Federal received approval from the OTS to sell substantially all of its

economic interest in UFSB-SPV to newly formed subsidiary of FMC Union Federal received $2904
in consideration for the sale and granted FMC its voting and management rights with respect to

UFSB-SPV As
part

of the transaction FMC agreed to indemnify Union Federal against certain claims

and expenses including potential master servicing fee deficiencies and claims resulting from origination

errors As result of the transaction the private education loans held by UFSB-SPV and the related

indebtedness to the conduit lender were eliminated from Union Federals balance sheet and for

purposes of regulatory capital compliance under the regulations of the OTS See Notes 22 and 23 for

additional information on Union Federal

We entered into two ten-year 6% fixed notes payable agreements with TERI in June 2001 to fund

the acquisition of TERIs loan processing operations and loan database Principal and interest are

payable in monthly aggregate installments of $88 ending June 20 2011 The outstanding principal

balance of the notes payable at June 30 2009 was $2956

Principal payments due on notes payable to TERI in each fiscal year subsequent to June 30 2009

are as follows

Fiscal
years ending

2010 $1937
2011 1019

$2956

In November 2008 Union Federal entered into an agreement with the Federal Reserve Bank of

Boston to provide credit facility to fund operations At June 30 2009 there was no balance

outstanding under the facility Union Federal has pledged private education loans as collateral for the

advances it received from the facility lender Previously Union Federal could borrow up to 75% of the

outstanding principal of private education loans in current repayment status Effective April 27 2009

as result of changes enacted by the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston Union Federal can borrow up

to 60% of the outstanding principal of private education loans in current repayment status The

interest rate on the facility is variable based on the Federal Reserve Bank of Bostons stated rates

which was 0.50% at June 30 2009
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At June 30 2009 we had $145845 available for borrowings from the Federal Reserve Bank

discount window through Union Federal In addition we had $11758 available for borrowing under an

unused line of credit with the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston There were no borrowings

outstanding with either institution at June 30 2009 As requirement under the line of credit we own

$505 of Federal Home Loan Bank stock included in other assets in the balance sheet

13 Commitments and Contingencies

Securities Litigation

In April and May 2008 seven purported class action lawsuits were filed against us and certain of

our current and former officers and certain of our directors in the United States District Court for the

District of Massachusetts The plaintiffs alleged among other things that the defendants made false

and misleading statements and failed to disclose material information in various Securities and

Exchange Commission filings press
releases and other public statements The complaints alleged

various claims under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Exchange Act and Rule lOb-5

promulgated thereunder The complaints sought among other relief class certification unspecified

damages fees and such other relief as the court deems just and proper In August 2008 the court

consolidated these cases and appointed lead plaintiffs and lead counsel In November 2008

consolidated amended complaint was filed by the lead plaintiffs that contained allegations similar to the

earlier complaints On August 2009 the court issued an order granting our motion to dismiss the

plaintiffs consolidated amended complaint The court did not grant plaintiffs leave to re-plead

however plaintiffs have right to appeal the summary judgment

In addition in May 2008 three federal derivative lawsuits were filed against certain of our current

and former officers and directors and nominally against us in the United States District Court for the

District of Massachusetts The complaints are purportedly brought on our behalf to remedy alleged

violations of federal and state law including violations of the Exchange Act breaches of fiduciary

duties waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment which allegedly occurred between August 2006

and May 2008 or June 2008 as applicable The complaints seek monetary judgment injunctive relief

restitution disgorgement and variety of purported corporate governance reforms In August 2008 the

court consolidated the federal derivative cases and stayed them pending resolution of the purported

class actions described above state derivative action was also filed in Massachusetts Superior Court

in June 2008 The complaint is purportedly brought on our behalf to remedy alleged violations of

federal and state law including breaches of fiduciary duties abuse of control gross mismanagement
waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment which allegedly occurred between August 2006 and

June 2008 The complaint seeks monetary judgment injunctive relief restitution disgorgement and

costs and disbursements of the action In August 2009 the court stayed the case until October 2009

We plan to move for dismissal of the federal and state derivative actions in light of the dismissal of the

purported class action in August 2009

We intend to continue to vigorously assert defenses in each of the actions until they are fully and

finally resolved There can be no assurance however that plaintiffs will not succeed in appealing the

dismissal of the purported class action or that we will be successful in defending the federal or state

derivative actions An adverse resolution of any of the lawsuits could have material effect on our
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consolidated financial position and results of operations in the period in which lawsuit is resolved In

addition although we carry
insurance for these types of claims judgment significantly in excess of our

insurance coverage could materially and adversely affect our financial condition results of operations

and cash flows We are not able presently to reasonably estimate potential losses if any related to the

lawsuits

In addition we are involved from time to time in routine legal proceedings occurring in the

ordinary course of business In the opinion of management final disposition of these proceedings is not

expected to have material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations

Agreements with Lender Clients

At June 30 2009 the principal balance of loans facilitated and available to us for securitization

was $1252667 Under the terms of purchase agreements with lender clients we generally have an

obligation to use our best efforts to facilitate the purchase of the clients private education loans during

specified loan purchase period The length of the loan purchase period varies by client and generally

ranges
from 195 days to 555 days following final loan disbursement Under the terms of certain of our

purchase agreements if we fail to facilitate purchase in breach of our obligations our liability would

be limited to liquidated damages of one percent of the total principal amount of the loans as to which

the loan purchase period had expired Those purchase agreements that limit our liability to liquidated

damages generally provide that our obligation to close securitization is subject to the condition that

no market disruption event has occurred Under certain of these purchase agreements the TERI

Reorganization constitutes market disruption event suspending our contractual obligation to close

securitization Any liquidated damages would be due at expiration of the relevant loan purchase

period which would not occur for period of time after the market disruption event ceases Purchase

agreements applicable to approximately $485518 of the facilitated loan volume available for

securitization as of June 30 2009 may be subject to liquidated damages provisions in the event we fail

to facilitate securitization in breach of our obligations to certain former clients The payment of

liquidated damages and the amount of our potential liability with respect to such loans is dependent in

part upon the outcome of the TERI Reorganization and is not determinable at this time

Although we generally have an obligation to use our best efforts to facilitate the purchase of the

clients loans during specified loan purchase period no amounts have been accrued in the financial

statements as result of the market disruption clauses and the TERI Reorganization

TERI ReorganizationChallenge to Security Interests

In June 2008 the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving motion by TERI to purchase

defaulted loans using cash in the Pledged Accounts Beginning in July 2008 TERI resumed paying its

obligations under the guaranty agreements with respect to defaulted loans from the trusts but only

using cash in the Pledged Account established for the benefit of the specific trust that owned the

defaulted loan As of September 2009 TERI is not permitted to satisfy its guaranty obligations using

funds from TERIs general reserves Funds in the Pledged Accounts of certain trusts have been

exhausted or are expected to be exhausted in the near term at which point such trust will have

general unsecured claim against TERI successful challenge to the security interests could therefore

decrease materially the value of our additional structural advisory fees or our asset servicing fees
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The Bankruptcy Courts June 2008 order granted the parties rights to challenge the trusts security

interests in the collateral other than the Pledged Accounts In January 2009 the official committee of

unsecured creditors of TERI Creditors Committee filed an adversary complaint in the Bankruptcy

Court against the owner trustee and indenture trustee of 17 securitization trusts and against our

subsidiary First Marblehead Data Services Inc FMDS as administrator of such trusts The complaint

generally alleges that the security interests granted by TERI to the trusts excluding the security

interests in the Pledged Accounts are unperfected or may otherwise be avoided under the Bankruptcy

Code In particular the complaint alleges that the trusts do not have enforceable rights to future

recoveries on defaulted loans owned by TERI with an aggregate principal and accrued interest balance

of approximately $599962 as of June 30 2009 or in amounts owed or transferred by TERI to Pledged

Accounts after the filing of TERIs petition for reorganization totaling approximately $34522 as of

June 30 2009 In March 2009 FMDS and the owner trustee filed motion to dismiss the Creditors

Committees adversary complaint The indenture trustee also filed motion to dismiss joining the

arguments made in the motion filed by FMDS and the owner trustee The Creditors Committee filed

an opposition to the motions to dismiss in April 2009 together with an amended complaint naming the

trusts themselves as defendants FMDS filed response to the opposition and amended complaint in

May 2009 We have not adjusted our accounting assumptions as of June 30 2009 in response to the

adversary proceeding

If the Creditors Committee or any other party is successful in challenging the trusts security

interests in the funds transferred to the Pledged Accounts after the filing of TERIs petition for

reorganization or other collateral the amount of pledged collateral available exclusively to particular

securitization trust to satisfy TERIs guaranty obligations to that trust would decrease materially As

result the trusts unsecured claims against TERI would increase proportionately For example
recoveries from defaulted education loans transferred to TERI which have historically been used to

replenish particular trusts Pledged Account would instead become an asset of TERIs bankruptcy

estate and available to satisfy administrative claims of TERIs bankruptcy estate and other holders of

claims in accordance with the priorities established by the Bankruptcy Code Recoveries from defaulted

loans not transferred to TERI however would remain available to the trusts

14 Stockholders Equity

Investment Agreement

In December 2007 we entered into an investment agreement Investment Agreement with GS

Parthenon L.P and GS Parthenon L.P affiliates of GS Capital Partners Parthenon Purchasers

pursuant to which we sold 60 shares of newly designated series non-voting convertible preferred

stock $0.01 par value per share Series Preferred Stock at purchase price of $1000 per share

Pursuant to the Investment Agreement we also sold after receipt of applicable regulatory approvals

and determinations and satisfaction of other closing conditions 133 shares of newly-created series

non-voting convertible preferred stock $0.01 par value per share Series Preferred Stock at

purchase price of $1000 per share We granted to GS Parthenon L.P the right to designate one

representative to our Board of Directors and provided to the Parthenon Purchasers required and

incidental rights to register under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended any common stock obtained

from the conversion of preferred stock
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The Series Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holders into 8847 shares of

common stock at conversion price of $15.00 per share Dividends would be paid on the Series

Preferred Stock when as and if and in the same amounts on an as-converted basis declared on the

common stock Upon liquidation dissolution or winding up of our operations holders of Series

Preferred Stock would have the right to receive an amount equal to $0.01 per share of Series

Preferred Stock plus the amount of any declared but unpaid dividends thereon After payment of this

amount holders of the Series Preferred Stock would be entitled to participate on an as-converted

basis with the common stock in the distribution of remaining assets

We received aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $192500 from the sale of the Series

Preferred Stock and the Series Preferred Stock pursuant to the Investment Agreement In January

2008 the Parthenon Purchasers elected to convert their Series Preferred Stock into an aggregate of

5320 shares of common stock

2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In October 2003 the Board of Directors and stockholders approved the 2003 employee stock

purchase plan ESPP total of 600 shares of common stock were authorized for issuance under the

ESPP The ESPP permitted eligible employees to purchase shares of common stock at the lower of

85% of the fair market value of the common stock at the beginning or at the end of each offering

period Participation was voluntary Under the ESPP 45 and 37 shares were issued during fiscal 2008

and 2007 respectively In April 2008 the Board of Directors which administers the ESPP terminated

the offering period that began on January 2008 and indefinitely suspended the ESPP As result no

shares were issued in fiscal 2009 under the ESPP At June 30 2009 406 shares were available for future

purchase under the ESPP

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock was $184246 and $183993 at June 30 2009 and 2008 respectively The balance was

primarily derived from repurchases of common stock in open market transactions Treasury stock also

includes shares of common stock withheld from employees to satisfy statutory minimum withholding

obligations as equity compensation awards vest As of June 30 2009 we repurchased an aggregate of

7526 shares at an average price excluding commissions of $24.27 per share under various repurchase

programs approved by the Board of Directors including the program described below

In April 2007 our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to 10000 shares of common
stock The 10000 shares authorized for repurchase included approximately 3393 shares that remained

available for repurchase under previously authorized repurchase program As of June 30 2009 we

repurchased an aggregate of 1169 shares under this program at an average price paid per share

excluding commissions of $36.17 per share We did not repurchase any shares of common stock

pursuant to this program during the twelve months ended June 30 2009 or 2008 Future repurchases

pursuant to this program may require regulatory approval
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15 Fair Value of Financial Instruments

financial instruments categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest

level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement The following is description of the

valuation methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value as well as the general

classification of such instruments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy

Cash equivalents consist of money market funds with available quoted market prices on active

markets that we classify as Level of the valuation hierarchy

The investments are mortgage-backed securities that are marked to market using an independent

third party
and are classified as Level in the hierarchy

Market prices are not available for our loans held for sale structural advisory fees receivables

asset servicing fees receivables or residuals receivables As result we base the fair value utilizing

internally-developed discounted cash flow models which include assumptions regarding prepayment

rates net default rates the LIBOR forward interest rate curve operational expenses and auction rate

note interest rates These assets are classified within Level of the valuation hierarchy

The following table presents the financial instruments carried at fair value as of June 30 2009 by

caption on the consolidated balance sheet and by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 157 Fair Value Measurement valuation hierarchy described above

Assets measured at fair value on

recurring and nonrecurring basis

at June 30 2009
_________ ______ _________ _________

Recurring

Cash equivalents $106056

Investments 8450

Structural advisory fees

Asset servicing fees

Residuals

Non-recurring

Loans held for sale

Please see Note Loans Held for Sale for information with respect to loans held for sale and

Note Service Receivables for roll forward of the structural advisory fees and residuals

receivables

Total

carrying

Level Level Level value

55130

2385

9960

350960

$106056 $8450 $418435

$106056

8450

55130

2385

9960

350960

$532941
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16 Net Interest Income

The following table reflects the components of net interest income for the fiscal years ended

June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

Fiscal years ended June 30

2009 2008 2007

Interest income

Cash and cash equivalentstaxable 907 3185 6310
Cash and cash equivalentstax exempt 63 512 475

Federal funds sold 469 1761 328

Investmentstaxable 472 562 485

Investmentstax exempt 1110 3671 2860
Loans held for sale 38646 32656 188

Mortgage loans held to maturity 575 758 513

Total interest-earning assets 42242 43105 11159

Interest expense

Savings account deposits 1862 2383 1042

Money market account deposits 1419 240

Brokered deposits 2023 4879 33

Warehouse line of credit 10993 9250
Other short-term borrowings 128

Other interest-bearing liabilities 714 731 713

Total interest-bearing liabilities 17139 17483 1788

Net Interest income $25103 $25622 9371

17 Stock-Based Compensation

2003 Stock Incentive Plan and 2002 Director Stock Plan

We have stock-based incentive compensation plan that was approved by the Board of Directors

and stockholders in 2003 2003 Plan In addition we have director stock plan that was approved by

the Board of Directors and stockholders in 2002 2002 Plan

Under the 2003 Plan the Board of Directors or one or more sub-committees of the Board may
grant options or other stock based awards to employees directors consultants or advisors As of

June 30 2009 4050 shares of common stock had been reserved for issuance under the 2003 Plan and

280 shares of common stock were issuable upon the exercise or vesting of awards granted under the

2003 Plan No awards under the 2003 Plan were granted to employees in the fiscal year ended June 30
2009 or 2008 At June 30 2009 3266 shares were available for future grant under the 2003 Plan

Under the 2002 Plan we may grant non-statutory stock options to non-employee members of our

Board of Directors for up to 300 shares of common stock As of June 30 2009 168 shares of common
stock were issuable upon exercise of awards granted under the 2002 Plan In 2006 the Board of

Directors suspended new awards under the 2002 Plan and adopted program under the 2003 Plan for
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17 Stock-Based Compensation Continued

grants of stock units to non-employee directors Under the program each non-employee director will

receive

on the date of his or her initial election to the Board of Directors stock units under the 2003

Plan and

an annual grant of stock units under the 2003 Plan on September 20 of each year if the

non-employee director has then served on the Board of Directors for at least 180 days

In each case each stock unit represents the right to receive one share of common stock

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding under the 2003 Plan

and the 2002 Plan at June 30 2009

Weighted-

average Weighted-

remaining average

Number contractual exercise Number
Exercise prices outstanding life price exercisable

$0.67 1.00 0.67

$3.33 25 3.22 3.33 25

$8.10 30 4.19 8.10 30

$10.00 4.28 10.00

$19.04 30 6.22 19.04 30

$32.97 36 5.22 32.97 36

133 4.61 16.19 133

2008 Meyers Option Plan

The Board of Directors elected Daniel Meyers as President and Chief Executive Officer and as

member of the Board of Directors effective September 2008 In connection with the election the

Board of Directors and subcommittee of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors

approved the grant on August 18 2008 Grant Date of stock options to Mr Meyers to purchase

2000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $6.00 per share that will vest and become

exercisable as to 25% of the shares underlying the stock option on each of the first second third and

fourth anniversaries of the Grant Date $6.00 Stock Options 2000 shares of common stock at an

exercise price of $12.00 per share that vested and became exercisable in full on November 30 2008

and 2000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $16.00 per share that vested and became

exercisable in full on November 30 2008 Any unvested stock options will vest and become exercisable

in full if the closing sale price of the common stock is at least 150% of the exercise price of the

applicable option for period of five consecutive trading days assuming the trading on each day is not

less than 90% of the average daily trading volume for the prior three months prior to such five day

period in the event of Mr Meyerss death or disability as defined in his employment agreement

or in the event that Mr Meyers employment is terminated by us without Cause as defined in his

employment agreement or by Mr Meyers with Good Reason as defined in his employment agreement
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17 Stock-Based Compensation Continued

In addition subject to certain conditions set forth in his employment agreement the $6.00 Stock

Options may be exercised beginning 90 days after the Grant Date prior to vesting provided that the

unvested shares issued will be held in escrow by us and will be subject to repurchase option by us
Each of the stock options will expire ten 10 years from the Grant Date The stock options were not

granted under any of our existing stockholder-approved incentive plans

For purposes of
grants made in fiscal 2009 to Mr Meyers we estimated the fair value of each

option grant at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following

weighted-average assumptions

Assumption 2009

Expected risk-free interest rate 3.31%

Expected dividend yield

Volatility 75

Expected average life in years

The weighted-average grant date fair market value of stock options granted during fiscal 2009
based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model was $2.70

Stock Option Activity

The following table presents stock option activity for the fiscal years ended June 30 2009 2008

and 2007

Weighted-

average

Number exercise price

of options per share

Outstanding options at June 30 2006 697 5.85

Granted

Exercised aggregate intrinsic value of $17805 438 3.11

Canceled 23 4.67

Outstanding options at June 30 2007 236 11.08

Granted

Exercised aggregate intrinsic value of $142 3.33

Canceled 3.33

Outstanding options at June 30 2008 223 11.53

Granted 6000 11.33

Canceled 90 4.67

Outstanding and exercisable at June 30 2009 6133 11.44
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17 Stock-Based Compensation Continued

The following table presents
restricted stock unit activity for the fiscal years ended June 30 2009

2008 and 2007

Weighted-

Number of average grant

restricted date fair value

stock units per share

Outstanding restricted stock units at June 30 2006 583 $23.43

Granted 379 34.23

Common stock issued at vest date 67 33.97

Canceled 54 30.70

Outstanding restricted stock units at June 30 2007 841 27.79

Granted 388 33.15

Common stock issued at vest date 212 42.14

Canceled 295 38.08

Outstanding restricted stock units at June 30 2008 722 28.86

Granted 21 3.30

Common stock issued at vest date 312 24.00

Canceled 151 33.07

Outstanding restricted stock units at June 30 2009 280 30.07

As of June 30 2009 there was $17166 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to

non-vested share-based compensation arrangements That cost is expected to be recognized over

weighted-average period of approximately years

18 Defined Contribution Plans401k

We sponsor 401k retirement savings plan for the benefit of all full time employees Eligible

employees can join the plan after three months of employment Investment decisions are made by

individual employees At our option we can contribute to the plan for the benefit of employees

Employee and employer contributions vest immediately We have made contributions of $1086 $2803

and $3093 during the fiscal years ended June 30 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively
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19 General and Administrative Expenses

The following table reflects components of general and administrative expenses for the fiscal years

ended June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

Fiscal years ended June 30

2009 2008 2007

General and administrative expenses

Depreciation and amortization

Third-party services

Occupancy and equipment

Marketing coordination

Other

Total

20 Income Taxes

We are subject to U.S federal income tax as well as income tax in multiple U.S state and local

jurisdictions The Internal Revenue Service completed an examination of our U.S income tax return

for the year ended June 30 2004 Our state income tax returns for the year ended June 30 2004 and

state and federal income tax returns for the years ended June 30 2005 2006 2007 and 2008 remain

subject to examination

Components of income tax expense benefit attributable to income from operations for the fiscal

years ended June 30 2009 2008 and 2007 were as follows

Fiscal years ended June 30

2009 2008 2007

Current

Federal

State

Total current tax expense benefit

Deferred

Federal

State

Total deferred tax expense benefit

Income tax benefit expense

$17800

29991

16699

3482

12466

$80438

19633

66652

28752

100754

38648

$254439

$16498

57175

26044

28850

13024

$141591

$177807 72550 $118067

13497 12933 34859

164310 85483 152926

15353 199976 81899

8156 37387 21609

23509 237363 103508

$187819 $151880 $256434

The sale of NC Residuals Owners Trust and the net operating losses are expected to generate

cash refund for taxes previously paid resulting in an income tax receivable of approximately $166410

at June 30 2009
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20 Income Taxes Continued

The following table reconciles the expected federal income tax expense benefit computed by

applying the federal statutory tax rate to income loss before taxes to recorded income tax expense

benefit for the fiscal years ended June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

Fiscal years ended June 30

2009 2008 2007

Computed federal tax expense benefit $192794 $135435 $219718

State tax net of federal benefit 3472 15895 36704

Other 1503 550 12

Income tax expense benefit $187819 $151880 $256434

The tax effects of temporary differences between financial statement carrying amounts of existing

assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases that give rise to significant deferred tax assets and

deferred tax liabilities were as follows

June 30

2009 2008

Deferred tax assets

Residual fees net 5331 35729

Deferral of unrealized loss on loans held for sale 25687

Depreciation and amortization 3202

Deferred compensation 1434 3082

Other 3109 2282

Total net deferred tax asset 38763 41093

Deferred tax liability

Structural advisory fees 21813 47639
Lferred recognition for tax purposes of intercompany

income 2887 3290
Asset servicing fees 939

Depreciation and amortization 549

Total deferred tax liability 25639 51478

Net deferred tax asset liability $13124 $10385

We have determined that no valuation allowance is necessary for the deferred tax assets because it

is more likely than not that these assets will be realized through future reversals of existing temporary

differences and available tax planning strategies We will continue to review the criteria related to the

recognition of deferred tax assets on regular basis
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20 Income Taxes Continued

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

As result of changes in the estimated fair value of our service receivables since June 30 2007

and the sale of the Trust Certificate as of March 31 2009 the related unrecognized tax benefit

decreased significantly reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax

benefits is as follows

Balance at June 30 2007 32319
Reductions related to positions taken in prior years 31590
Expiration of statute of limitations 419
Increase related to positions taken in current year 6128

Balance at June 30 2008 6438
Increase related to positions taken in prior years 4864
Increase related to positions taken in current year 10856

Balance at June 30 2009 22158

Included in the balance at June 30 2009 are $14402 of net unrecognized tax benefits that if

recognized would favorably affect our effective income tax rate During the year ended June 30 2009
we accrued approximately $202 of interest At June 30 2009 we had approximately $2058 accrued for

interest and no amount accrued for the payment of penalties Included in the balance at June 30 2008
are $4185 of net unrecognized tax benefits that if recognized would favorably affect the effective

income tax rate We recognize interest and penalties if any in income tax expense when incurred

During the year ended June 30 2008 we accrued approximately $1298 of interest At June 30 2008
we had approximately $1856 accrued for interest and no amount accrued for the payment of penalties
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21 Net Income Loss per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income loss per share of

common stock for the fiscal years ended June 30 2009 2008 and 2007

Fiscal years ended June 30

2009 2008 2007

Net income loss $363020 $235076 $371331

Shares used in computing net income loss per

common sharebasic 99081 95732 94296

Effect of dilutive securities

Stock options
253

Restricted stock units 296

Preferred stock

Dilutive potential common shares 549

Shares used in computing net income loss per

common sharediluted 99081 95732 94845

Net income loss per common share

Basic 3.66 2.46 3.94

Diluted 3.66 2.46 3.92

Anti-dilutive securities 8177 945 549

Anti-dilutive securities include restricted stock units Series Preferred Stock and stock options

for which the conversion or exercise price exceeds fair market value at the report date

22 Union Federal Regulatory Capital Requirements

Union Federal is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal

banking agencies Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and

possibly additional discretionary actions by the regulators that if undertaken could have direct

material effect on our financial condition Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory

framework for prompt corrective action Union Federal must meet specific capital guidelines that

involve quantitative measures of Union Federals assets liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items as

calculated under regulatory accounting practices The capital amounts and classification are also subject

to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components risk weighting and other factors Union

Federals equity capital was $84286 at June 30 2009
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22 Union Federal Regulatory Capital Requirements Continued

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require Union Federal

to maintain minimum amounts and ratios of total capital and Tier capital as defined in the

regulations to risk-weighted assets as defined

Regulatory Guidelines June 30

Minimum Well Capitalized 2009 2008

Risk-based capital ratios

Tier capital 4% 6% 37.86% 22.08%

Total capital 10 37.91 22.14

Tier leverage ratio 34.51 18.43

As of June 30 2009 and 2008 Union Federal was well capitalized under the regulatory framework

for prompt corrective action In July 2009 FMC and Union Federal agreed to comply with certain

requirements imposed by the OTS that could adversely affect our operations and financial condition

See Note 23 Subsequent EventsSupervisory Agreement and Order to Cease and Desist for

additional details

23 Subsequent Events

We have evaluated events subsequent to the balance sheet date through September 2009 for

purposes of disclosure

Supervisoiy Agreement and Order to Cease and Desist

On July 2009 FMC entered into supervisory agreement Supervisory Agreement with the

OTS and Union Federal entered into stipulation consenting to the issuance by the OTS of an order

to cease and desist Order

The Supervisory Agreement requires FMC to among other things

maintain Union Federals regulatory capital ratios at the greater of the capital ratios

specified in Union Federals business plan approved by the OTS in November 2006 ii the

capital ratios projected in business plan found acceptable to OTS or iii the minimum

regulatory capital requirements

maintain deposit at Union Federal in the amount of $30000 until the earlier to occur of the

sale of Union Federal and ii reduction of Union Federals private education loan

concentration ratio to 50% of Union Federals Tier capital plus allowances for loan losses

obtain prior approval of the OTS before engaging in any transaction with Union Federal or

ii paying any cash dividends repurchasing or redeeming any shares of its stock incurring any
debt exceeding $5000 or accepting any dividend or other payment representing reduction in

capital from Union Federal and

obtain prior approval of the OTS in connection with any golden parachute payment and

comply with notice requirements for certain changes in directors and senior executive officers
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23 Subsequent Events Continued

The Order requires Union Federal to among other things

submit to the Regional Director of the OTS within 60 days new business plan covering fiscal

years 2010 2011 and 2012 reflecting Union Federals proposed strategy business activities and

quarterly financial projections

develop and implement liquidity plan that contains strategies for ensuring that Union Federal

maintains adequate short-term and long-term liquidity

adopt concentration reduction plan that would prevent Union Federal from originating

private education loans until Union Federal reduces the concentration of private education loans

to Tier capital plus allowances for loan losses below 50% and ii require Union Federal to

achieve such reduction by December 31 2009

engage within 60 days qualified third-party provider subject to approval of the Regional

Director of the OTS to perform an evaluation of the private education loans held by Union

Federal as of March 31 2009

obtain prior approval of the OTS before increasing the dollar amount of brokered deposits

provide the OTS with prior notice before engaging in any transaction with an affiliate or

ii entering into renewing extending or revising any contractual arrangement relating to

compensation or benefits for any senior executive officer or director and

obtain prior approval of the OTS in connection with any golden parachute payment and

comply with notice requirements for certain changes in directors and senior executive officers

The terms of the Supervisory Agreement and the Order will remain in effect until terminated

modified or suspended by the OTS
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Supplementary Data

Unaudited Quarterly Information

The table below summarizes unaudited quarterly information for each of the three months in the

fiscal years ended June 30 2009 and 2008

Three months ended

September 30 December 31 March 31 June 30
2008 2008 2009 2009

in thousands except per share data

Total revenues $84904 $86095 $130616 $11609
Non-interest expenses 60930 59138 74972 65793

Income tax benefit 52938 51846 64934 18101
Net loss $92896 $93387 $140654 $36083

Net loss per share

Basic 0.94 0.94 1.42 0.36
Diluted 0.94 0.94 1.42 0.36

Three months ended

September 30 December 31 March 31 June 30
2007 2007 2008 2008

in thousands except per share data

Total revenues $379962 $122810 $251788 $33773
Non-interest expenses 97501 73693 123547 63806
Income tax expense benefit 113641 78828 145785 40908

Net income loss $168820 $117675 $229550 $56671

Net income loss per share

Basic 1.81 1.26 2.36 0.57
Diluted 1.80 1.26 2.36 0.57

Quarterly revenue operating results and profitability have varied and are expected to continue to vary

on quarterly basis primarily because of the timing size and structure of the securitizations that we

facilitate if any In fiscal 2008 we facilitated two securitizations in the first
quarter

and none in the

remaining quarters In fiscal 2009 we did not facilitate any securitization transactions
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Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer

evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30 2009 The term

disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e under the Exchange

Act means controls and other procedures of company that are designed to ensure that information

required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded

processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the

SEC Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation controls and procedures designed

to ensure that information required to be disclosed by company in the reports that it files or submits

under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the companys management including its

principal executive and principal financial officers as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding

required disclosure Management recognizes that any controls and procedures no matter how well

designed and operated can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and

management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible

controls and procedures Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of

June 30 2009 our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that as of such date our

disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level
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Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of The First Marblehead Corporation and subsidiaries the Company is

responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting Internal

control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15f or 15d-15f promulgated under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended as process designed by or under the supervision of

the companys principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by the companys board

of directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability

of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company

Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation

of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that

receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations

of management and directors of the company and

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the

financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or

detect misstatements Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the

risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of

compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

The Companys management assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over

financial reporting as of June 30 2009 In making this assessment the Companys management used

the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in

Internal Control-Integrated Framework

Based on our assessment management concluded that as of June 30 2009 the Companys internal

control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria

The Companys independent auditors have issued an audit report on the Companys assessment of

its internal control over financial reporting That report appears on page 117 of this annual report

Is DANIEL MEYERS

Chief Executive Officer and President

/s KENNETH KLIPPER

Managing Directo Chief Financial Officei Treasurer and Chief Accounting Officer
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Attestation Report of our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

The First Marblehead Corporation

We have audited The First Marblehead Corporations internal control over financial reporting as

of June 30 2009 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO The First Marblehead

Corporations management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial

reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting

included in the accompanying managements report on internal control over financial reporting Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based

on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained

in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over

financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the

design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audit also

included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe

that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the

maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only

in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or

detect misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject

to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree

of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion The First Marblehead Corporation maintained in all material respects effective

internal control over financial reporting as of June 30 2009 based on criteria established in Internal

ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States the consolidated balance sheets of The First Marblehead Corporation

and subsidiaries as of June 30 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated statements of operations

changes in stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended

June 30 2009 and our report dated September 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on those

consolidated financial statements

/s KPMG LLP

Boston Massachusetts

September 2009
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Change in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change in our internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15f and

15d-15f under the Exchange Act occurred during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended June 30
2009 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over

financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

Not applicable
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PART III

Pursuant to Paragraph G3 of the General Instructions to Form 10-K information required by
Part III Items 10 11 12 13 and 14 is being incorporated by reference herein from our definitive

proxy statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the end of the fiscal year ended June 30
2009 in connection with our 2009 annual meeting of stockholders which we refer to below as our 2009

Proxy Statement

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item with respect to our executive officers and code of ethics is

included in Item of Part of this report

The information required by this item with respect to directors will be contained in our 2009 Proxy
Statement under the caption Discussion of ProposalsProposal One Election of Directors and is

incorporated in this report by reference

The information required by this item with regard to Section 16a beneficial ownership reporting

compliance will be contained in our 2009 Proxy Statement under the caption Other Information
Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance and is incorporated in this report by
reference

The information required by this item with respect to corporate governance matters will be

contained in our 2009 Proxy Statement under the caption Information About Corporate Governance
Board Committees and is incorporated in this report by reference Complete copies of the audit

committee charter as well as our corporate governance guidelines and the charters of the

compensation committee and nominating and corporate governance committees are available on our

website at www.firstmarblehead.com Alternatively paper copies of these documents may be obtained

free of charge by writing to Investor Relations The First Marblehead Corporation The Prudential

Tower 800 Boylston Street 34th Floor Boston Massachusetts 02199 or e-mailing Investor Relations at

info @firstrnarblehead corn

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be contained in our 2009 Proxy Statement under the

captions Information About Corporate Governance and Information About Our Executive Officers

and is incorporated in this report by this reference

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information required by this item with regard to security ownership of certain beneficial

owners and management will be contained in our 2009 Proxy Statement under the caption Other

InformationPrincipal Stockholders and is incorporated in this report by reference

The information required by this item with regard to securities authorized for issuance under

equity compensation plans will be contained in our 2009 Proxy Statement under the caption

Information About Corporate Governance and is incorporated in this report by reference

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related fransactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item with regard to certain relationships and related-person

transactions will be contained in our 2009 Proxy Statement under the caption Information About Our
Executive Officers and is incorporated in this report by reference
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The information required by this item with regard to director independence will be contained in

our 2009 Proxy Statement under the caption Information About Corporate Governance and is

incorporated in this report by reference

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be contained in our 2009 Proxy Statement under the

caption Discussion of ProposalsProposal Three Ratification of Appointment of Independent

Registered Public Accounting Firm and is incorporated in this report by reference
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PART 1Y

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this annual report

Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements are included as Item herein and are filed as part of this

annual report The consolidated financial statements include the reports made in Item 9A herein

Financial Statement Schedules

None

Exhibits

The exhibits set forth on the Exhibit Index following this annual report are filed as part of this

annual report This list of exhibits identifies each management contract or compensatory plan or

arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this annual report
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the

registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly

authorized on September 2009

THE FIRST MARBLEHEAD CORPORATION

By Is DANIEL MEYERS

Daniel Meyers

Chief Executive Officer and President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed

below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on

September 2009

Signature Titles

Is DANIEL MEYERS Chief Executive Officer President and Director

Daniel Meyers Principal Executive Officer

Managing Director Chief Financial Officer

/5/ KENNETH KLIPPER Treasurer and Chief Accounting Officer Principal

Kenneth Klipper
Financial Officer and Principal Accounting

Officer

Is PETER TARR
Chairman of the Board

Peter Tarr

Is STEPHEN ANBINDER
Dlrector

Stephen Anbinder

Is WILLIAM BERKLEY
Director

William Berkley

Is DORT CAMERON III

Director

Dort Cameron III

Is HENRY CORNELL
Director

Henry Cornell

Is GEORGE DY
Director

George Daly

Is PETER DROTCH
Director

Peter Drotch

Is WILLIAM HANSEN
Director

William Hansen
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Number Description

3.11 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant as amended

3.22 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrant

10.1.13tt Amended and Restated Private Student Loan Servicing Agreement dated as of

September 28 2006 between the Registrant and Pennsylvania Higher Education

Assistance Agency

10.1.2tt Amendments to Amended and Restated Private Student Loan Servicing Agreement
dated as of September 28 2006 between the Registrant and Pennsylvania Higher

Education Assistance Agency

10.22 1996 Stock Option Plan as amended

10.32 2002 Director Stock Plan

10.42 2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

10.54 2003 Stock Incentive Plan as amended

10.61 Executive Incentive Compensation Plan

10.75 Form of Non-statutory Stock Option Agreement evidencing grants under the 2002

Director Stock Plan

10.86 Forms of Incentive Stock Option Agreement and Non-statutory Stock Option Agreement

evidencing grants under the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan

10.9 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement evidencing grants under the 2003 Stock

Incentive Plan

10.107 Employment Agreement dated as of August 18 2008 between the Registrant and Daniel

Meyers

10.117 Indemnification Agreement dated August 18 2008 between the Registrant and Daniel

Meyers

10.126 Letter Agreement dated June 10 2005 between the Registrant and Peter Tarr

10.13 Letter Agreement dated February 25 2005 between the Registrant and Kenneth Klipper

10.148 Letter Agreement dated June 27 2006 between the Registrant and Stephen Anbinder

10.15 Letter Agreement dated March 2008 between the Registrant and Andrew Hawley

10.16 Letter Agreement dated June 30 2008 between the Registrant and Sandra Stark

10.179 Letter Agreement dated September 11 2008 between the Registrant and Jack

Kopnisky

10.1810 Letter Agreement dated September 30 2008 between the Registrant and Anne Bowen

10.1910 Letter Agreement dated September 30 2009 between the Registrant and Greg
Johnson

10.2010 Letter Agreement dated October 2008 between the Registrant and John Hupalo

10.21 Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement for $6.00 stock options between the Registrant

and Daniel Meyers
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Number Description

10.22 Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement for $12.00 stock options between the Registrant

and Daniel Meyers

10.23 Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement for $16.00 stock options between the Registrant

and Daniel Meyers

10.246 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement dated July 11 2005 between the Registrant and

Peter Tarr

10.251 Summary of Director Compensation

10.2611 Form of Invention Non-disclosure Non-competition and Non-solicitation Agreement

10.27 Indenture of Lease dated September 2003 between the Registrant and BP Prucenter

Acquisition LLC as amended

10.28 Commercial Lease dated August 13 2004 between the Registrant and Cabot Road

Partners LLC as amended

10.29.112 Investment Agreement dated as of December 21 2007 among the Registrant

GS Parthenon L.P and GS Parthenon L.P

10.29.213 Amendment No dated as of January 30 2008 to the Investment Agreement dated

as of December 21 2007 among the Registrant GS Parthenon L.P and

GS Parthenon L.P

10.29.37 Amendment No dated August 18 2008 to the Investment Agreement dated

as of December 21 2007 among the Registrant GS Parthenon L.P

and GS Parthenon L.P

10.3012 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated as of December 21 2007

among the Registrant GS Parthenon L.P GS Parthenon L.P and the other holders

named therein

10.3114 Time Sharing Agreement dated February 2009 between the Registrant and Sextant

Holdings LLC

10.3215 Purchase Agreement dated as of March 31 2009 among the Registrant VCG Owners

Trust and VCG Securities LLC

10.3315 Letter Agreement dated as of March 31 2009 delivered by Vanquish Advisors LLC to

the Registrant

10.3415 Asset Services Agreement dated as of March 31 2009 among the Registrant First

Marblehead Education Resources Inc VCG Owners Trust and VCG Securities LLC

10.3515 Data Sharing and License Agreement dated as of March 31 2009 between the

Registrant and VCG Owners Trust

10.3615 Indemnification Agreement dated as of March 31 2009 between the Registrant VCG
Owners Trust and VCG Securities LLC

10.3716 Supervisory Agreement dated as of July 2009 between the Registrant and the Office

of Thrift Supervision

10.3816 Office of Thrift Supervision Order to Cease and Desist dated as of July 2009 in the

matter of Union Federal Savings Bank
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Number Description

10.3916 Office of Thrift Supervision Stipulation and Consent to Issuance of Order to Cease and

Desist dated as of July 2009 in the matter of Union Federal Savings Bank

21.1 List of Subsidiaries

23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP

31.1 Chief Executive OfficerCertification pursuant to Rule 13a-14a of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002

31.2 Chief Financial OfficerCertification pursuant to Rule 13a-14a of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002

32.1 Chief Executive OfficerCertification pursuant to Rule 13a-14a of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Chief Financial OfficerCertification pursuant to Rule 13a-14a of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

99.117 Static pool data as of June 30 2009

99.217 Supplemental presentation dated June 30 2009

Incorporated by reference to the exhibit to the Registrants annual report on Form 10-K filed with

the SEC on August 29 2008

Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to the Registrants registration statement on Form S-i

File No 333-108531

Incorporated by reference to the exhibit to the Registrants quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed

with the SEC on November 2006

Incorporated by reference to the exhibit to the Registrants current report on Form 8-K filed with

the SEC on October 31 2005

Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to the Registrants annual
report on Form 10-K filed with

the SEC on September 15 2004

Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to the Registrants annual report on Form 10-K filed with

the SEC on September 2005

Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to the Registrants current report on Form 8-K filed with

the SEC on August 18 2008

Incorporated by reference to the exhibit to the Registrants current report on Form 8-K filed with

the SEC on June 30 2006

Incorporated by reference to the exhibit to the Registrants current report on Form 8-K filed with

the SEC on September 17 2008

10 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to the Registrants current report on Form 8-K filed with

the SEC on October 2008

11 Incorporated by reference to the exhibit to the Registrants quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed

with the SEC on November 2005
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12 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to the Registrants current report on Form 8-K filed with

the SEC on December 27 2007

13 Incorporated by reference to the exhibit to the Registrants current report on Form 8-K filed with

the SEC on February 2008

14 Incorporated by reference to the exhibit to the Registrants quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed

with the SEC on February 2009

15 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to the Registrants current report on Form 8-K filed with

the SEC on April 2009

16 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to the Registrants current report on Form 8-K filed with

the SEC on July 2009

17 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to the Registrants current report on Form 8-K filed with

the SEC on August 17 2009

tt Confidential treatment has been granted or requested for certain provisions of this Exhibit

pursuant to Rule 24b-2 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

This Exhibit is management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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Corporate Information as of September 23 2009

Executive Officers Board of Directors

Daniel Meyers Peter Tarr

Chief Executive Officer and President Chairman

Peter Tarr Stephen Anbinder

Chairman of the Board of Directors Vice Chairman

Kenneth Klipper William Berkley

Managing Director Chief Financial Officer Lead Director

Treasurer and Chief Accounting Officer Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

of Berkley Corporation

Dort Cameron III

Managing Member of the Airlie Group

Henry Cornell

Managing Director Goldman Sachs Co

George Daly

Dean of the Robert Emmett McDonough School of

Business Georgetown University

Peter Drotch

Retired Partner PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

19752000

William Hansen

President of Scantron Corporation

Daniel Meyers

Chief Executive Officer and President

Committee Membership

Compensation Committee

Nominating and Corporate Governance

Committee

Audit Committee

Chairperson

Audit Committee Financial Expert



Office Locations Common Stock and Dividends

The First Marblehead Corporation

The Prudential Tower

800 Boylston Street 34th Floor

Boston MA 02199

617 638-2000

800 895-4283

Subsidiaries

Union Federal Savings Bank

1565 Mineral Spring Avenue

North Providence RI 02904

First Marblehead Education Resources Inc

One Cabot Road

Medford MA 02155

Number of Full-time Employees

As of June 30 2009 we had 223 full-time

employees

Transfer Agent

Computershare Trust Company .A

250 Royall Street

Canton MA 02021

781 575-3400

Legal Counsel

Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP

60 State Street

Boston MA 02109

Independent Public Accountants

KPMG LLP

99 High Street

Boston MA 02110

Investor Relations

Investor Relations

The First Marblehead Corporation

800 Boylston Street Floor

Boston MA 02199

617 638-2065

800 895-4283

lnfo@firstmarblehead.com

Our common stock is listed on the New York

Stock Exchange the NYSE under the trading

symbol FMD

We did not declare any dividends during fiscal

2009 and we do not expect to declare any

dividends in the foreseeable future Future

dividends may require regulatory approval

Number of Stockholders

As of the close of business on September 18

2009 we had 60 stockholders of record of our

common stock and we estimate we had

approximately 29000 beneficial stockholders

Certifications

Our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal

year ended June 30 2009 contains the

certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Financial Officer required by Section 302 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 These

certifications were filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission as exhibits 31.1 and 31.2

to the Form 10-K

Our Chief Executive Officer submitted an annual

certification to the NYSE on November 14 2008

stating that he was not aware of any violation by

us of NYSE corporate governance listing

standards

Annual Meeting

Our annual meeting of stockholders will take

place on Monday November 16 2009 at

1000 a.m at the Harvard Club of New York City

35 West 44th Street New York NY



Safe Harbor

Statements contained in this annual report regarding our strategy future financial and operating

results liquidity competitive position and growth prospects the future success of our products and

services future financing transactions our outlook for the industry and the demand for private

education loans and any other statements that are not purely historical constitute forward-looking

statements for purposes of the safe harbor provisions of The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act

of 1995 These forward-looking statements are based on our historical performance the historical

performance of the securitization trusts that we have facilitated and on our plans projections and

expectations as of September 23 2009 The inclusion of this forward-looking information should not

be regarded as representation by us or any other person that the future results plans projections

or expectations contemplated by us will be achieved

Matters subject to forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties

including economic legislative regulatory competitive and other factors which may cause our

actual financial or operations results including the performance of securitization trusts and resulting

cash flows facilitated loan volumes or financing-related revenues or the timing of events to be

materially different than those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements Important

factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include our ability to structure

securitizations or alternative financings including with regard to any of our loans held for sale the

size structure and timing of any such securitizations or alternative financings the demand for and

market acceptance of our Monogram product offering and outsourcing services including our

success in providing such offerings to former current and prospective clients our compliance with

banking regulations and directives including the terms of our supervisory agreement with the Office

of Thrift Supervision the OTS and the cease and desist order issued by the OTS to our

subsidiary Union Federal Savings Bank U.S federal or state income tax consequences which are

complex and uncertain relating to the transfer of the trust certificate of NC Residuals Owners Trust

and the asset services agreement between the purchaser and us collectively the Transactions

any investigation audit claim action or suit related to the Transactions including any such

proceeding instigated by the Internal Revenue Service relating to the federal income tax treatment

of any aspect of the Transactions or any tax refund previously received developments in the

bankruptcy proceedings of The Education Resources Institute Inc including the terms of any plan

of reorganization and the outcome of the challenges to the enforceability of security interests of

securitization trusts which could adversely affect the amount of collateral available exclusively to

any single securitization trust the estimates we make and the assumptions on which we rely in

preparing our financial statements including with respect to the valuation of our loans held for sale

and service receivables the general interest rate and consumer credit environments including their

effects on the prepayment default and recovery rates of private education loans and the other

factors detailed from time to time in our periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission including our critical accounting policies and estimates and factors set forth under

the caption Risk Factors in our annual report on FOrm 10-K filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on September 2009

We specifically disclaim any obligation to update our forward-looking statements in the future even

if our plans projections or expectations change and you should not rely on these forward-looking

statements as representing our views as of any date subsequent to September 23 2009
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